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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Chairman EER
Shi Kancheng HFE{TLAK

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Zhong An Real Estate
Limited (“Zhong An” or the “Company” together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2011 of the Group.

2011 was another year full of challenges. The central government
continued to tighten on its real estate policies through administrative
measures and monetary policies, the speeding up of construction of
indemnificatory apartments and the implementation of home purchase
restriction. The structure of the property industry had been adjusted by
the central government so as to curb the speculation in real estate market.
Under such regulatory environment, the Company adjusted sales and
operating strategies in time amid the austerity policy to maintain our growth
and development.

During the year under review, the turnover of the Group increased by about
36% to RMB1,688,699,000. The increment in the fair value of investment
properties in 2011 was RMB160,430,000, representing a decrease of
about 42% compared to that in 2010. Putting such factor aside, core
profit after tax recorded as RMB258,245,000, representing an increase
of approximately 26% compared to that of 2010. Profit for the year
attributable to owners of the parent amounted to RMB351,391,000. The
basic earnings per share is RMB0.15. To deal with the situation of ongoing
regulation and control and to maintain the Group’s financial strength for its
future development, the Board proposed not to distribute final dividend for
the year (2010: nil).

AAEBRRBLZEEABRAR([ARAR ) BRE
WEARGREI AR ) zEFe([EFg]) iR
RIR2AREBMEE2011FE12A3 BIL2EEE

=
i o

2011 R TR E ) —F o P RBUTEE
SR B S ETRIEEBR - AT FBRMEBR
B RNEEREERER - HERPEHETHT
RERR AEEXLERE BRIEVNFHER
o ARAEELERROFZEERT - kEH
BELMBER - WEEE A BIREHERE
R EFRERR -

REBEFAN REBESEBEENNO36%  EA
R #1,688,699,0007T ° 2011 F &£ & ¥ ¥ 2 it
B3 in A& A K # 160,430,000 7T + #20104F &
WK 42% o WBRERZ - ZOBIERFESG
A R #258,245,0007C #) I z% © B2010%F &
EINKI26% - B RRHEA AREFBERARE
351,391,0007T * BREARRFAARKE0A5TT
BENBEAFEFZNREMCERETE - 3
HERFETREFTEARARE (2010F &) °
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

During the year under review, the Group focused on the development of  MAEIEEFER @ AEFEFIINIEREZHEET
residential projects in Zhejiang and Anhui Provinces. The sale results were ~ B{EFIEE B E @ #EEWESEE - LERUR
quite satisfactory. Particularly, the townhouse units of Landscape Bay, #TI&MMMELUENSEETEIEE - 2010
a residential project in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, EiENEHEAEKE @ Ha @ B0 HEM
recorded a remarkable result since 2010. The high-rise apartments of the IR & - A — SR EIE IS MM TET
project also had impressive results thanks to its excellent geographical i & AN @ 8 88 Tt A0 B R HES) - XEUS T
position and river scenery of Qiantang River, which has development — $5&1{E4E - B4) » AREBAININIE Sk 1H 5
potential in Hangzhou due to its proximity to Hangzhou CBD and Qianjang  E/TEE » EFHITHIRE T hERTEH - U %L
Century CBD. Furthermore, the presale results of Dragon Bay (formerly — #& L AR ST EEM M TBE = FITEHI% S - 12
known as Yuelong Bay) in Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, were within our — A&&9FEE B EE B ATIEN -

expectation, albeit the regulatory measures imposed on the real estate

market. The presale amount of Vancouver City in Huaibei, Anhui Province

was within exception and it showed an increase compared to that of last

year.

Besides devoting to the development of residential projects, the Group BB {F 18 B B3I - AEFEE BRI Z T
continued to follow our diversified development direction in developing ZEEHI ST BEFGELIREMWEIER @ BE
the commercial and investment property projects, and actively promoting — HEEW 2 « RKIK ~ IRTTERGEN G ARE I
the Group’s property management, household and traveling services, KAREEZ¥ZEE  AEERAHRKOWARIE
and nursery stock plantation and other eco-agriculture development, in &M T IEME EISRI ¥4 SIEEKINELE
order to create a source of income for the Group in the future. After the — AITFARTIN &I T IR 8T 42 R 2l L B A
completion of a commercial complex project, Highlong Plaza in Hangzhou, & BRI AR LTEETR 2012 F ¥ FH
the presale of a sizeable commercial property, International Office Centre  TATEE - BIMIFINTIE kT8 RL R ES
which is situated at the core district of Qianjiang Century CBD, south F¥iGa R EFERNF LRER -BEEELEEN
bank of Qiantang River, will be commenced in the first half of 2012. The [EERAEL - BEBBANEEAG LGS 2
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

construction of Zhong An Times Square in Yuyao, Zhejiang Province
commenced this year. Subsequent to the commencement of the operation
of these projects, the area and income of commercial complex will be
increased, thereby providing continuous cashflow to the Group. The Group
has built 3 sizeable nursery stock bases with an aggregate area of about
740 mu. A leasing agreement had been signed with Yuyao Municipal
Government, Zhejiang Province for a piece of land of about 18,000 mu
for the purpose of developing eco-agriculture, nursery stock, tourism
agriculture and animal husbandry. The Group had so far been allotted
with land of about 1,000 mu. By extending into the aforesaid sectors, the
Group integrates the up-and down-stream industry chains and creates the
room for the future development, which in the next two or three years, is
expected to provide services to the Group and the market and the revenue
will be increased and thus generating scale effect.

Under the current government policies, the Group will continue to follow
our prudent land purchase strategy and seize opportunity to replenish
the land bank and enrich its composition. Therefore, the Group will seize
the opportunity to acquire quality land with development potential by
cooperating with strategic partners in the development of commercial
complex.

As at 31 December 2011, total GFA of the land reserve of the Group
in Zhejiang Province, Anhui Province and Jiangsu Province were about
4,602,195 sg. m., 1,834,997 sg. m. and 221,500 sqg. m. respectively,
aggregating to about 6,658,692 sqg. m.. It is expected that the land reserve
will be sufficient to the development of our Group in the coming five years.

The Group will continue to adjust development strategies with prudent
attitude. We are planning to develop high-end urban complex, residential
projects which meet the rigid demand and quick sale, high value-added
low density residential projects, boutique commercial streets, high-
end hotels and office buildings. We are devoted to develop small urban
complex and increase the amount of our property investment in rich
third and fourth tier cities and the top 100 counties of the Pan Yangtze
River Delta. The Group will continue to broaden the scope and pace of
property management, and to expand into down-stream service of real
estate industry. In particular, the value-added services, including nursery
plantation, agricultural products, travelling and household services, will be
provided to the house owners of properties under our management and
other customers, which will bring a stable cashflow to the Group.

EREENEEREE  TAAEENEREHR
FENESLF - AREDITERRBRERAE
3 BEFEL 7408 - FIEEBAE VAR
R ARG BRI T 25 18,000 AR 3 A i
THEWZ - ALITEEARESE  BREMME
B FHEEE EHE M LMA1,0008
BRELEENE Z2ETASE L THESESE
MR hAREERRERART M AR
PR 234 A A [A) T 45 R AN 58 [ (A 5P 4R A AR TS R0 435 A0
SHEURA » FTHEE SRR -

AEBEZAMOBRRVET  HEEHEENE
R KRR BT REEE -
Rt AEBEZTRRER RS - EERE
HAEERERERAHRENN LI  EREE
RERRAER -

B ZE2011F12A318  AEEMAMNITE -
ZEHAEARIHEAN LI HEARERES FINR
4,602,195F 52K ~ 1,834,997 F J5 £ f221,500F
7K - AEHE496,658,602F 5K o B ATTERZ L
iFE T AREBRRIFERZA -

FEAEBEOE  ARBES— AT BEZE
HEERBE  BUSERTHRAE  TEFR
BHmERASNRENEZER  SMNEES
FEEE FoREE SELEENSFEESH
ZRERL AERRBRFEFREN HZR=A
MR ER= - AR T &2 [ 85T E N
WHRAEE  MARMENERE - AEEHESE
BAMERGEEMBREE  EMFEHENT
HRIFEZENAR - HPEA - REM KT
RREEEREA/AEERRAERNERET
MTISEF  SRERFNELE  RERONE
EmftEMEBENRKELS AEBLEEREL
RISIES - EMBEBARENRER SRR -



The Group firmly believes that there is still rigid demand from home buyers,
and that industry resources will be consolidated to quality corporations.
The Group will strengthen its branding with high quality products and make
use of the development of commercial properties and service industry.
These will provide an equilibrium in cash flow and ensure a healthy growth
of the Company. The Group will maintain a sufficient cashflow, healthy
financial conditions and competitive advantage of low costs so as to
make use of this opportunity resulting from the regulatory measures to
identify main acquisitions or cooperations in commercial project(s) and
residential project(s) in second or third tier cities. The appropriate business
development in the real estate related industry chain and technological
sector with development potential will enhance our overall strength and
minimize business risks of the Group.

Lastly, on behalf of the members of the Board, | would like to express
our gratitude to our customers, investors, suppliers and employees of the
Group for their support in the past year. The management will embrace
the challenges ahead and opportunities together with the employees hand
in hand, and will continue to increase the sales and solidify our leading
position in the real estate market in the Pan Yangtze Delta through our
competitive advantages and strong business foundation.

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 27 March 2012
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STEA AEEEERBRRYE  REENE
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BESRFTHORSR - BEDOBBERRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B W DA

RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue of the Group for 2011 was
RMB1,688,699,000, an increase of approximately 36% from that in
2010. The gross profit for 2011 was RMB799,035,000, an increase of
approximately 24% from that in 2010. The profit attributable to owners of
the parent for 2011 was approximately RMB351,391,000, a decrease of
about 7% from that in 2010. Core profits after tax, which was adjusted for
net fair value gains in investment properties, was RMB258,245,000, an
increase of approximately 26% from that in 2010. The basic earnings per
share was RMBO0.15. The Board did not recommend the distribution of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: nil).

Industry Review

In 2011, the real estate market in China continued to be affected by the
regulatory measures imposed by the central government. The floor area of
residential properties sold was recorded at 1.1 billion sg. m., representing
an increase of about 6% compared to that of 2010, which is lower than the
increment of 11% recorded in 2010.

The floor area of residential properties sold in Hangzhou of Zhejiang
Province was 2.49 million sg. m., representing a decrease of about 38%
as compared to that of 2010, whereas the average selling price per sq. m.
was RMB21,038, representing a slight decrease of about 1% as compared
to that of 2010. The floor area of residential properties sold in Hefei of Anhui
Province was about 5.79 million sg. m., representing a decrease of about
26% as compared to that of 2010. The average selling price per sg. m.
was RMB6,219, which represents an increase of about 3% as compared
to that of 2010. The floor area of residential properties sold in Huaibei of
Anhui Province was about 0.78 million sg. m., representing a decrease of
about 24% as compared to that of 2010. The average selling price per sq.

'm. was RMB3,915, which represents an increase of approximate 8% as

Dragon Bay, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province
LA Rk i se s

x5

REBOIFHREZEHRARBARKE
1,688,699,0007T *© ¥ 20104F £ 1 1 4936% :
2011 FEF A ARE 799,035,000 7T © #2010 4
EFEI24% - 2011 FERREHEB AEGFEAA
R#351,391,0007T * 82010 FERDHI7% &
MR EMEE M A2 BERKR - ROBER
HAE AR 258,245,000 T © B 2010 F E 1 IN4LY
26% ° BREXBFAARBOAST - EFEE
FENREEHZ2011F12 A31HLEFERERKE
(20104 : &) -

TREE

20114 - REIEEMIHEE S P REFTEE
EMRAZIRAZE  2EERFEHEMERS
1MEFH K B2010F B MA6% + th20104F
1% BYIEIER D

LB REHEEBL 2498 F 7K -
tb 2010 R 49138% - BF A ARIEEHENAR
#21,0387C * L2010 F B TN LI 1% - THE
GIEmEGEHERELNS798 T K - L2010
FRDH26% - GEFTKEEHERARKEE,219
JL ° H2010%F EFRAI3% o RHE LTI BE
BEBEN78E T K - ELL2010Fm 2 4124%
FEHAREEAEARARES9157T « tE20104F
LERAI8% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Sales and earnings

The area of property sold and delivered by the Group in 2011 was about
136,528 sg. m. (2010: 152,030 sqg. m.), a decrease of approximately 10%
compared to that of 2010. Landscape Bay was the main contributor in
terms of area of property sold and delivered and revenue, which represent
74% and 84% respectively of the total amount.

The average sales price per sq. m. achieved by the Group in 2011 was
approximately RMB12,047, representing an increase of approximately
52% from the average sales price per sg. m. of RMB7,915 in the previous
year. It is due to the fact that the majority of the sales recognized during the
year under review were derived from Landscape Bay which were of higher
selling price compared to that of 2010 with majority revenue recognised
from sales of Vancouver City at lower selling price.

During the year under review, the total booked sales area sold for major
projects of the Group and the respective revenue were as follows:

BB mED A

£ o
HERBA

AREER 2011 FHEHE RN EBHER
18 4 /136,528 F 77 K (20104 : 152,080 F 77
K)o E2010FHAHI10% - S/HEREEZEFR
EF PHERXMNHYEFEEEBNEERAD
BMEAEEB74% 2 84% °

2011 4F + REEFHEFEFRBEBHNAARE
12,0477 R EFEFHEFAREEENAR
#7915 TG IN4I52% © £ B R A 2K Bl B
RIFERHHRKEEBRENREE - M20104F
BARIAEREE T RE BEREARTTER -

CREFER - NEEEERAE N ARAHSEEM
HEWAT

—2——55% 9

Booked sales area Revenue
Projects HE ARFEERE WA
sQ.m. RMB million
K ARBEET
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province AT B BN
Landscape Bay — Phases 1 and 2 =8 —%1 k2 100,447 1,381.1
White Horse Noble Mansion HEBEES 3,146 100.2
Others* Hity= - 27.0
Hefei, Anhui Province ZHERET
Green Harbour — Phases 1A and B HEBE—-E1AKRBHE 7,678 43.2
Huaibei, Anhui Province ZHEELT
Vancouver City — Phases 1 and 2 IRETEEYL — 551 2 HR 2,719 14.6
— Phase 3A — B 3AH 22,538 78.6
Total et 136,528 1,644.7

* Including: Landscape Garden, Guotai Garden and New White Horse Apartments

B Wk - BREENHABAE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE WD

The average cost of property sold per sg. m. of the Group was RMB6,213
in 2011, representing an increase of about 68% from RMB3,695 in the
previous year. The main reason was that relatively higher proportion of
properties sold by the Group was derived from Landscape Bay which were
of higher average cost.

Progress of development on major projects

Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
Landscape Bay

This project is located on the south bank of Qiantang River, Xiaoshan
District, Zhejiang Province with a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of 319,720
sg. m.. The project includes island-style townhouses (Phase 2, completed
in 2010), high-rise apartments (Phase 1) with river view, shopping
center, car park spaces and clubhouse. As at 31 December 2011, the
construction of Phases 1 and 2 was completed. The volume of sales of this
project is within expectation.

Hidden Dragon Land (formerly known as Yinlong Bay)

This is a high-end residential project in Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan District,
Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of 242,138 sg.m. The project includes
low-rise club-houses for corporations and high-rise apartments. As at 31
December 2011, the construction was in progress. The project is expected
to be completed in early 2013. The presale of the high-rise apartments of
this project has been launched since the fourth quarter of 2010 and the
volume of sales of this project is within expectation.

International Office Centre

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Qianjiang Century
CBD, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, with a total planned GFA of 2,369,913
sg. m. and out of which 959,152 sq.m. has been approved. The project
includes a hotel of five-star standard, office buildings, a shopping center,
service apartments, and underground car parking spaces. The service
apartments of Phase A3 with a total planned GFA of 328,376 is now under
construction and is expected to be completed by the end of 2014. The
presale of such service apartments will be launched in the middle of 2012.

201146 « AEETHEF T KMEHEXNLAA
R#6,2137C * R EFEH AR 3,695 7TIG ALY
68% - TERARFEEN T AN ER = KEAR
IEAREEBYEHEE B PIBAFTE

TEFHHERHR
¥OTERMTT

ZEEMMIAMMNTRLUESEIER &
EEmEEA319,720F 5K - ZHEH A &5
E(F28 - 2010F%T) - 2 Is0REAE(E
180) - BYFR.L - EBISREMENK - HZE 2011
F12A31 0 ZBEF 1 RF2HMNEETER
BT o ZIEAMHEERETEE

EE

A ITENTRILERER  SEEEEAR
242,138 F KM EIEFEHEE - ZHEE AEED
¥emkaE A EAaK - BE2011412A318
BETREWMAEITT  BH2013FVERT - %8
ENSBABREMON2010FEF4ZTEEE - &%
HEREENFETER -

BRI 2N

URMMNTELRBTHLCHN —BARGEARE
¥MMEIER - LREEEEER2,369,913F 7
Ko B THR R EE 959,152 F KB R
#oZBBERAELBIE SEBAE - KAE
L RIS AE R T RSB A AR © 55 A3 Hf
HARTS A B BAR B EEIE £328,376F 5K
FETIRIE/#EITHR - BHI2014FRET - R
NABEN R 2012 FHFIATES ©

o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Yuyao, Zhejiang Province

Dragon Bay (formerly known as Yuelong Bay)

This is a low density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang Province with a
total GFA of 196,809 sqg. m.. The project consists of French, European and
Spanish-style villas. The project is expected to be completed in the middle
of 2012. The presale has been launched since the fourth quarter of 2010
and a good presale result has been recorded.

Huaibei, Anhui Province

Vancouver City

Vancouver City is a low density residential project in Huaibei, Anhui
Province. Phase 5 North, a low density residential units, with a total GFA of
65,024 sg. m. was completed during the year under review. Phase 4 North
with multi-storey and high-rise apartment units is under construction. It is
expected to be completed in the middle of 2012. The construction of the
hotel in Phase 6D has been commenced since 2011 and it is expected that
the operation will be commenced in 2015. The construction of Phase 6A is
expected to be commenced at the end of 2012. Presale of Phase 4 North
was commenced in 2011 and the sales results are within expectation.

Green Harbour, Phase 1C, Hefei, Anhui Province
ZHEERETEEEEEICH

EEEWED M

HOTERBE T
g &

R TE RYkT - BEHEEER196,809F 77K
MIEZEEEEE - ZEB BER - B
FRANEHEN - ZIBE BN 2012 FFET - §
UER2010FF4FEEE  SERTFNEEK

=4
i# oo

LHEEL T

o g
B ST

BIFERRURLTHEELTOETEEER
H - B8R ZEF EREAEME65024 F 7
K BREBEFRET - B4HILZENREEE
RIBE TR MIEETTH - FEH2012FFET - 5
6D HRRY)R G B 2011 FF L2k - TEHR2015 6
FZELE - FOAHTERN2012F KA LTER ° F
AERIEE R 2011 786 « HERFETEH -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEWEDSH

Contract sale in 2011

As at 31 December 2011, the contract GFA sold by the Group was
approximately 134,737 sqg. m.. Set out below are the details on the
contract sale from the major projects:

2011 EMEHNHEE

HZE2011F12A31H » AEBEMNALHESER®E
B4 AR134, 737 H K - FETHBMALEEFS
U

Percentage of

interest in
the project
attributable
to the Group
Contract GFA REE
EHHE hZEB
EHEE ERNEIL
(sa. m)
(FFFK)
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province AT BN T
Landscape Bay — Phases 1 and 2 =& —-%1Kk2H 21,305 92.6%
Hidden Dragon Land f=EEE 25,380 94.5%
Others* =ik 3,144 -
49,829
Yuyao, Zhejiang Province AIE R
Dragon Bay 15 BE & 22,566 90.0%
Hefei, Anhui Province ZHEEIES
Green Harbour — Phases 1A and B GeEE—-21ARBH 6,230 84.2%
Huaibei, Anhui Province ZHEELT
Vancouver City — Phase 4 North BTN — S 4 HAdL 39,345 100.0%
— Phase 5 North — 581t 1,954 100.0%
— others —HAtb 14,813 100.0%
56,112
Total st 134,737

* Including: Landscape Garden, Guotai Garden, New White Horse Apartments and White

Horse Noble Mansion

: B kI - BEEE RS ABMAHEMR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEImREDT T

It is expected that the GFA available for sale from the projects to be  JEEHH 2012452 T1E B &y Al H & EEE S S 4
completed in 2012 will be approximately 453,306 sq. m., details of which 45 453,306 53K « s#150T -
are as follows:

Percentage of
interest in the

project
attributable
Expected GFA available to the Group
completion for sale/leasing AEBE L
date AHES ZIE B R Usage
FErrEIHH HiEEEEE Aot A&
(sg. m.)
(FFFK)
Yuyao, Zhejiang Province # T & Rk June 2012 133,491 90.0% For Sale
Dragon Bay it BE & 201246 A RELE
Hefei, Anhui Province ZHEEES December 2012 67,260 84.2% For Sale
Green Harbour — Phase 1C 4k 8E— 5 1CHI 2012412 A RERE
Huaibei, Anhui Province  Z#&MdtH June 2012 252 555 100.0% For sale
Vancouver City — Phase 4 EEFEEM — 5 4 Hidt 201246 A FR{EH &
North
Total “Et 453,306
Land reserve T i fE e

The land reserve policy of the Group is to maintain a land bank which — ZNEE )+ FEE R ARFE U IFRERMD
is sufficient for development by the Group for approximately four to five — FEREERADIN T EEBHES - HE2011E12
years. As at 31 December 2011, the total GFA for the Group’s land A 31 HIE - REBARINIE - ZHEFI&HS
bank in Zhejiang Province, Anhui Province and Jiangsu Province was K+ EREEEmEIED B4 54,602,195 F 77
approximately 4,602,195 sq. m., 1,834,997 sg. m. and 221,500 sq.m. 3K - 1,834,997 753Kk % 221,500 F /53K » & &3
respectively, aggregating to approximately 6,658,692 sg. m. in total. 496,658,692 F K °

During the year under review, one plot of land which is located in Suzhou — R EIEEFER - ANEB L FEEHIEIN T — st -
Industrial Park, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province was added to the land bank. 7 7 T#R A& N &M T2 E (R - R+
Such addition will enrich the Group’s land bank and is expected to bring B ANEEM HitfFdE - W ARNEB SR RE
forth development and opportunity for the Group. e o
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Details of land bank of the Group as at 31 December 2011: HZE2011F12 A31 HIEW D REEFBOT ¢

Percentage of
interest in
the project

GFA available attributable
for sale/leasing to the Group
AHEEE REEG
Location of land Type of property Total GFA i HE ZIEE RN
T E L/ E 3tidl BEEEE BEEE Ao
(sa. m) (sa. m)
(%) (FFFK)
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
AT HMNE
Huifeng Plaza Residential 49,920 40,311 90.0%
ELESH T F=
Hidden Dragon Land, Wenyan Town Residential/retail spaces 242,138 199,807 94.5%
EHIEREREEEr L T,/ 5
International Office Center, Phase A Residential/office/hotel 843,018 584,112 100.0%
EIHAROEARZIEE i FE/ MRE/THE
International Office Center, Residential/office/retall 1,526,895 1,108,000 100.0%
Phases Band C spaces/hotel
SHAFLEBRCHZEE LM /AR TEEOBIE
Qiandaohu Town, Chunan County Hotel 34,608 - 100.0%
ER BT AN T BE
Xiaoheshan, Yuhang District Residential 231,919 159,148 90.0%
R/ NFILL 43 F=
Yuhang Economic Development Zone Residential/retail spaces 543,800 390,179 45.9%

FMEEFRERAN LI (ER=V@lss
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Percentage of
interest in

the project

GFA available attributable
for sale/leasing to the Group
AfHeE AEEE
Location of land Type of property Total GFA CIEE k| ZIEE RN
T E L/E kit BEEEHE BEER Aok
(sa. m.) (sg. m.)
(FH) (FI7%)
Yuyao, Zhejiang Province
HTERKES
A piece of land at: north to
Shenggui Hill, west to Xinjian
North Road and south
to Beihuan West Road
— Phase 1 — Dragon Bay Residential 196,809 133,491 90.0%
— Phase 2 Residential 292,807 232,807 90.0%
— Zhong An Times Square* Residential/office/retail 640,281 326,966 90.0%/93.0%
spaces/hotel
FpEs bl - FrE2dees e -
JLIRTERE E Iy b
—EE1H-tHEL F=
—(E=E2H F=
— BB ES" T=E /AT JEH,BIE
Sub-total for land bank in 4,602,195 3,174,821

Zhejiang Province

FAHTE B T NG

*

* The project will be developed by two subsidiaries of the Group. ZEBR2KMBART SRR °
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Percentage of
interest in

the project

GFA available attributable
for sale/leasing to the Group
AHtHE AEBE
Location of land Type of property Total GFA CIEE k| ZIEE RN
T E LY E%-Fic) RIEAEE EHEE ADL
(sg.m.) (sg. m.)
(FFFK) (FFHK)
Huaibei, Anhui Province
THEMEILT
Vancouver City, Phases 3B to 3D Residential/retail spaces 309,712 280,712 100.0%
BEEM S B E3DH T JEH
Vancouver City, Phases 4, Residential/retail spaces/hotel 766,332 651,575 100.0%
5 South and 6
ImETEEIRZE 4 HY T /15885
5EAF K 6 HA
Hefei, Anhui Province
ZHEEES
Green Harbour, Phase 1C Residential 90,453 67,260 84.2%
HeBEE1 CH *=
Green Harbour, Phase 2 Residential/retail spaces 108,200 84,200 84.2%
fre B EsE 2 T/ TEH
Green Harbour, Phases 3 to 6 Residential/retail spaces/hotel 560,300 492,500 84.2%
FEBEEIEE6H T /15885
Sub-total for land bank in Anhui Province 1,834,997 1,576,247
R ZHE K L REE DG
Suzhou Industrial Park, Suzhou, Residential/office/retall 221,500 144,500 44.1%
Jiangsu Province spaces/hotel
TTERE RN T AR N TEE @A i T/ WAZE/IEHBIE
Total land bank 6,658,692 4,895,568

T RE S
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Other business development

The Group strives to build up a portfolio of diversified business so as to
provide stable income in the future, and to mitigate the operation risk. We
will broaden the scope of property services which may include nursery
stock and agricultural planation, in order to extend the down-stream
services of our property development business and to maintain a steady
operation of our Group.

Hotel

Holiday Inn Xiaoshan Hangzhou, a hotel of the group which is managed
by the internationally renowned InterContinental Hotels Group, recorded
a revenue of RMB61,286,000 for 2011, representing a decrease of
approximately 1% compared to RMB62,009,000 in 2010. This decrease
was primarily due to the net result of the decrease in the occupancy rate
being set off by the general increment of room charge. The occupancy rate
was about 51% (2010: 56%).

The Group is planning to build a five star high-end hotel with large
scale commercial complex at Zhong An Times Square in Yuyao. The
construction of the hotel was commenced in the second half of 2011. This
will bring another source of stable income to the Group.

The Group plans to build a resort hotel and a hotel in Qiandaohu, Zhejiang
Province and Huaibei, Anhui Province respectively, in order to increase
the proportion of investment properties in our portfolio and thus to bring a
stable cash flow to the Group.

Leasing

Highlong Plaza, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, provides the main source
of leasing income. This plaza consists of office building, shopping centre,
service apartments and underground car parking spaces. The leasing rate
for shopping centre is about 99% (2010: 99%) and that of office building
is about 78% (2010: 67%). A general increase was recorded as compared
to those of 2010. Highlong Plaza had undergone refurbishment works
during the year under review. As a result, the facilities and the management
services have been improved in order to provide high quality services to
the tenants and their customers. The service apartments were sublet to
and managed by independent operators during the year under review. The
operation was satisfactory. Other investment properties also contributed
to the leasing income of the Group. The Group will hold various promotion
activities so as to attract more inflow of people and to increase the income
of the tenants, thereby enhancing the rental value.

BB mED A

Ht kB BEHRR

AEEBRELZITTENEBES - BARRAE
W - EHIRERR - REBRKEAYER
BEHE BRMEEAEERREEEE R &
MAKEEHEEN THREEXDER - R
RfErET -

BIE

REBEMMNE LR L E BIEE B B Z 5 0N
BEREER - 2011 FHENRANRARE
61,286,0007T * £ 2010 FZHI A R % 62,009,000
TRDH1%  FEZEFRARNFEP LRAZEEH
B AFERTHEEE o JBIEAEERL51%
(20104 : 56%) °

AEEABERRTORLEREZEZRER
BEMALAEGAR  AENHEETEER
2011 T HERM - ARG REBREMEBENK
N

REBFEENTAE TEH R LEEEILT D5
B R REVEE FOBE - MANBRBESE - 18
IEENE R AR RETKRBENRER -

HEXK

AEEFZHNASWARE AN TTERILE &
BRES  EVERESTE BUHo - R
BARAEM T HEN o By RO BARELY
99% (20104F : 99%) * P ABH LT KIZEL 78%
(20105 : 67%) * L2010 F %15 — AL B K
FHiE - BEESNEBEFANETERIRE 2
MEREZBRYEEIEKT  RESEZERE
FTHPREEER - MBEALABEREEFANEE
SIS EEEREE  BEMRRLSAME c NAF
BEHEMMEDAREEREEBKIEL —THE
Bf e AEETRENIHERTEE - WIBE AR
BRERPMREARER D RAEEFERE
MEKEE -
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Other services

The Group also provides quality management services to the communities
located in properties developed by the Group and other developers.
The Group is also developing nursery stock plantation for agricultural
purposes and managing organic plantations for producing agricultural
products. During the year under review, a nursery stock plantation of
about 670 mu had been managed with a sizable scale. By the end of the
year under review, a leasing agreement was signed with Yuyao Municipal
Government, Zhejiang Province for a piece of land of about 18,000
mu. The Group had so far been allotted with land of about 1,000 mu
for preparation of ecological farming. Such value-added down-stream
services will form an integral part of the Group’s property development and
management businesses. Accordingly, the Group’s corporate branding
can be enhanced and the scope of services of the Group will be widened.

Hth B 35 R %5

REBAREERHEMMAEEMAMENYERE
BENEYMEEERE AEEEEREEANE
E&% HRESRMEESR NEBEFAEE

BAGTOME AN EE S - WEEBRE - RNEEE
FIREHTE RKTTBATEET4 18,000 B2 % A
HETEA) - WHEILABLE AZEIA 1,000 i - &
BEEEERE A LS NE T HERE
BRAEEMMEZRMEBERH D - bR
FHASEER RIS E RS BIR A RIS HE -

Recognitions obtained by the Group AEERESHRE
The Group was awarded by the government and recognized authorities for 7% £ [ 7 [B] B8 5 (R JE BT AN 32 A M8 AR 2 an T 4%
the year under review as follows: 1F :
Awarded in Granted by Awards
PR B RIFEB
January 2011 www.ahhouse.com Vancouver City Phase 4 “&7K)a B ” awarded
“Model harmony and livable community of Anhui
www.xkhouse.com 20107
www.hfhouse.com
201141 A THEHER HH SRETEEIUER [ S KA RY
(2010 F L HME B Rt ]
EZEER
EREMER 5
February 2011 Beigan Street Working Commission, Communist ~ Highlong Commercial Building Co., Ltd. awarded
Party Committee of Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou “Sizeable Contribution 2010”
Beigan Street Office, People’s Government of
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
201142 A pRATNTELRIETHETIEZES EREEEARAT
[2010F EHRE SR HE]
FNTERILE A RBAL TEERER
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Awarded in Granted by Awards
b TR RIFEB
February 2011 Beigan Street Working Commission, Communist ~ “Advanced Enterprise 2010”
Party Committee of Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
Beigan Street Office, People’s Government of
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
201142 A FaENmERLRIETHEIEZES [2010FE %]
N RRLEARBAIE THERER
March 2011 China Real Estate Research Society “Top 200 China Real Estate Enterprises”
China Real Estate Association
China Real Estate Evaluation Center
20114E3 A FREMERTE [ B = 3 & 200 54 |
PREEXGE
B B 1t EE BT R
March 2011 Xiaoshan Daily Highlong Plaza awarded “Top 100 Integrity
Consumer Brands by Public 2011”
201143 A WL AR Bl &S
[2011 THROHHEEERE TS
April 2011 People’s Government of Huaibei Anhui Zhong’an Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
awarded “Unit of Contractual Integrity 2009-2010”
201144 A AL A RBUF ZHBREZEHEREARAT
[2009-2010 FE M & & [A<F{= B &AL
April 2011 Communist Party Committee of Huaibei Anhui Zhong’an Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. awarded “Huaibei’s National Outstanding
People’s Government of Huaibei Contribution to Establishing Civil City”
201144 A R E ZRBREZEHMERERAR AT

LT ARBUR

[T Rl 2 B3R 2R B k82
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Awarded in Granted by Awards
TE SRR TRIHAE RIFERE
May 2011 China Real Estate Research Society “Top 100 China Listed Real Estate Enterprises

China Real Estate Association

China Real Estate Evaluation Center
201145 TRFEENTEE

hRIEMEXGE

wh B S 4 A R AT A L

May 2011 Hangzhou Xiaoshan Trade Bureau

Office of Organizing Committee for the Third

Xiaoshan Shopping Festival
201145 A mMNTRILEE S B

FEBUBMOHEZENLE

June 2011 Zheshang Magazine
201146 A GNEE 3
August 2011 Boao Real Estate Forum Committee

New Media of guandian.cn

201148 A BEEMEREEES
BRI E RIS

October 2011 Yuyao People’s Government

2011410 A Rk ARBAT

20117

[2011 FEIFHE LM ARGAE AR

Highlong Plaza awarded “Best Seller”

B RS [ REHER]

“National Top 500 Zhejiang Enterprises”

[2011 341752 E 50054 |

“Popular China Real Estate Award”
“Most Valuable Listed Real Estate Enterprise in
China 2011”

[ e B 4t 2 e K 2R

2011 PEIRAEEME EHdX]

Yuyao Zhong An Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. awarded “Outstanding Contribution of Charity
Fund for Poverty in Disease”

AR L EHEREAR QR
(KRR ERHHRERESREARE]



RREEBRAT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mED A

Awarded in Granted by Awards
b TR RIFEB
November 2011 Anhui Housing and Urban Development Office Vancouver City Phase 3 awarded “Anhui Model
Residential Construction, Energy and Land Saving”
Anhui Development and Reform Commission
Anhui Economic and Information Technology
Commission
2011 %11 A ZHE TR T ERE BETEN TR
[ZHE B IRREME TR TIE
CHERRNNELZES
ZHEKBNEREES
December 2011 house.sina.com.cn and house.baidu.com “Best 10 Brands of Real Estate Enterprise 2011” of
Hangzhou Internet Media Award
2011412 A MRERENBELE BT () RS E R
[2011 FE+EmEER]
December 2011 house.sina.com.cn and house.baidu.com Zhong An e Efifitt awarded “Best Commercial
Property”
2011412 A FREEREELEE BL o RifinAt

[2011 FEEERFEME]

L
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Human resources

As at 31 December 2011, the Group employed 1,436 staff (2010:
1,275 staff). In 2011, the staff cost of the Group was approximately
RMB117,149,000 (2010: approximately RMB92,708,000), representing
an increase of approximately 26%. The increase was mainly due to the
increase of staff for future development, additional amortization of share-
based payments under the share option scheme adopted by the Company
and the adoption of better remuneration policy to retain and recruit staff
with higher quality.

The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to
factors such as remuneration information in respect of the local market,
the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group
conducts performance appraisal once every year for its employees,
the results of which are applied in annual salary review and promotion
assessment. The Group’s employees are considered for the entitlement of
annual bonus according to certain performance conditions and appraisal
results. To attract talented persons and stabilize the management, eligible
participants (including employees of the Group) may be granted options to
subscribe for shares of the Company pursuant to the share option scheme.
The Group also provides continuous learning and training programs to its
employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain their
competitiveness.

Dividend policy

The Board shall determine the dividend policy of the Company
according to financial condition, operating results, capital requirements,
shareholders’ equity, contractual restraint and other factors considered
relevant by the Board.

Landscape Bay, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
MTERMNTRIEE

11
EE

s
L1

J l=====
HH

ANERRFHBER

M2011F12A31H - A&EEEAE 1,436 A
(20104F : 1,275 A) 20115 BETRAHAR
# 117,149,000 7T (20104 : 49 ARHE 92,708,000
J0) c EIMNKI26% - EERAANAREAEREMGE
MIGME T » W AMBIRA A B4R 2 AR T
B REIME S AR AEROB S MRARFB
BB RIS ZEE T -

& BEMSRITENFHENRR - BIRKE - &
EReyamARBIWENSEZ 7 EE XM #E
E o AEBHEENRREFIFH —REL &
RARBFEHBFEREATE - ARENET
BegEBREE TRRGMHRFZERMEE
FELA - REVNRSIEATIBEEERE - &
ERsuE (BEAKEET) ORERERRE
BARRREMNB BT S ERBREARELR
NEIRRG o AEBE TR 8 TREFEHE ME
8| TERTT B THORBEMAR - RIFATA
AHEN e

IR EBUR

EXgRRARFARN—RIPBRR - 82
B EATE BRER AHOUERIINESE
REERENEERZMHITEE
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recorded audited
gross profit of RMB799,035,000, an increase of approximately 24% from
RMB642,959,000 in the previous year. The main reason is due to the
increase in sales from property delivered and recognised in 2011.

Other income and gains

Other income increased by 933% to approximately RMB40,004,000
in 2011 from approximately RMB3,871,000 in 2010. The increase was
primarily due to the foreign exchange gain from an offshore bank loan
denominated in United State Dollars and subsidies received from local
governments pursuant to relevant regulations issued by the respective
local governments during the year under review.

Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution expenses increased by 31% to approximately
RMB90,499,000 in 2011 from approximately RMB69,147,000 in 2010.
This increase was primarily due to an increase in general selling, marketing
and advertising activities resulting from an increase in the number of
properties that were scheduled to be pre-sold in 2011 as compared to that
in 2010.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by about 32% to approximately
RMB212,323,000 in 2011 from approximately RMB160,512,000 in 2010. This
increase was primarily due to the increase in staff cost due to retention and
recruitment of quality staff with higher remuneration packages and the increase
in the amortization of the cost of the share option resulted from the grant of
share options in January 2011.

BB mED A

M¥ 5 Hh
E7

HEONF12A31ALEFE - REFESHELE
HEMARBE799,085,0007C » B EFEEARYE
642,959,000 TTHE IN4924% - £ E R K A2011F
BER A RIERABRE Y S EIE PR o

HAWA K Wz

HAth g A B8 2010 F #4) A R #5 3,871,000 7T 44 A1
933% % 2011 F ML AR ¥ 40,004,000 7T + =2
RELBFABEETRITERVE L RERE
BT IRARABRA R E 45 T 2N 2 7] 89 8 B ah o

HERDHER

SHE R tHE B 2010 F R4 AR 69,147,000
TOHENN31% 22011 FRIKI A R 90,499,000 7T °
AR E R E20105 80 - 2011 ELHEE
MYEHBIEN  SEBHE TmHEEERER
JEENIE AN o

THEA

B E A BB 2010 F B 49 A R 160,512,000 7T
hn#132% & 2011 FFH) 49 A R # 212,323,000 7T ©
g REEFEREMBRBESXEETIM
BT EHMERE T ARG A KRR 201151 A
Frs b BB AR i S SUE IR e S B RS N o
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Other expenses

The other expenses decreased by 82% to approximately RMB8,865,000
in 2011 from approximately RMB49,905,000 in 2010. This decrease was
primarily due to the fact that the impairment of other receivable of 2010 in
such extent was not required to be provided in 2011.

Increase in fair value of investment properties

The increase in fair value of investment properties decreased by
42% to approximately RMB160,430,000 in 2011 from approximately
RMB276,680,000 in 2010. This decrease was primarily because there was
no addition of investment properties in 2011.

Finance costs

The finance costs decreased by 87% to approximately RMB447,000 in
2011 from approximately RMB 3,463,000 in 2010. This decrease was
primarily due to the increase in interest of bank loans being capitalised in
2011.

Income Tax Expenses

The income tax expenses increased by 36% to approximately
RMB308,671,000 in 2011 from approximately RMB227,223,000 in 2010.
[t was due to the increase in the taxable profit resulted from the increase
in revenue of property sold and delivered recognized in the year under
review.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had aggregate cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash of RMB602,095,000 (2010:
RMB1,436,537,000). The decrease was due to the increase in payment
of operation expenses (mainly construction costs) during the year under
review. The current ratio was 1.3 (2010: 1.5).

As at 31 December 2011, the bank loans and other borrowings
of the Group repayable within one year and after one year were
RMB1,064,930,000 and RMB1,990,451,000 respectively (2010:
RMB950,500,000 and RMB1,823,500,000 respectively). The increase
was mainly due to the increase in loans for operation and future
development purposes.

Hitb % A

HAh B A B 2010 F 894 A R 49,905,000 7T 2>
82% % 2011 FM# A R 8,865,000 7T ° Jik 2 4
FEZRER2011 15 12010 F H Ab FEYRIER
BB VE FZIRE RO -

REMENR ABEEM

BEMENR R BEEINH2010FHHARE
276,680,000 7T i3 2 42% E 2011 F I 4 A R ¥
160,430,0007C * [REFZ R 2011 FHREMHE
FEIEINFTEN -

BhE A

B E P AN 2010 F &9 %) A R ¥ 3,463,000 7Tk >
87% & 2011 FE W AR 447,000 7T © HAH R
EEBRN 2011 FEARNLARITIEEF SN AT
g( °

FrigwiB<

FT1SFiFA~ H 2010 FF B 49 A R 227,223,000 7T
H1N36% £ 2011 FHYAI A KK H#E 308,671,000 7T,
A REEFANEERERNYE 2 BREA
3 DN hnpE ER AR R B FT B

N

REER2011F12 A1 BEMNES KRS EEY
MZRFIR 24 H 8 AR 602,095,000 7T (2010
4 ANR#1,436,537,0007T) ° B KR EZE
BENENSEXEBNOH (FESREER) MR
B mBEEEE A1.3(20104F : 1.5)°

R0 F12A31H - AEBE —FHANEED
k—FEEENRTERREMERSAIAAR
#51,064,930,0007C & A R #1,990,451,000 7T
(20104 : 7B AR 950,500,000 LR A REE
1,823,500,0007T) ° FZIEMEZAHRARLEE K
KRB RAOBEZIEMATE
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The consolidated interest expenses in 2011 amounted to RMB447,000
(2010: RMB3,463,000) in total. Interests in the amount of
RMB212,432,000 (2010: RMB103,818,000) were capitalized during the
year under review. Interest cover (including amount of interests capitalized)
was 2.7 times (2010: 3.6 times).

As at 31 December 2011, the ratio of total liabilities to total assets of the
Group was 0.61 (2010: 0.57).

As at 31 December 2011, the ratio of bank loans and other borrowings to
shareholder’s equity of the Group was 0.60 (2010: 0.60). The ratio of bank
loans and other borrowings to total assets was 0.22 (2010: 0.25).

The net gearing ratio of the Group (defined as net debt divided by
shareholder’s equity) was 0.52 (2010: 0.38).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2011, the capital commitments of the Group were
RMB2,557,415,000 (2010: RMB2,185,729,000), which were mainly the
capital commitments for land acquisition costs and construction costs. It is
expected that the Group will finance such commitments from its own funds
and external financing (such as bank loans).

Guarantees and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2011, the contingent liabilities of the Group was
approximately RMB1,238,914,000 (2010: RMB659,460,000), which were
mainly the guarantee given by the Group in favour of certain banks for the
grant of mortgage loans to buyers of the Group’s properties.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2011, investment properties of the Group
with net book value of approximately RMB1,835,806,000 (2010:
RMB1,645,300,000), properties under development of approximately
RMB3,214,543,000 (2010: RMB2,684,405,000) and property and
equipment approximately RMB146,617,000 (2010: RMB150,542,000)
were pledged to secure the banking facilities of the Group. There
were no time deposits being pledged as at 31 December 2011 (2010:
RMB412,000,000). The 100% equity interest of a subsidiary of the Group
with total equity of approximately RMB675,560,000 (2010: nil) was
pledged to secure other borrowings for the Group.

BB mED A

2011 FEAHHN B L HARKE447,0007T(2010
F: AR 3,463,0007T) » B EFRFEE AL
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As at 31 December 2011, deposits of approximately RMB23,130,000
(2010: RMB16,558,000) were pledged to banks as guarantees to
mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties.

Foreign Exchange Risk

As the sales, purchase and bank borrowings of the Group in 2011 and
2010 were made mainly in Renminbi, the foreign exchange risk exposed
by the Group was relatively minor. The Group did not use foreign exchange
hedging instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks in 2011 and 2010.

Interest rate risks

The interest rates for certain portion of the Group’s loans were floating.
Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the interest cost of new
loans and existing loans. The Group currently does not use derivative
instruments to hedge its interest rate risks.

Subsequent events

There was no matter occurred that bears significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this annual report.

Prospects

In 2011, the real estate market of China was still affected by the regulatory
measures imposed by the central government which did not change its
existing policies implemented and has strongly encouraged the relevant
local governments to build indemnificatory apartments. The real estate
market is expected to develop steadily. We expect that the domestic
economy of China will continue to grow and the GDP per capita will
increase along with the economic growth. With the continuation of
urbanization, it is expected that the demand for quality housing will
still persist. In view of the continuing stablisation policies by the central
government, the real estate industry in China is expected to have a healthy
development as a result of the regulatory measures in the long run.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Landscape Bay, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

AT AN REE

The Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach in acquiring land,
developing and managing projects. We will focus on residential project
development as well as commercial complex projects. We also provide
quality property management and value-added services to communities
located in properties developed by the Group and other developers.
Such properties will provide another stable income source to the Group.
Moreover, the Group will maintain a sufficient cash flow and low finance
cost. With a proper risk management, we target to acquire land with
relative low cost and projects with potential so as to achieve a better return
to the shareholders.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year 2011
(2010: nil).

BB mED A

AEBEERBE L RBERLEERB HEDES
REFFENEE  TERIERETHEE  XiE
ABEGFARER - BHPMBARE Mm%
BARAENMER{EEN/ NEYERS MIEE
R% - BAKETREBENBAKIR - Rtz
S ARBEFFERORERRERERAN - K
BEENRREE  WEEHERAN L RE
BARIAR - BEREHEENEHRTRR

Bz 2

BESEZTNREHZE 2011 FHME (2010 4F -
) o

i

—z——ggR 27



28 Zhong An Real Estate Limited | 2011 Annual Report

Corporate Governance Report

i

i fn Soa b

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is
committed to maintaining good corporate governance in safeguarding the
interests of its shareholders and enhancing its shareholders’ value.

(A)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted, in so far as they are applicable, the code
provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year ended 31 December 2011 (the “Year”), the Board
has applied the principles of the Code and complied with the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) and certain recommended best
practices set out in the Code with the exception of the deviation from
the Code Provision A.2.1 (as the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company were not separate and were both
performed by Mr Shi Kancheng).

The Board believes that the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer performed by the same person provides the
Company with consistent leadership and enables the Company to
formulate its business strategies and implement its business plans
and decisions efficiently.

The Board will review the management structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may
be desirable for future development of the operating activities or
business of the Group.
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(B) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”).

Following specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have
confirmed with the Company that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions during
the Year.

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lou Yifei (Re-elected on 27 May 2011)
Ms Shen Tiaojuan (Re-elected on 27 May 2011)
Mr Zhang Jiangang (Re-elected on 27 May 2011)

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor Pei Ker Wei

Professor Wang Shu Guang

Dr Loke Yu (with professional qualification in
accordance with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules)

The Board meets regularly throughout the Year to discuss the overall
strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
electronic means of communication in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”).
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A total of five Board meetings were held during the Year. The
individual attendance of each Director was as follows:

FRESERTEHOREE - TEENE
RIHERNT

Number of Attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng eI ST 5
Mr Lou Yifei B—REL 5
Ms Shen Tiaojuan LGB 2 5
Mr Zhang Jiangang SRERHH ST AE 5
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 4
Professor Wang Shu Guang FREAHE 4
Dr Loke Yu EEEE L 5

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with the
Articles. In addition, the Board has also specifically resolved that all
transactions/contracts/other matters of the Group that are subject
to the disclosure requirement in accordance with the Listing Rules
should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report of the Company,
there are no relationships (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

During the Year, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were performed by Mr Shi Kancheng.
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(E) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

(F)

DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a
term of two years commencing on 30 June 2011 for Dr Loke Yu, and
1 November 2011 for Professor Pei Ker Wei and Professor Wang
Shu Guang.

The director’s fee specified in each of Dr Loke Yu, Professor Pei Ker
Wei and Professor Wang Shu Guang’s existing service contracts are
RMB150,000, RMB200,000 and RMB100,000 respectively.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) is Professor Pei Ker Wei. The remaining
members are Ms Shen Tiaojuan and Dr Loke Yu.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for
the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;

(b)  to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;
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(d)  toreview and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise
fair and not excessive for the Company;

(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that any compensation
payment is otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

[} to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(9  toreview and approve the remuneration report of the Group.

The basis of the emolument payable to the Directors is determined
with reference to the range of prevailing directors’ fee for director
of listed companies in Hong Kong and is subject to the approval of
the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee will
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, experience and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration.

A total of two meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held
during the Year. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the
terms of remuneration packages of the Directors and the renewal
of service contracts of the independent non-executive Directors
and made relevant recommendations on the salary review of senior
management of the Group and the proposed grant of share options
under the share option scheme adopted in the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 15 May 2009 (the “Scheme”) to
the Directors and employees of the Company and other eligible
participants of the Scheme. The individual attendance of each
member of the Remuneration Committee was as follows:
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(G) NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) is Mr Shi Kancheng. The remaining
members are Mr Lou Yifei and Professor Wang Shu Guang.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
basis;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

(c) to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors in particular
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

(e) to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;

[} to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

(99 to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure;
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(h)  to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time; and

(i) in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company at general meeting under
Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, to review and provide
recommendations to the shareholders of the Company (other
than shareholders who are directors with a material interest in
the relevant service contracts and their respective associates)
as to whether the terms of the service contracts are fair and
reasonable and whether such service contracts are in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole,
and to advise shareholders on how to vote.

The nomination procedures are as follow: candidates for directorship
are selected by the Nomination Committee subject to the review and
approval of the Board in accordance with the Articles. The criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and approving
candidates for directorship are based on whether the candidates are
appropriate in terms of experience and the potential contribution to
the Group.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the
Year. The Nomination Committee nominated, and the Board
recommended, Mr Lou Yi fei, Ms Shen Tiaojuan and Mr Zhang
Jiangang to be re-elected at the annual general meeting held on 27
May 2011.

The individual attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee was as follows:
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(H) AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

()

The audit fee of the Group in respect audit services provided by the
independent auditors, Ernst & Young, (“Independent Auditors”) for
the Year was RMB1,600,000 (2010: RMB1,900,000).

During the Year, the Independent Auditors was also engaged
in providing non-audit service in relation to interim results of the
Company at a fee of RMB600,000 (2010: RMB500,000).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) and the terms of reference adopted complied with the
requirement of the Listing Rules.

The chairman of the Audit Committee is Dr Loke Yu. The remaining
members are Professor Pei Ker Wei and Professor Wang Shu
Guang. All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)  to consider, and to make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, and to approve the remuneration and other terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard;

(c) to discuss with the external auditors before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations and ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved;
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to develop and implement policy on the engagement of
an external auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying any matters
in respect of which it considers that action or improvement is
needed and making recommendations as to the steps to be
taken. The Audit Committee should also review the non-audit
services provided by the external auditor on an annual basis,
to ensure that the independence of such external auditor will
not be affected,;

to monitor integrity, accuracy and fairness of financial
statements of the Company and the Company’s annual report
and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them. The Audit Committee should
focus particularly on the following aspects before submission
of its reports to the Board:

i. any changes in accounting policies and practices;

ii. major judgmental areas;

i significant adjustments resulting from audit;

iv. the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

V. compliance with accounting standards; and

vi.  compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

to review, in draft form, the Company’s annual report and
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report;

members of the Audit Committee must liaise with the Board,
senior management and the person appointed as the
Company’s staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function and the Audit Committee must meet, at
least once a year, with the Company’s auditors and (in the
absence of the management) meet at least once a year
with the Company’s auditors. The Audit Committee should
consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need
to be, reflected in such reports and accounts and must give
due consideration to any matters that have been raised by the
Company’s staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting functions, compliance officer or auditors;
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to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

to review the system of financial control, internal control and
risk management and to discuss with the management the
system of internal control and ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have an effective internal control system
and to review the Company’s statement on internal control
systems (where one is included in the annual report) prior to
endorsement by the Board;

to consider any findings of major investigations of internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response;

where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal
audit programme, ensure co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Company and to review monitor, the
effectiveness of the internal audit function;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director, manager, financial
controller or internal credit control manager upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be an Audit
Committee member, a company secretary, auditors and
accounting staff either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Audit Committee member, company secretary,
auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of them;

to consider the major findings of internal investigations and
management’s response;
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to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management in
respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or
systems of control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters set out in the code
provisions contained in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices set out in (and as amended from time to time)
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of three meetings of the Audit Committee were held during
the Year. The work performed by the Audit Committee during the

Year included the followings:

reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2010;

reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2011;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;

reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

reviewed the results of internal audit and had discussion with
internal auditors on any significant findings and internal control
issues;

discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

considered and approved the service contract of the auditors
for the Year.
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The individual attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
was as follows:
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Number of Attendance

HERE
Dr Loke Yu fE g mig L 3
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR 2
Professor Wang Shu Guang FRERHIR 3

(J) DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN
PREPARING THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Company and the Group.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

(K) ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE INTERNAL
CONTROL OF THE GROUP

The Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control of the Group and resolved that
the system of internal control of the Group during the Year was
effective. Such review had covered all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors have considered that there are adequate resources
and budget available for the staff with appropriate qualifications and
experience in the aspect of training and discharging the accounting
and financial reporting functions.

For and on behalf of the Board
Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 27 March 2012
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Social Responsibility
HtEEE

GIVING BACK TO THE SOCIETY 2011

Zhong An - participation in charity and the
pursuit of our mission “Giving Back to the
Society”

Zhong An has continued to pursue the mission of “Giving Back to the
Society”.

The Group embraces the belief of contributing to the society. We strive
to have better economic performance with the goal to benefit the society
to the greatest extent in mind. Therefore, we devote ourselves to the
development of charitable affairs. We also proactively participate in the
community welfare activities. We have from time to time expressed
concerns over the livelihoods of the underprivileged groups and are willing
to social responsibilities.

During the year under review, Zhong An participated in community works
and charitable affairs of local communities.

Zhejiang Province is the base of the Group, where we continue to
contribute our efforts to local communities. The Group donated a sum
of RMB100,000 to Chunan County government and sponsored the
2011 Xiushui Festival for holding more activities to the benefit of the local
residents. The Group donated a sum of RMB50,000 to “Warming Up
Project” in Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou providing the funding for the
social services which target the needy grassroots. Furthermore, the Group
donated a sum of RMB50,000 to a local fire station in Xiaoshan District of
Hangzhou for firemen’s welfare purposes.

The Group donated a sum of RMB1 million to Fenghua Yuelin Temple,
Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, for future construction purposes, which will
allow more believers to visit the temple to worship or study Buddhism.
Besides subsidizing the religious organizations, the Group donated a sum
of RMB1 million to the Civil Affair Bureau of Yuyao for procuring disaster
relief supplies.

The Group contributed RMB2 million to Huaibei City Management
Department to promote the city management of local communities. The
Group donated RMB200,000 to Xiangshan District Government, Huaibei
for promoting cultural activities. The Group also donated RMB50,000 to a
local fire station for firemen’s welfare purposes.

Zhong An will continue to fuffill its corporate philosophy of “Giving Back to
the Society”.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEAEBEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan), aged 49, is the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Company”)
and also holds directorships in certain of its subsidiaries. Mr Shi is
primarily responsible for the strategic and development planning. He
also supervises project planning and the overall business operation. Mr
Shi joined the Group since the establishment of the first member of the
Group, Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Zhejiang Zhong’an
Property Development Co., Ltd.) (“Zhong An Group”). Mr Shi served as
a tax officer in the finance and revenue bureau of Xiaoshan District of
Hangzhou (formerly known as Xiaoshan City) and the general manager
of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(“Milkyway Real Estate”). Mr Shi graduated from an Executive Master of
Business Administration program co-organized by the State University of
Arizona and Shanghai National Accounting College in June 2007. From
2005 to 2006, Mr Shi completed a program for executive officers, focusing
on globalization and real estates developers, co-organized by Harvard
University, Tsinghua University, The University of Hong Kong and the
United States Military Academy. In the same period, Mr Shi completed a
program for presidents of real estates companies organized by Zhejiang
University. Mr Shi has over 19 years of experience in property development
and property investment. Mr Shi is the sole director and the sole
shareholder of Whole Good Management Limited, which is the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Lou Yifei, aged 62, is an executive Director and general manager of
Hangzhou Anyuan Property Development Co., Ltd. (a company owned
as to 45.9% by the Group) and holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He joined the Group in March 2006. He is primarily
responsible for project operations in Linping, Hangzhou, which includes
project planning, research and development, cost management, sales
management and customer relations. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Lou
was the vice president and manager of the engineering department of
Laiyinda Real Estate Co., Ltd., a supervisor of Laiyin Property and had
served various positions in the same group of companies from 2000 to
2006. Mr Lou was a deputy general manager of Milkyway Real Estate from
1994 to 2000. From 1984 to 1994, Mr Lou worked for the government
bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou, where he was primarily
responsible for infrastructure construction management. From 1978
to 1983, he served as construction and engineering manager of Linpu
Construction Company. He received an associate degree in architectural
engineering from Wuhan University of Technology in 1992 and completed
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a graduate degree in structural engineering at Zhejiang University of
Technology in 2002. Mr Lou obtained his engineering qualification in 1999.
Mr Lou has 33 years of experience in the construction operations, and
management of property development.

Shen Tiaojuan, aged 49, is an executive Director and the Vice President
of the Company and also holds directorships in certain of its subsidiaries.
She is primarily responsible for the financial operation and financial
management of the Group. She joined the Group in December 1997. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms Shen was the chief accountant of White Swan
Industry Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, the chief accountant of Hangzhou
Hualing Electrics Co., Ltd. in 1994, and the chief accountant and finance
manager of Hangzhou Guanghua Chemical Fibres Factory from 1980 to
1993. Ms Shen has 30 years of experience in the financial operation of
property development.

Zhang Jiangang, aged 42, is an executive Director and the general
manager of Hangzhou Zhong’an Service Holding Co., Ltd. (“Zhong’an
Service Company”) (@ wholly owned subsidiary of the Group) and also
holds directorship in a subsidiary of the Company. He is primarily in charge
of strategy implementation and operation management. Mr Zhang joined
the Group in March 2003. He served as the general manager and vice
president of Zhong An Group and the general manager and assistant to the
Chairman of Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd.. From 1995 to 2003,
Mr Zhang served as the office manager, assistant to general manager and
vice general manager of Milkyway Real Estate. Mr Zhang has 17 years of
experience in construction and property development.

Independent non-executive Directors

Pei Ker Wei (PhD), aged 55, was appointed an independent non-
executive Director in October 2007. Dr Pei worked as associate professor,
deputy professor and professor at Arizona State University, chairman of
North America Chinese Accounting Professors Academy and chairman
of global commission of American Accounting Academy. He is currently
Associate Dean of the W.P. Carey School of Business of Arizona State
University and a member of the American Accounting Academy. Dr Pei
is also serving as an independent non-executive director of Want Want
China Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange, and Baoshan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd., a company whose
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Dr Pei received his
MBA degree from the South lllinois University in 1981 and PhD from the
University of North Texas in 1986.
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Wang Shu Guang, aged 58, was appointed an independent non-
executive Director in October 2007. Professor Wang is Executive Chairman
of Zhejiang Provincial Merchant Research Society and a co-researcher
at the Institute of Public Management Science of Zhejiang University.
Professor Wang is also currently a consultant to various organizations,
including Hangzhou Young Entrepreneurs Association.

Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), aged 62, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company on 30 June 2009. Dr Loke is currently the company secretary of
Minth Group Limited, and serves as an independent non-executive director
of Bio-Dynamic Group Limited, Chiho-Tiande Group Limited, China Fire
Safety Enterprise Group Holdings Limited, Matrix Holdings Limited, SCUD
Group Limited, VODone Limited and Winfair Investment Company Limited,
the shares of which companies are all listed on the Stock Exchange. He is
a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. He is also an Associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration from University Teknologi Malaysia and a Doctor Degree in
Business Administration from the University of South Australia. He has over
36 years of experience in accounting and auditing for private and public
companies, financial consultancy and corporate management.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ming Chenghai, aged 57, is Executive Vice President of the Company.
He is responsible for the construction and cost management of the Group.
He joined the Company on 9 June 2009. Prior to joining the Company, he
was senior management staff of a number of sizeable groups of companies
including the Business Development Director of Wharf (Beijing) Limited and
the managing director of Northeast Division of China Vanke Co., Ltd.. Mr
Ming is a graduate in business administration of Economics Department of
the Liaoning University and a postgraduate student of School of Business
Administration of Dongbei University of Finance and Economics. Mr Ming
has more than 32 years of experience in the government, hotel, real estate
development and investment industries.
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Xu Dan, aged 47, is the Vice President and Officer of President Office of
the Group. She mainly assists the Chief Executive Officer on administration
and information management of the Group. She joined the Group in
January 20083. She served as the Director of Office, Director of Operating
Center, Director of Administration and Management Center of Zhong An
Group . Prior to joining the Group, she was the director of communications
of Kvaerner Power Equipment (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. from May 1996 to
December 2002 and the technician, electronic computing programmer,
deputy director and director of Hangzhou Power Generation Equipment
Factory from 1981 to 1994. Ms Xu holds college degrees in economics
and administration and management as well as certificate of engineer
qualification. She has 29 years of experiences in corporate and information
management including 9 years of professional experiences in business
management of real estate industry.

Lu Jianguo, aged 50, is the deputy executive general manager of
Zhong’an Service Company and general manager of Zhejiang Anyuan
Agriculture Development Co., Ltd. (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group) (“Agriculture Company”). He is primarily in charge of the
administration management of Zhong’an Service Company and the
development and operation management of Agriculture Company. He
joined the Group in May 2001. He served as general manager of Anhui
Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Group) (“Anhui
Zhong An Real Estate Development”), and executive general manager
of the Group. From 1993 to 2000, Mr Lu was a manager of Xiaoshan
Zhongguan Acoustic Engineering Co., Ltd., a manager of Xiaoshan
Erging Industrial General Corporation, the head of Xiaoshan Erging Tower
Preparatory Office, and the office manager and a designer at Hangzhou
Power Generation Equipment Factory from 1978 to 1993. Mr Lu received
an associate bachelor degree in electronics from the Zhejiang Radio &
Television University in 1982. Mr Lu has 10 years of experience in operation
and management of property companies.

Jin Jianrong, aged 43, is the Vice President of the Zhong An Group
and the general manager of certain subsidiaries of the Group in Zhejiang
Province. He is in charge of planning, research, development and
management of the projects of the Group as well as operation, sales and
cost management, and constructions in Zhejiang Province. Mr Jin joined
the Group in September 2004. Prior to joining the Group, he was the
deputy general manager in charge of construction matters of Zhejiang
Lvdu Real Estate Development Company from 2003 to 2004, and a
construction manager of Zhejiang Wanxiang Real Estate Company from
1997 to 2002. He was responsible for project management of Milkyway
Real Estate from 1995 to 1997, and was a project manager and worker
of Xuxian Construction Co., Ltd. from 1987 to 1994. Mr Jin received a
bachelor degree in civil engineering and management from the Sichuan
University in 2006. He has 24 years of experience in operation and
management of property companies.
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Jin Ni, aged 36, is the Vice President of the Group and the general
manager of Zhejiang Zhongan Commercial Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. (a wholly owned subsidiary of our Group). She is in charge of strategic
development and the business management and operation of commercial
projects of the Group. She joined the Group in May 1997. She served as
a sales lady initially and was promoted to become the vice manager of
the Sales Department, an office manager, and the vice general manager
of the Group from 1997 to 2006. She received her bachelor’'s degree
in management from Zhejiang University of Technology in 2003 and an
associate bachelor degree in accounting from the East College of Zhejiang
University in 1996. She has 15 years of experience in sales, and operation
and management of property companies.

Li Mouxing, aged 39, is the assistant to Chairman of the Group. He
is responsible for engineering and research and development. Mr Li
joined the Group in July 2010. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Li served as
engineer in charge of Greentown China Holdings Limited from October
2008 to July 2010, and structural engineer of Zhejiang Industry Design &
Research Institute from 1997 to 2003. Mr Li obtained a bachelor degree
in engineering mechanics from the Hehai University. He holds constructor
and structure engineer qualification. He has over 16 years of experience in
product design and engineering management.

Zhang Fengquan, aged 41, is the deputy executive general manager
of Yuyao Zhong An Property Development Co. Ltd. (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group). He is responsible for the daily operation of
property management of property development in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province. He joined the Group in December 1997. He served as property
manager and sales manager of Zhong An Group, project manager for
construction at Guotai Garden, and the deputy general manager of Yuyao
Henglong Property Co., Ltd.. From 1993 to 1997, Mr Zhang was an officer
of Milkway Real Estate. Mr Zhang received an associate bachelor degree
in industrial and civil construction from the Sichuan Agricultural University
in 2006 and a bachelor degree in project management from the Wuhan
University in 2010. Mr Zhang has 18 years of experience in operation and
management of property companies.
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Dong Shuixiao, aged 47, is the general manager of Anhui Zhong An
Real Estate Development and certain subsidiaries of the Group in Anhui
Province. He is in charge of the project development and the construction
and operation management of these subsidiaries, and the general
operation of Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development. He joined the
Group since 1997. He served as the deputy general manager (in charge
of finance) in Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development in January 2003.
He was responsible for the on-site technology supervision, construction
and cost control of the project in Yisheng in February 2004. In March
2006, he was promoted to be the deputy manager of Zhong An Group,
and in charge of financial operation. Prior to joining the Group, he was
the accountant and deputy finance manager of Xiaoshan Material Bureau
from 1985 to 1993 and the manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Hongsen
Material Co., Ltd. from 1994 to 1996. Mr Dong received his college
diploma in industrial and civil construction from the China University of
Geosciences. He has over 15 years of experiences in property operation
and management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Lam Yau Yiu, aged 48, is the financial controller and the company
secretary of the Company. He joined the Group in October 2008. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked for a company with property development
business in China for more than 2 years. He also acted as the finance
manager, financial controller and company secretary for three listed
companies in the United States of America and Hong Kong for a total of
about 7 years. Mr Lam graduated from the City University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor Degree in Accounting. He also holds a degree of Master
of Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. He is a felow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountant and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He has about 23 years of experience in external auditing, finance and
accounting.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of Zhong An Real Estate Limited
(the “Company”) have pleasure in presenting their annual report to
shareholders of the Company and the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal
activity of the Group is property development, leasing and hotel operation.
The nature of the principal activity has not changed during the year under
review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 65 to 72.

The board of Directors (the “Board’) does not recommend the payment of
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 200.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group and the Company during the year under review are
set out in notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

On 15 March 2011, 50,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (with
a total nominal value of HK$5,000,000) in the Company (“Shares”) were
placed to not less than six placees who were all independent third parties
of our Group at HK$1.40 per Share. On 18 March 2011, 50,000,000
Shares were allotted and issued to Whole Good Management Limited at
HK$1.40 per share (the “Top-up Subscription”). The net proceeds from
the Top-up Subscription were approximately HK$68,700,000 (with a net
price of approximately HK$1.374 per Share) and to be used by the Group
for investment in or development of property management and services
related venture business if suitable opportunities arise and general working
capital of the Group. As at the date of this report, part of the net proceeds
was applied for the general working capital of the Group. The new shares
allotted and issued pursuant to the Top-up Subscription ranked pari passu
with the then existing shares in all respects. The market price on the date of
allotment of the Shares pursuant to the Top-up Subscription on 15 March
2011 was HK$1.46.

Further details of the above are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 10 March 2011 and 18 March 2011.

Details of the movements in the Shares and share options of the Company
during the year under review are set out in notes 30 and 31 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 32 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB82,816,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB2,985,925,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The details of the share option scheme approved by the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) on 15 May 2009 (the “Scheme”) are
disclosed below pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”):

1. Purpose of the Scheme:

as incentives or rewards to the eligible participants for their

contribution to the Group.

2. Participants of the Scheme:

(@)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any equity entity
(“Invested Entity”) in which any members of the Group holds
an equity interest;

any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and
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(h)  any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30 per cent. of the share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of this Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10 per cent. of the Shares in issue as at the
date of passing the relevant resolution adopting the Scheme.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme:

194,267,200 Shares (representing 10% of total issued share capital
of the Company as at 15 May 2009, being the date of passing the
relevant resolution for adopting the Scheme) are available for issue
under the Scheme as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and other share option schemes of the Group (if any) (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company for the time being (“Individual Limit”). Any further
grant of options, which would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
to such participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the Scheme and other share option schemes of the
Group (if any), in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant in excess of the Individual Limit shall be subject
to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company with
such participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
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Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and the exercise period of the option:

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the Scheme for the
holding of an option before it can be exercised. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to
each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date
upon which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the period within
which payment must be made:

Nominal amount of HK$1 upon acceptance of the grant of option
and options may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer for grant of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price is the highest of the nominal value of the Shares;
the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of grant; and the
average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

Remaining life of the Scheme:

The Scheme will expire on 14 May 2019.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS ARIT(EASERE

Details of options (the “Options”) granted under the Scheme and R EIEEE ¥ REXRBEZE DA A RE KR
outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year under review as A RIFTIRD B B AR TT(E BB AR ([ BEARAE |) sE15 20
follows: N

Options granted under the Scheme

Number Number Number Outstanding at Date of Exercise price
Name of Outstandingat ~ of Options ~ of Options ~ of Options ~ Number of 31 December Options granted of Option HK$
participants 1 January 2011 granted exercised cancelled Options lapsed 2011 (“Date of Grant”) Exercise period per share
Rl % APUINE:
1818 BRI g EE# B4R 12A318 RIEBREAD BREKE
SEEH HATE  BREHE  BREHE  BRE®R  BREHE HATE (&A% T BRER
Category 1: Directors
EAERE
Shi Kancheng 2,883,720 - 2,883,720 9July 2010 Note 1 258
i iz 2010%7A9H i
- 2,300,000 2,300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
- 011514228 t0 21 January 2021
M14F1 A28
E1E1A21A
2,883,720 2,300,000 5,183,720
Shen Tiaojuan 1,441,860 - 1,441,860 9July 2010 Note 1 258
s 2010%7A9H i
- 1,200,000 1,200,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 1.8
- NME1R2A 021 January 2021
N14F1 24
Z1E1A21A
1,441,860 1,200,000 2,641,860
Lou Yfei 1,321,705 - 1,321,705 9July 2010 Note 1 2.58
E-R 210779 iz
- 1,100,000 1,100,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 1.85
- MME1R2A 021 January 2021
N14F1 A28
2021451 A21H
1,321,705 1,100,000 2,421,705
Zhang Jiangang 1,321,705 - 1,321,705 9July 2010 Note 1 2.58
FEH 2010%7A9H iz
- 1,100,000 1,100,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 1.85
- NHE1R2A 1021 January 2021
014514220
20214514218

1,321,706 1,100,000 2,421,705
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Number Number Number Outstanding at Date of Exercise price
Name of Outstandingat ~ of Options ~ of Options ~ of Options ~ Number of 31 December Options granted of Option HK$
participants 1 January 2011 granted exercised cancelled Options lapsed 2011 (“Date of Grant”) Exercise period per share
Roo11E Root1§
1818 BRI 2 BE# B4R 12A318 RILBREAD BREEE
SEEHL WATE  BREHE  BREHE  BRESR  BREUE HATE (&A% TR BRER
Professor Pei Ker Wei 360,465 - 360,465 9July 2010 Note 1 258
EREHR 2010%7 A9 fiiz
- 300,000 300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 1.85
MME1A2A 1021 January 2021
N14F1A2A
2021%F1521H
360,465 300,000 660,465
Professor Wang Shu Guang 360,465 - 360,465 9July 2010 Note 1 2.58
IBMAR 2010%7A9H iz
- 300,000 300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
MME1A2A to 21 January 2021
M14F1A2A
20214515218
360,465 300,000 660,465
Dr. Loke Yu 360,465 - 360,465 9July 2010 Note 1 2.58
FigmEL 201057796 fiiz
- 300,000 300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
- NME1A2A to 21 January 2021
014514228
20214517218
360,465 300,000 660,465
Total Directors 8,050,385 6,600,000 14,650,385
FEZh)
Category 2: Employees 19,705,430 - (961,240) 18,744,190 9July 2010 Note 1 2.58
#0% 8 2010779 fiiz
- 21,800,000 21,800,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 1.85
- MME1R2A 021 January 2021
014518228
20214518218

19,706,430 21,800,000 (961,240) 40,544,190
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Number Number Number Outstanding at Date of Exercise price
Name of Outstandingat ~ of Options ~ of Options ~ of Options ~ Number of 31 December Options granted of Option HK$
participants 1 January 2011 granted exercised cancelled Options lapsed 2011 (“Date of Grant”) Exercise period per share
AINES APUINE:
1B1A BRI g BE# A% 12A318 RIBREAD BREKE
SEEH WATE  BREHE  BREHE  BRESR  BREYUE HATE (&A% TR BRET
Category 3: Suppliers of 2,403,100 - 2,408,100 9July 2010 Note 1 258
goods or services 010%7 598 it
F38  EndRHitER - 37,000,000 37,000,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
NME1R2A 021 January 2021
N14F1 A28
E1E1A21A
2,403,100 37,000,000 39,403,100
Category 4: Others 17,903,101 - 17,903,101 9July 2010 Note 1 258
F4E Ay 010%7R98 i
- 14,600,000 14,600,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
MME1R2A to 21 January 2021
M14F1A2A
EE1A21A
17,903,101 14,600,000 32,503,101
Total 48,062,016 80,000,000 (961,240) 127,100,776
&5t
Notes: BRE -

The Options may be exercisable at any time during the period from 9 July 2009 to

8 July 2019 (the “Option Period”) provided that the maximum number of Options

which each grantee of the Options (“Grantee”) is entitled to exercise shall not

exceed:

@)

20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the expiry
of the first anniversary of the Date of Grant to the date immediately before

the second anniversary of the Date of Grant;

ZEBRER B 200957 A9HBRE2019F7 A8H
LEEAFE (T BB AR 20T ) BERS 1710 - B REARER & 2
BA(TERAD AT EN RSB E NSEE

HREAPEEFEREERRREASE
“EBEFE A ERE EEREas
20%

(o) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the (b) HELEHFE —_AEFEEZERLBHE
second anniversary of the Date of Grant to the date immediately before the “EBRFAERILEE HEREREZ
third anniversary of the Date of Grant; 20% :

©) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the third (© HELBHEF AT REZERLBHE
anniversary of the Date of Grant to the date immediately before the fourth MEEFRE B IEEE EEREAHR Y
anniversary of the Date of Grant; 20% :

(d 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fourth () HELBSHFEFNERFEEZERLBHE

anniversary of the Date of Grant to the date immediately before the fifth

anniversary of the Date of Grant; and

hEBFAE A EHE - EEkEas
20% + M



(e) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fifth
anniversary of the Date of Grant to the date immediately before the sixth
anniversary of the Date of Grant.

On 22 January 2011, the Company had granted 80,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable after three years from the date of grant (the“Lock-in Period”) provided
that the relevant grantees achieved the prescribed performance target during the
Lock-in Period and has passed the Company’s assessment, and be exercisable
before the expiry of the Option Period on 21 January 2021. The closing price of the
Share immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.85 per share.

The exercise price of the Options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

2REEARAR | —T——&5% 55

Directors’ Report

EEERE

© HORLANEFREAFEEZERRNASE
NEBFRE A LR ERREASZ
20% °

201141 22 8 - A& E# H & 80,000,000 7
BEARHE - MR BEz S =B (THTHHE)) ER
& - EBNARALTRHETARAEERRER
RIGAR QB ZZE - FA[7E2021 F1 A 21 AERE
HREM AT - ERERAARERL BHAT—XK 2K
DER AT 1.85 BT -

RE AR T ERIBEA AR BT AR R A
AR MR B BT

The Directors have estimated the values of the Options granted during the  EEE BEANFE 2 BEREMNBEETTE - B
year, calculated using the binomial option pricing model as at the date of ~ BERX#EFRH 7 HERA — BB EEXATE N

grant of the Options: T
Number of Theoretical
Options granted value of
Grantee during the year Options
ERA FRERZBREHE BREZREER
RMB
AR
Mr Shi Kancheng BEATLRK 5 4 2,300,000 2,122,895
Ms Shen Tiaojuan IARIE 2+ 1,200,000 1,107,597
Mr Lou Yifei B—REE 1,100,000 1,015,298
Mr Zhang Jiangang oR EX 8 S5 A 1,100,000 1,015,298
Professor Pei Ker Wei AREHE 300,000 276,899
Professor Wang Shu Guang FEEFHIX 300,000 276,899
Dr Loke Yu R g g+ 300,000 276,899
Other employees HEmES 21,800,000 20,121,354
Service providers PR IR AR 37,000,000 34,150,922
Others Hp AL 14,600,000 13,475,769
80,000,000 73,839,830

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief ~ BEZiT Sl HEFBHN [ESREETHAE
Executive’s interests in securities of the Company” and note 31 to the RAARIEFHFMEL | — &0 LI IEHREMFEST ©
financial statements.



56 Zhong An Real Estate Limited | 2011 Annual Report

Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”) or the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for less than 3% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for the year under
review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for 45% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the year
under review.

The largest supplier of the Group accounted for 27% of the Group’s
consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company'’s issued share capital) has any interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors as at 31 December 2011 and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)
Mr Lou Yifei

Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Mr Zhang Jiangang

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pei Ker Wei

Professor Wang Shu Guang

Dr Loke Yu (alias, Loke Hoi Lam)

In accordance with articles 108 (A) of the Articles, Professor Pei Ker Wei,
Professor Wang Shu Guang and Dr Loke Yu will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
year under review in which a Director is or was materially interested.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 41 to 46 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr Shi Kancheng, Mr Zhang Jiangang, Mr Lou Yifei and Ms Shen
Tiaojuan has entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant
to which he/she agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three
years with effect from 1 November 2010.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company) has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.
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EEEHRS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EERE
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE RE FHRYHE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors A 2011 F 12 831 H » EER ARG EEITH
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and A BRAZA &) sl (T HEEHEE (IR 55 LS 150
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the ([ 5% & BB & 1645) | XVERHY R ) MR « MR
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (‘SFO”) as /) REERENEZERARE - BB E SR PEK
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO  J|5352{&R E A A TIF B HIZ L MATEEs: - e
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant — E B &R NRE FT R B+ 38T AESETT
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed #5425 5HZXESF I ([1Z2XESTR ) e RN a &
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,  EZSpr&E AT -

were as follows:

(1) RROBFE

RARBFENRMNEE REmtE

(1) Long positions in Shares

Number of Shares held and nature of interest in the Company:

Number and Approximate

Name of class of percentage Long/Short
Director Capacity securities held of interest Position
FRitER S REREA
EEpnE 55 HERER Bk 373
Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 1,628,760,000 shares 68.67% Long
corporation (Note) of HK$0.1 each in the
capital of the Company
MK EEHhEE () RRAFEAREREEC.1 BT R
) 1,628,760,000 % I 1A
Note: These Shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire MRt 8% B Whole Good Management Limited

issued share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr. Shi

Kancheng.

R -

FA  E2HOBTRATRmEMKEE
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EEERE

(2) Long positions in underlying Shares (2) RERERGOHNEFE :

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of underlying the Company’s
Director Capacity Shares held issued share capital
EARDRE BT
EEpE E5%) HERGHE RAEBQEDLE
Shi Kancheng Beneficial owner 5,188,720 0.22
JiAiiipe BmBEAA
Shen Tiaojuan Beneficial owner 2,641,860 0.11
RESS BEmEAA
Zhang Jiangang Beneficial owner 2,421,705 0.10
R ER 5] BEmBEAA
Lou Yifei Beneficial owner 2,421,705 0.10
B BEmEAA
Loke Yu Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
A& BEmBEAA
Pei Ker Wei Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
TS BEmEAA
Wang Shu Guang Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
(RSN BEmEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the Directors ~ Fr EXFT#REEESN - 7820115F12 431 H - RAF]
and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO &= M+ Z1THA B BIEN AR Bl (R ARHE
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares (REHRPEEHIEXVEFRE) M5 - 18
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations — BER% D R EEFEE A R AR - WIRIEE
(within the meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register required % M EIEI&HIE 3521638 E 7 E S MR -

to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the ~ SKEETIER N AERIFZEETRIZ 2 A2 7] K
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. 2P o

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE EXEF

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the IR QT - EEMMB AT - RRMB A Tk
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company ~ HE &R G RF AL FERRFDATFEL AEEER
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, EEZUMARRESTERIHEEFRENT
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year. fAIaR o
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EEEHRS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTEREST IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2011, so far as are known to any Directors or chief
executives of the Company, the following parties (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or
deemed to be interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company:

FERRRELAFEFHER

R2011F12A31 8 ARG ERESHEET
BABFTA - TOAT (BEEHARBEBRITERA
BRRIN IRIEFEF LB EPIE 86 KR EFER
E AT SRR RNE - EEKEERE
BARBIDETRANG 5% kA HEZSIE ¢

Percentage of the

Number of Company’s issued Long/Short
Name Capacity shares held share capital Position
ARARBBIT

=L 55 FRERHEE REBNES L L33}

Whole Good Management Beneficial Owner 1,628,760,000 68.67% Long

Limited (Note) EnlEEA e
Whole Good Management

Limited (Ffi &)
Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited Investment Manager 192,400,000 8.11% Long
WEKE HE

Note: The entire issued share capital of Whole Good Management Limited which is wholly
and beneficially owned by Mr Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director
of Whole Good Management Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, no person, other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
notes 23 and 33 to the financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as non-exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions
in accordance with the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2011. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Ffff5E © Whole Good Management Limited #2582 #1T7A%
REFHMMKEEERER o MM SEERWhole
Good Management Limited KM —E = o

B EXXATHETEESN - R20114F12H8318 8B A
T(ESFAARRNEZTHRABRIN RAAF]
R RBRAR N EERESAE - BN R
BESH RHEIE05 336 (RR T BN ERM -

R 75 B BB 32 5

AEBERRY TR ZFHIEH N YRR T 23
233

HZE2011F12A31BIEFER - EXSHZR
FTRANBEATERREBRI S TERES
BN 5 T LA - AARIEET EWRAE
1AABHRERARE -



SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION
OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company repurchased a
total of 9,511,000 shares in the Company on the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the general mandates granted by the shareholders at the annual general
meetings held on 27 May 2011, details of which were as follows:—

REREEARAT | —F——FFR
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EEERE

LRIBERENTERME

RAEA DT ART B ER R OEEHA - A
FHRTBN OBEERTIAS KRS
TRARENATHRE -

BE  HeEsEOEXEAFME
HiEHF

REZE2011F12A31BIEFER » AQARBER
20115 A27 HRITHRERAF RS FERER

FEZBERIRMDZ MR REBATERAR
AN A $£9,511,000% » :ZEHEO 2 15T ¢

Price per share

BRER
Number
of shares Highest Lowest

Month/year purchased price paid price paid Total paid
/R BRRGHE &5 545 RERE

HKD HKD HKD

BT BT BT
July 2011 9,511,000 1.50 1.40 13,755,430
201147 A

All shares repurchased were cancelled and accordingly the Company’s
issued share capital was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
The repurchases were effected for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole by enhancing the value of the net assets and
earnings per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2011.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB4,450,000 (2010: RMB1,699,000).

BRI Z RN 2EMER  ARBZEETR
AREHBUERD ZHE - BRBROZ/RES
SREEFERTRATN - BANRARREE
PR RE R4S

M EXETIEEEESN  REE2011F12A31HIEF
BER - ARAKETAMNBARBEEE HE
L AR EER ETHES °

BEHAX

REBFEEA  AREELNZESBERARBAR
% 4,450,000 7T (2010 4F : A 1,699,0007T) °
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EEEHRS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There was no matter occurred that bears significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retired and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On Behalf of the Board
Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 27 March 2012

HHHEER

BEREEAREARFHRE M EL EHAY
AEEELERYENER -

ZBUED
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong An
Real Estate Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 65 to 189, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

B AR E R

BRZEEARAAZBER
(RESHSEMA T BB R ERAA])
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with IFRSs and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 March 2012

BRI ERERAHUBHRRABESRMBEE
HOBEZEBRORTER - FMEENEATRR
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Consolidated Income Statement

BOHEFER

Year ended 31 December 2011

HE2011F12 A1 HILEEE

2011 2010
2011 £ 20104
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kz AR¥TT ARET T
Revenue PN 5 1,688,699 1,243,871
Cost of sales SHEEBA (889,664) (600,912)
Gross profit EF 799,035 642,959
Other income and gains E A R 5 40,004 3,871
Selling and distribution costs SHE RO KA (90,499) (69,147)
Administrative expenses TR (212,323) (160,512)
Other expenses EfAs (8,865) (49,905)
Increase in fair value of TEMEN AR
investment properties EEEM 14 160,430 276,680
Finance costs MIEEA 6 (447) (3,463)
Share of profits and losses of DGR E AN
jointly-controlled entities A R E1E 18 (97) -
Profit before tax RR B A1 FI 7 687,238 640,483
Income tax expense FrfS R 10 (308,671) (227,223)
Profit for the year FRFIE 378,567 413,260
Attributable to: AT A
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZZ =N 11 351,391 379,759
Non-controlling interests EEai e 27,176 33,501
378,567 413,260
Earnings per share attributable BAREBREEA
to ordinary equity holders of EEERER
the parent (RMB) (AR¥) 12
Basic and diluted HAREE 15 cents 16 cents
1557 1559
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BOFEEERER

Year ended 31 December 2011 #Z 2011412 A31 HILEE

2011 2010
2011 £ 20104
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥TT ARET T
Profit for the year FRFE 378,567 413,260
Other comprehensive income HEth2mEikes
Exchange differences on REBINEBEE
translation of foreign operations 2N ERR (6,332) 4,807
Total comprehensive FREEWRZEE
income for the year 372,235 418,067
Attributable to: AT A
Owners of the parent [STNEIEZEPN 345,059 384,566
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 27,176 33,501
372,235 418,067
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B OB AR R

31 December 2011

2011412 A31H

2011 2010
2011 & 20104
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kz AR¥TT ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment B E Rk 13 226,553 195,710
Investment properties EMFE 14 1,995,600 1,931,000
Properties under development FAEE R 2 15 2,935,604 1,130,603
Goodwill EE 16 - =
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 17 5,610 3,300
Long term prepayments RHEFE R 24 737,073 1,860,027
Investments in jointly-controlled entities R ERZEH BRI E 18 177,482 =
Deferred tax assets RETIBE E 19 107,746 71,737
Total non-current assets BIEREEE 6,185,668 5,192,377
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Completed properties held for sale FHEHE B &R ZE 1,480,192 1,139,350
Equity investments at fair value through UAREBEF=EEE
profit or loss EHEmNRARE 21 1,004 =
Properties under development FEER Y2 15 4,695,260 2,981,185
Inventories FE 11,623 14,191
Trade and bills receivables EWE ZERA N ZEE 22 56,750 16,139
Prepayments, deposits AR BERk
and other receivables H b FEUGRIE 23 542,972 359,520
Restricted cash ZBRHIIR % 25 189,587 428,558
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIReEEY 25 412,508 1,007,979
7,389,896 5,946,922
Investment property classified DIRFELERNIRE
as held for sale LS 14 73,218 -
Total current assets WmENEE 7,463,114 5,946,922
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBE
Trade payables B E SRR 26 1,423,408 508,998
Other payables and accruals LAt R FRIE R FE T B 27 670,731 587,741
Advances from customers BEEMR 28 2,285,805 1,725,582
Interest-bearing bank and SHRIRITER
other borrowings RHEMfEFR 29 1,064,930 950,500
Tax payable JERTFRIR 10 508,882 341,618
Total current liabilities wiEaE 5,953,756 4,114,439
NET CURRENT ASSETS BERBEE 1,509,358 1,832,483
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REERABEME
CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,695,026 7,024,860
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BH BRI R

31 December 2011 2011412 431 H

2011 2010
2011 & 20104
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF AR¥ETT ARET T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REERABERS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,695,026 7,024,860
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Interest-bearing bank and T EIRITER
other borrowings R EAb &R 29 1,990,451 1,823,500
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEAE 19 436,467 387,017
Total non-current liabilities BIEREEE 2,426,918 2,210,517
Net assets FEE 5,268,108 4,814,343
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners ISYNCIEZEPN
of the parent FE(GARHE
Issued capital B EITRRA 30 222,636 219,216
Reserves il 32 4,840,072 4,416,903
5,062,708 4,636,119
Non-controlling interests R AR 205,400 178,224
Total equity BRER 5,268,108 4,814,343
Shi Kancheng Shen Tiaojuan iR iH A TikiE
Chairman and Director Director EERFEE -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B EREEX

Year ended 31 December 2011 & ZE 2011412 H31 BILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRGARK
Share Share  Stafutory  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Issued ~ premium  Contributed Captal option suplus  reserve fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital ~account  suplus  reseve  resene  resene find  resene profits Total  interests equity
EhE  :ERR iR EikE 2R

Rk ROREE REBM RARRE  ERE NRE  ERE  ERE  REEA it B4

RMBOMO  RMBOOO  RMBOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMB'0O0  RMB0X0  RMBION0

MERTR  ARBTn  ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARRTr  ARMTR  ARRTn ARRTn ARETR ABMTn ARRTx
Note Noted0  Note32d)  Noed2b)  NotedZe)  MNoled1  Noted2e)  Noted2d)
i B WEvg  WEn B BEY RENg  FEw

At 1 Jenuary 2010 A10F171A 1839 2076821 3318 9461 10519 11542 8284 (8705 1008628 4260029 A 44U

Proft o theyear il = = = = = - -
Othercompehensie ioome fortheyear.  £RERZENE

Bchergpdfeeossontensetin ~ BEBERES
offoreign operions LERER

39759 7479 B 43K

480 = 480 - 480

Totd comprensie roomeforheyer  EREHATNE - - - - - - U T B 1) N 1.1

Roguistionof anon-contolingmerest AR - - - B - - - - - BB Ly p)
Captal contutonby Heieng
anon-contoling Sharefolder - - - - - - - - - - 4900 430
Eouly-setfed srareopfonarengements~ REEEERERE o1 - 8 - - - - - - M - M
Bonus isste HIED) BeT BN - - - - - - - - - -
Trense fom etaned pofs pRGEEE - - - - - am 5 - - - -
At31 December 2010 DI0F12A318 29216 2040044~ 30316 (B2 40306+ 142616 8289 (13698~ 1361190« 4636119 178204 4814343
At 1 Janvary 2011 AMEIR1E AN 2940044 M8 @B 006t 142616t 8200 (13898F 1361100 463610 17824 481434
Proft for theyear iR - - - - - - - - B BN 4% S8
Othercomprehersveinoomefor theyear.  ERERATNE
Bchengedfeeoesontensilin  BEBIEREE
offoregn operaions LEREE - - - - - - -6 -6 -6
Totd comprehensie roomeforteyer  FREHAENE - - - - - - - %) BN W A% S
Issue of shaes ¥k kil 409 B - - - - - - - B - B
Share sl expenses OEGES | - 109 - - - - - - - 109 - 109
Repuchaseand cancelefonof heres. B2 30 189 (10g3n) - - - - - - - (114 - (1)
Equiy-setted shaopfonanengements  RigGEERERS 9 - - - - BiM - - - - B9 - BN
Transfer of share opton resene RERERIER
Upon e frfefureorexpiy of HERERERE
share opfions - - - - (751) - - - 75 - - -
Trense fom etaned pofs BRGETEE - - - - -1 - - (4 - - -
At31 December 2011 DIERANA 26% 2985005 GRS V117 S YIS T R 8200 (G020 171838 5062708 205400 5,268,108
i In February 2010, the Group acquired the remaining 5% non-controlling interestin ~ * 201052 A - AREE R IFERAR R WE AR E R H
a subsidiary of the Group in Mainland China from the non-controlling shareholder at B A b BB 1 B R L8R 5% FEIE R RS - BREAA
a total consideration of RMB57,941,000. The difference between the consideration R¥57,941,0007T ° REEFTEEEFERAME
and the book value of the share of the net assets acquired of RMB53,353,000 was M ZR ARKES53,353,000 tHER BIERR 5 ZER °

recognised as result of an equity transaction.

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB4,840,072,000  * ZEHERE BEAHEUBERARANEHBEBEAR
(2010: RMB4,416,903,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. #4,840,072,000 7T (20104 : AR¥ 4,416,903,000
TT) °
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SO RERER

Year ended 31 December 2011 & ZE 2011412 A31 BILEE

2011 2010
2011 & 20104
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiiF ARBTR ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities RELBNESHRE
Profit before tax BRI 687,238 640,483
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation e 13 20,580 18,035
Impairment of other receivables H At MR R B 23 - 44,966
Changes in fair value of BEMEE
investment properties AFEEE 14 (160,430) (276,680)
Fair value losses, net: R EEEEFE
Equity investments at fair value DR EEFEBEZEA
through profit or loss 2 HBRNRANEE 1,168 =
Equity-settled share option expense AR A R AR 31 35,129 24,877
Share of profits and losses of DML HRIEHIEE
jointly-controlled entities 103 A & 518 97 =
Gain on disposal of HEREMEEE Ml
investment properties (2,660) -
Gain on disposal of equity investments HENAREENEEHES)
at fair value through profit or loss A BB RN RER AR
Wz (1,683) -
Finance costs B ER 6 447 3,463
Interest income FBWA 5 (5,712) (2,000)
574,174 453,144
Increase in properties under development sk ES | (3,306,644) (3,422,839)
(Increase)/decrease in completed FEHED AKX
properties held for sale WEE (32 hn) /R (340,842) 561,787
Increase in trade and bills receivables EWE Z IR R EEIE N (40,611) (1,821)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, B - Be REM
deposits and other receivables FENRIE (), R (183,452) 47,135
Decrease/(increase) in long term prepayments RHFERMZORD, /(2 m) 1,122,954 (167,822)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/(3m) 2,568 (6,998)
Increase in restricted cash for presale proceeds  FEEFTS AR IR HI3H £330 (173,029) =
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FERHE SR, (Rl ) 914,410 (119,572)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hib NIRRT & B
and accruals #10,/CRd) 21,541 (6,597)
Increase in advances from customers BRI I 560,223 1,550,388
Cash used in operations REERMANRES (848,708) (1,113,195
Interest received B UFIE 5,712 2,000
Interest paid RERENSS (214,730) (104,581)
Income tax and land BERAERR
appreciation tax paid THEER (127,966) (173,204)
Net cash flows used in REERFERMN

operating activities BEREFE (1,185,692) (1,388,980)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHBEERER

Year ended 31 December 2011 & ZE 2011412 A31 HILEE

2011 2010
2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ji0kz3 ARETT AREFT
Net cash flows used in REEBERN
operating activities BEREFE (1,185,692) (1,388,980)
Cash flows from investing activities REXBENBRERE
Capital contributions and loans to EESEE g
jointly-controlled entities R FERER (177,579) =
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B AR - (9,941)
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest U BE FEA A - (57,941)
Additions to investment properties REYZEILAR (2,170) -
Proceeds from disposal of HEREMFEMISHIE
investment properties sold 27,442 -
Purchases of equity investments BEUAABEAZEHED
at fair value through profit or loss FTABHEERRERE (14,564) -
Proceeds from disposal of equity investment HEAAREBEFTEAEE
at fair value through profit or loss FTAR RS RER AR
FiSsE 14,075 =
Purchases of items of property and equipment ~ BERE KR {EEE (51,452) (13,135)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments EEIHLERE (2,310) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property HERERSEEE
and equipment FTiS 5038 29 852
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash — SR FIIR S — EH R
pledged deposits WL/ (sEm) 412,000 (399,210)
Net cash flows/(used in) RELBEE (AW
investing activities BEREFE 205,471 (479,375)
Cash flows from financing activities METHELENRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares B ETS R 30 58,922 =
Share issue expenses BT 30 (1,095) =
Capital contributions by FEERR AR R A
a non-controlling shareholder - 4,900
New interest-bearing bank and HtBRITER
other borrowings R EH A fETR 1,930,951 2,616,500
Repayment of interest-bearing EE BRITER
bank and other borrowings R E AR (1,649,570) (907,289)
Repurchase of shares EERG 30 (11,426) -
Increase in an amount due to FERTFEIRARAR SR
a non-controlling shareholder I 63,300 265,629
Net cash flows from financing activities BEEHELEFNREREFE 391,082 1,979,740
Net (decrease)/increase in BEeRBELEEY
cash and cash equivalents OR) /B mEaE (589,139) 111,385
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ~ FHIH & MIESEHEY 1,007,979 891,787
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EXEFHHTE - TR (6,332) 4,807
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRASRASEEY 412,508 1,007,979
Analysis of balances of cash BEeRBEEENELOM

and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances and time deposits B RIRTTHER AR EBER 25 412,508 1,007,979
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2011 2010
2011 £ 20104
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥TT ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB R R HIEE 20 932,181 979,287
Property and equipment B E K& 13 370 560
Total non-current assets BIERENE EE 932,551 979,847
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUR BT A BIFIAE 20 1,881,264 1,966,248
Prepayments, deposits and TERFR TR%&
other receivables H b FEUGRIA 23 17,150 280
Equity investments at fair value through UAREEF=ZER
profit or loss o HE MR E 21 1,004 -
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREEEY 25 22,350 3,046
Total current assets BREEE 1,921,768 1,969,574
CURRENT LIABILITIES REaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN EPNEIE e 20 119,388 116,802
Other payables and accruals HEMpER S IE&V FTEA 27 622 5173
Total current liabilities wREaE 120,010 121,975
NET CURRENT ASSETS BERBEE 1,801,758 1,847,599
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,734,309 2,827,446
Net assets FEE 2,734,309 2,827,446
EQUITY R
Issued capital BT 30 222,636 219,216
Reserves Ee 32 2,511,673 2,608,230
Total equity R 2,734,309 2,807,446
Shi Kancheng Shen Tiaojuan HEAR BL TAREE
Chairman and Director Director EFERFESE E2
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman
Islands on 13 March 2007 under the Companies Law (revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is
principally engaged in property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The Group’s property development projects during the
year were all located in Zhejiang and Anhui Provinces, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”), the
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Whole Good Management Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 3 May 2007. Whole Good Management
Limited is wholly owned by Mr Shi Kancheng, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and
International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations
Committee interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Committee that remain in effect, and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties which have been measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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PR ER R M

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 21 IREIEE ()

(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2011. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases. All intra-group balances,
transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the
non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendment Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards -

Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters

IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

IAS 32 Amendment Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues

IFRIC 14 Amendments Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a
Minimum Funding Requirement

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity

Instruments

Improvements to IFRSs 2010 Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued in May
2010

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of IAS 24
(Revised), and amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 1 and IAS 27 included in
Improvements to IFRSs 2010, the adoption of these new and revised
IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on the consolidated
financial statements.
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PR ER R M

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2 2@ BESERIES ()
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

The principal effects of adopting these IFRSs are as follows:

(@)

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised)

IAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions
of related parties. The new definitions emphasize a
symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify
the circumstances in which persons and key management
personnel affect related party relationships of an entity. The
revised standard also introduces an exemption from the
general related party disclosure requirements for transactions
with a government and entities that are controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the same government
as the reporting entity. The accounting policy for related
parties has been revised to reflect the changes in the
definitions of related parties under the revised standard. The
adoption of the revised standard did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.
Details of the related party transactions, including the related
comparative information, are included in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Improvements to IFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of IFRSs. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of
some of the amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments has had a significant
financial impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group. Details of the key amendments most applicable to the
Group are as follows:
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B EEER R M

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2 2@ BESERIES ()
AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

IFRS 3 Business Combinations: The amendment
clarifies that the amendments to IFRS 7, IAS 32 and
IAS 39 that eliminate the exemption for contingent
consideration do not apply to contingent consideration
that arose from business combinations whose
acquisition dates precede the application of IFRS 3 (as
revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendment limits the scope of
measurement choices for non-controlling interests. Only
the components of non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either fair value
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by another IFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to
clarify the accounting treatment for non-replaced and
voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The
amendment clarifies that an analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income can be
presented either in the statement of changes in equity
or in the notes to the financial statements. The Group
elects to present the analysis of each component
of other comprehensive income in the statement of
changes in equity.

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from IAS 27 (as revised
in 2008) made to IAS 21, IAS 28 and IAS 31 shall be
applied prospectively for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009 or earlier if IAS 27 is applied earlier.
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PR ER R M

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 B Lt K &= WA Bl B
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SRS AR
REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, AR B L F I B NI K FE A B A1
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial REME TIIRET RAEFT BRI B3RS 2
statements. Al
IFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International RS R BREHBREERE1RIEFT

Financial Reporting Standards — Severe Hyperinfiation B 1RBER UN=W/ el e
and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters' RI-BEBRFKRRAEL
& B
IFRS 1 Amendments ~ Amendments to IFRS 1 Government Loans* BRI RS ER PREAS IR SRS 1 SRBURT S
FA1RETA WAL
IFRS 7 Amendments  Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures Gilatprerepedill BREA RS LB TRIETA
— Transfers of Financial Assets' ETHRETA PHTA: RE-2HEE
ZEE
IFRS 7 Amendments ~ Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures Bilagpreeedill BRETBREERE TRETR
- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilties* FTREIA PRTR  HE-HHTH
EERCHAR"
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments® ERMBREREN SHTAS
EeL
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements® BIBmEED  AMAERL
£10%
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements* REREED  AEZH
F115
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities* BB REREN  REREMEENED"
F125
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement* BERMBREEN  ArEETE
F13%
IAS 1 Amendments Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements R R RS TERE 1 SR B A
— Presentation of ltems of Other Comprehensive FARBIIAR ZH-EMEERAEL L
Income® =t TP
IAS 12 Amendments  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax: &R B et R E 12555 F —
Recovery of Underlying Assets? F12RETA BEEFE - WG EE?
IAS 19 Amendments  Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits* B & 2R Be | ® 195 ES 57
FARIETA ZIEETA!
IAS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements* Gl A B
F 27 5% (FERT)
IAS 28 (Revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures* B estEd| REERFRAELENRE"
% 28%; (K 3T)
IAS 32 Amendments  Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation Bpr sl BeERE R RE AL
- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities® £ 32 RIETA BITA: 28— HKHz@E
ERZBEE®
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Prodluction Phase of a Surface Mine* BRI RRERE  EABSLEERNARE L

ZEEF 0%



2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014

® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015

Further information about those changes that are expected to
significantly affect the Group is as follows:

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on
the classification and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity shall classify
financial assets as subsequently measured at either amortised
cost or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve and
simplify the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of IAS 39.

In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 to address
financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated in IFRS 9 the
current derecognition principles of financial instruments of IAS 39.
Most of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from IAS 39,
while changes were made to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value
option (“FVQO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in
the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk
must be presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The
remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss,
unless presentation of the fair value change in respect of the liability’s
credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. However, loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts which have been designated under the FVO are scoped
out of the Additions.

2.3
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 & S ah B R

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

IAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by IFRS 9 in its entirety. Before this
entire replacement, the guidance in IAS 39 on hedge accounting
and impairment of financial assets continues to apply. The Group
expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2015.

IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities or structured entities.
It includes a new definition of control which is used to determine
which entities are consolidated. The changes introduced by IFRS 10
require management of the Group to exercise significant judgment
to determine which entities are controlled, compared with the
requirements in IAS 27 and SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose
Entities. IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for
consolidated financial statements. It also includes the issues raised
in SIC-12.

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-
18 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by
Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint arrangements with
joint control. It addresses only two forms of joint arrangements,
i.e., joint operations and joint ventures, and removes the option to
account for joint ventures using proportionate consolidation.

IFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and structured entities that are previously
included in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,
IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and IAS 28 Investments
in Associates. It also introduces a number of new disclosure
requirements for these entities.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Consequential amendments were made to IAS 27 and IAS 28 as a
result of the issuance of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. The Group
expects to adopt IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, and the consequential
amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 from 1 January 2013.

IFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single source
of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use
across IFRSs. The standard does not change the circumstances in
which the Group is required to use fair value, but provides guidance
on how fair value should be applied where its use is already required
or permitted under other IFRSs. The Group expects to adopt IFRS
18 prospectively from 1 January 2013.

Amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in
OCI. ltems that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at
a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or settlement)
would be presented separately from items which will never be
reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1
January 2013.

IAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred tax for
investment property measured at fair value. The amendments
introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment
property measured at fair value should be determined on the basis
that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale. Furthermore,
the amendments incorporate the requirement previously in SIC 21
Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets
that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured using the
revaluation model in IAS 16, should always be measured on a sale
basis. The Group expects to adopt IAS 12 Amendments from 1
January 2012.

2.3

mrEEgRATR | —=2— &£ 81

Notes to Financial Statements

B EEER R M

El

N

= 4 2 e B B
MBWE

R (%)

B 8 41 B PR B 7 R 5 R RIS 10 5%~ BIBRBA
T EERE 1157 M BRI 7 s 5 22 RIS
125% - BB ERHERIE 27 5 REIFR & 51
AIZE 285 B R EER] - AEEIEHE 2013
F1A1HRRABEIR B RS ERE10
5 BIRM R E RS 115 - BERPS
WEERFE 1255 AR BB &5 ERIE 27 57
KBRS & SRR S 28 SRAVIRARIERT -

BTSSR E 13RIRE T AR EBE
WIFEEE  AnBEFENE —RRRE
B % B 7 e o 2E R 3 [ A (R FR O R BB AR E ©
ZERT TR B A EEBEFEA AR BER
B - B T EE BRI RS ERE
REXAFERAABENERT - B
ERARBENIES - AEETEH B 2013
F1 818 R BRI 53R 5 2RI SE 1357 o

Bt R E 1 RETANBERMER
W 2588 B B D4 o £ R R B
(flans | ERER S AEE ) AT B D E B
(HRBEEFER) NIE B KENMFEH D
BHIRENFZY - AREEHE20135F1
HA1 BRRERBER -

BIRR 25 ERIE 12 RISFT A RBA LA R E
BEFfERREMENEEHENET © (55
SIAFHERIEE @ BIAR A BEFTENERE
YIERREFIE - EAHREERE LS Mma
W eI EREMERE o tIh - ZZFEFTAA
NEEEBRABEZE S —RBFE 21 RAZ
B — BT ELEMHKEIRRE - BIERA
B s ERE 16 EMENGTERIE
MEEEMNBREERIE - EALHSEMRTE -
AEEBEHE 201251 A1 AEEARE S
SHERISE 1258 EET AN -



82 Zhong An Real Estate Limited | 2011 Annual Report

Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 & S ah B R

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

IAS 19 Amendments include a number of amendments that
range from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-
wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes in the
accounting for defined benefit pension plans including removing
the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and losses.
Other changes include modifications to the timing of recognition
for termination benefits, the classification of short-term employee
benefits and disclosures of defined benefit plans. The Group expects
to adopt IAS 19 Amendments from 1 January 2013.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the
Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the
capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration of the
joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised
upon its dissolution. The profits or losses from the joint venture’s
operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared
by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture
agreement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is treated as:

(@)

a subsidiary, if the Group/Company has unilateral control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group/Company does not
have unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

an associate, if the Group/Company does not have
unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly,
generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and is in a position to exercise significant
influence over the joint venture; or

an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
IAS 39, if the Group/Company holds, directly or indirectly,
less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and
has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise
significant influence over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to

joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties having

unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-

controlled entity.

The Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are stated

in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s

share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less

any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Jointly-controlled entities (continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
jointly-controlled entities is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Where the profit
sharing ratio is different to the Group’s equity interest, the share of
post-acquisition results of the jointly-controlled entities is determined
based on the agreed profit sharing ratio. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of jointly-controlled entities
is included as part of the Group’s investments in jointly-controlled
entities.

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s investments in jointly-controlled
entities are treated as non-current assets and are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

When an investment in a jointly-controlled entity is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations from 1 January 2011

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Business combinations from 1 January 2011 (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed
to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will
not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does not fall
within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the
appropriate IFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of
in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed properties held for
sale, properties under development, investment properties, goodwill
and non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a); and

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress , are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciate them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The estimated residual values and
useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Useful lives Residual values

Properties 20 years 5% to 10%
Machinery 10 years 5%
Office equipment 5 years 5%
Motor vehicles 5 years 5%

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual value, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

REEEBRAR

Notes to Financial Statements

BB AR EE

2.4 TREABREE ()

FERZBERITE

BREZTEI BERKETIRKAERR
AT EREAREBRARK - FE &aﬂ%é’]
RABEEBEEREAREEEEEENK
TR E AR B ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁzﬁ"

FERRERBREREELNXH @ EE
EREERS  —RTAELHHBRR -
W ZERERIRE - AEARENFXENE
EREERENMIERSH - AT HZR
REBDMERFZME - AAEEEHZEFHD
ERRAREERFRNERNEELSE
e -

FEDREEREE RREH G5 A F
Hl - LEARORIIRERCAME - WHIBREAIE
FHEE - BULRAN MG RISEE R EA
FRWT :

AR ER FerEE

EE 20F 5% Z=10%
Hes 104F 5%
N 54 5%
Y 54 5%

fisd 882 F5 B B skt 2E B G 1N B Al it R 4F
Hi - HIRZ78 B B AR TIA & IR EEE KA D
DEREFD D BIFHRITE

BE - AERFRRITETATIN &M BE
BHEEAREZEEHE

—z—5% 89



90 Zhong An Real Estate Limited | 2011 Annual Report

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property and equipment and any significant part initially
recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents renovation works in progress
and is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost mainly comprises the direct costs of construction
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property and equipment
or investment properties when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the income statement in the year in which
they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from completed properties held for sale to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the property
at that date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in
the income statement. If the fair value of an investment property
under construction is not reliably determinable but expected to be
reliably determinable when construction is complete, investment
property under construction is measured at cost until either its fair
value becomes reliably determinable or construction is completed
(whichever is earlier).

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion. On completion, the properties are transferred to
completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development which are intended to be held for sale
and expected to be completed within 12 months from the end of the
reporting period are classified as current assets.

Properties under development which are intended to be held for sale
and expected to be completed beyond 12 months from the end of
the reporting period are classified as non-current assets.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment
of the total costs of land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value takes into account the selling price,
less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties based on
prevailing market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Operating leases ReEHE

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of A EHA RN ATA RN & AR E S & EHE

assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases. AFTEMMEE  9FEELEHE - WAKE

Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under AHEAA - BAEERESEHELHENE

operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals EffAERBEE - MBEREEHENEL

receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income AL B ERHANESETABRER ° |

statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the AEBEAEEBA @ AIKEHENENTESE

Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are BHEEA N EEEGT AIBRE ©

charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the

lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially KT ETH T HTE L S FIBR IR

stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line AR - WHAE BB AERLF IR

basis over the lease terms. R o

Investments and other financial assets RERHMERMERE

Initial recognition and measurement NBERARTE

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial RIERB S EREINHRZRE  S/mE

assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and EDBUNARBENEBEEHTAEE

available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated mMSRMEE B RERFIEM A&

as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The SRVEE ' D BIETRERENRAELH

Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial TEMMTETAE(ER) - ASBEREIRY]

recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are BHERDEHSHEEE - ©RVEERYIRTE

measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of RFEADN L BEMNERZZHAGTE © LA

financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss. AAaEEE B EZ e A Higmc g
SRBEERIN o

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are FEcHEETRESHNRR S AMHER - A

recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group NEBFAEEREHEZBEENHE] ©

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or FrE B BB BRI AR R E KT ES

sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery E—EHRANEREENRS °

of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances, AEENSREERIEIRE NIRTESR <
restricted cash, trade and other receivables and quoted and PRH#IIE S - FEURBRE TN N E fh fE LR IE & B 3R
unquoted financial instruments. BREAFRESRHIA -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets REFHMEMEE (8)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement H#EGTTE

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their HEEGTENSRBEESRENUTOEMmE

classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss DAREEFEEHSHTAEHEZNS
MEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial KA BEEEEZS AEHERENS
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial BEERERIFEENSMEE RN EIXE
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets REEELURREBEGEBEEHTA
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose EHERNEREE  c SEMNETRE (B
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded ESRAZBARNITETIR) DB AREE
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are & MRERETEABIENRTERINGE
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39. = R B SFT2ERI5E 3955%) ©
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the AR EETEEEEE AEHEZNS
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair BEERAABEIABMBRAE  AnE
value recognised in other income and gains or finance costs in the B TR EE R E MR A KBk E
income statement. These net fair value changes do not include any BRATER - ZE AN BEILEFENLE
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are BBZEemEENEMRERFEWHA -
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue TR ENARIR N3 [ U ATER ] sl IR 78
recognition” below. R o
Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value RUIF R EBIERIZ AN EBEEEN S
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition BEERYIZ R A BEEAREREES
and only if the criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied. FHEERIZE 30 Sk MR EE BE 5 AT IR JE ©
The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit REBEEA AR EEFEBEEHTAE
or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to sell them HiEmmM S REE (FHERX S ) BT ERS
in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, TEEREERNALEE - E(RERBERLT)
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive REMBNERNERELEEWEECE
markets and management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable BERITE R 2 iR S EE AL - HEL
future significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify HemBEERERETRS  AEERTEE
these financial assets. The reclassification from financial assets at HEEEITENHE - WAREEFEAE
fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available- AT HERNeREESREEEN
for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends BMEFMHBEERREWFUE - AfEHE
on the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not affect any CHMEENFBEEINHAARKRE « ZaHELA
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss using HEETERAAABEFEAEEHAAE
the fair value option at designation as these instruments cannot be HiEmnEfeREEREEREFRAR
reclassified after initial recognition. R EEEERE - WIBERGET AR

RIETBEEH DM -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the
host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or
designated at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the income statement. Reassessment only occurs
if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income in the
income statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised
in the income statement in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response
to changes in market conditions.

RERHMEMEE ()

URAEEEEESS T AEHESENS
BMEE (A)

HARREARNNITETAMS - AREA
B R E R TSR OE AR -
ARETANAIERERFIIRERAAE
Bt AR AEIIEBITETATRA
REERLEK - ZFARATETRRAAE
BEFtE - MARBEZENEDERER - R
BEANEHERARESERITEENS
ERER - TEHAKETER -

F

B R EWRE

BRI AR B E S A HE e
BHERZEEMSNIFTEESREE
TREt B1R - RFEENBERRAERF
FORFH B W B SR AR = (R DR (B 2 B
E o AT EERKARE Z R BEREEN
EAFEREE  BEERERNERRS
RAMER - §ERREBRFIRBZRER
RIFFERREER - HBBYERaRTR
BR o BFRFR B HAT ABSRT A E MU
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i FE WK IR S R RERR,

AfHETHEE
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment valuation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement in other income, or until the investment is determined to
be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the income
statement in other expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported
as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the income statement as other income in accordance
with the policies set out for “Recognition of revenue” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial
assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted when
the financial assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and
the Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the
foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the held-to-
maturity category is permitted only when the Group has the ability
and intent to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes
its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate.
Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to
be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the
income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets RIEBIASHEE
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or SREE(K(WER) —Be/mEE &)
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when: Dk —HRABEERMEEZ D) E NG
SUHGER | ERERR
e therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or . WHZIAEEMSRERENENE
NI
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from . AREEDEEHWEZEEEMSR
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received SmERERN - RERE—IE 8]
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under ZHE 0 AETEEEANTERBN NG
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group FIREIR e RERBNTFE=ZF : &
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the () AEB B EEZIEEENBANI D
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained B K B3R » 3k (b) AN & B I 42 6
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has SR ZIAE ERBAZ D E R K6
transferred control of the assets. ¥ BREEZIEEEERIE -
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows EAEEEEEENNGZIEEEMSRESR
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it SMFERS B T — B 2 HE - @R HE
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of BRREBZEEENAD D BBAER - LA
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained REEE - IS B EN(REBZIBE
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred ERN@AHORR LB - B EEEZIE
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the BENEEHE  ZIBEEGIRAEBNRNEE
Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group RFE2XEMERAR - ELIBERT » A%
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the EMEREEARE EEENEEREES
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights B RRAEEEREAEF R EEEE
and obligations that the Group has retained. FE e
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the S E2XMIET D EEEEEE RS - TR
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying ZEEENRRABENMASENBEZNR
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that BEEEE LR (AR EAE)TE -

the Group could be required to repay.



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are
not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through
the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues to
be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there is
no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If
a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on
a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery
of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination of
what is “significant” or ’prolonged” requires judgment. “Significant”
is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
“prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income statement
— is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the
income statement. Increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the
case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and
interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the
Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the income statement. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the income statement does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

ETRMERE
DR B

RIBBEIFREFERF 39 - SRABED
BRUAABEAELESAABE 2SR
BfE  FEERRER  HREEA—HE
MEHRETE 274 - BIERME ° A&
SEEVIRERRRAESRBEZNE -

TR TR B ER - RAREBERE - 40
REFFEERRER - BIERINEEXEE
ZXPER -

AEEN T A EEEENENR - RS
FARGT BERRAER -

H#E&TE

URARBEAEEEZSHAEHEENS
mMEE

UAnBEFEAEZESHTAEHBENE
BEEEREFERZNSRA B NN THE
REEES/AAABEFELEZEHFTAE
HIRRMERAalE

WBEEZTRAENENANIHEE - Bl
ZEMABERDBRFHERZ M - 1ER|
BRERAKETVNTESR TR (RWAREK
5 A3 30 B 5t 2R R 26 39 55 T SR E
FENEHHTHR) - SFRNKRARTETA
DERFHERZAE  BIFRERIEERE
BREH TR - HEXSRENBENEER
MHER - R KRN BE AL EEE

FRAYNEEZETERBERDNE



mrEEsRAT | —2—ax 101

Notes to Financial Statements

B EEER R M

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria of IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and other
valuation models.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred on disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the
companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland China (the
“PRC group companies”) have participated in a local municipal
government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”), whereby
the PRC group companies are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the salaries of their employees to the Scheme to
fund their retirement benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing contributions under
the Scheme. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the
income statement as incurred.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that
it is intended to compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the income statement
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the income statement by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of revenue

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when all the following criteria are met:

° the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to the purchasers;

o neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the properties is retained;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

The above criteria are met when construction of the relevant
properties has been completed and the Group has obtained the
project completion report issued by the relevant government
authorities, the properties have been delivered to the purchasers,
and the collectibility of related receivables is reasonably assured.
Payments received on properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under current liabilities.

Property leasing income derived from the leasing of the Group’s
properties is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision of
property maintenance and management services is recognised
upon the rendering of the relevant services.

LN

£ BB R BRET HEM XA TRARERX
P& THIIR AR HERR

o  BEVXBEAREMNEANARKDR
BYER

o  UWERE-REFFRABNFEE
I S SRR S OB U IR

o WASEEEAISHE

+t
H
i)
S
e
S
=
3
b

St
o
ant
i
e
Fal
i

o  XRIEELATETELMNKARERE

s

EERAENRETIEE T I RERISHH
B #EELNMETTHRSE  MEIXNT
BERMAREEEN AT RO S I A
REF - A6 LR E - SHEWRFUERE
BENWARRE BRISIAGHEERER
PREBRERT e

KEHEAEEMENEEMERANEE
HAFR 22 B PR LU (R,

RERKMEEEREERGNYEEES
TR R AR A AR TS B R



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of revenue (continued)

Hotel operating income which includes room rental, food and
beverage sales and income from the provision of other ancillary
services is recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into
account the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate
applicable.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, further
details of which are given in note 31 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of
each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the income statement for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24AFEEHBFEE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions DR ABERNIARS (E)
(continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, HNRERAGBNREIRERE TR E
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional MY » BRI IEEGmRES BT 5K
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting IEFBIFENREEER S  BEMEEM
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition FRER/SRISEECER - AT wmmE
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service SIERBIRMERREK - HEWERERS -

conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a W ARRRE S TR BB AR A (SN B PR & -
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been FriE R 8B St 7B = B AN (G (]
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an BEEKF o AN - HEREE BT E -
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total EIEE BB ARG AERHE MR ZHE
fair value of the share-based payment transaction or is otherwise NHBEBFE - YRS & RE T
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. o BIES 2 S E R RS o

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it TaE IR s E A B I 5 5 - IRIRR AR
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet RiEiE B EASRE - R AR BEER TiE
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes RS - HRERNRIER - EBIEEARE
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either BFreeir s M IER B IR s BE REEER
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award B ERIEEARAE - AT - BRTHERERE
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a EFEEMERE - WHNR T BEEE AR K
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and FEASHE - BID AR SR PR ARE SRR AR RE - 15
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original FEWEAR AR R AR A B4 S8 (RO RTER Pl ) o

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional STEERARNR  RITEBIREZ 880
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share. JE » RELEZBINEDEE o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

24 TREABREE ()

(RN

iE  BEEESEREE (AIREXRSE
FrRIZMEA IR TE REEENEE) B
WEEERER  #ENMUEAZEEEDN
HOKRAR - EZZEEER LAERERS
FIHERRILERERNERNE - FRIER
TERK B EE 7 32 B IE fi8 R EY BRI AR & PTRER
WIRERA - BEANMEIERERP R
FiE B fE R AN EE AR ATIERSE ©
BN BEERREABSEENNER
EHMEAR - n—MEAER - RAERGEE
BEREE  HENEERZERNT2%E
8%(20104F : NF5% E7%) FERE AL
used for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation Ko

rate ranging between 2% and 8% (2010: between 5% and 7%) has

been applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, that is, assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds. Where funds have been borrowed generally, and

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified as a
separate allocation within the equity section of the statement of
financial position, until they have been approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEESFIBERIBE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies SN

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside AN T o TR B A kb LA SNER K 32 A BT
Mainland China have Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) and United States BRRDBIAETTRETIEESELRANM
Dollars (“US$”) as their functional currencies, respectively. The o B AMHIEARIZEAMEAEAR
functional currency of Mainland China subsidiaries is the RMB. As Hoo HNANEE T BHEPBE NS - A
the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, the RMB is used REWBEREBENZHREE - REBET
as the presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in the BERYA ETEEMANGERAMVE - m
Group determines its own functional currency and items included KBNS IRIET ARIE B AR A
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that RIEETIER - NEEB R B INERS
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by SFEVNAR 5 BHE B R ERAMEEER A
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective BR o UNSSHERM BB EER B EIRRER
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. REGEERAN BEREFME o FTA Z55T
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies AR  MELRKAUINEAERIEE
are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling EH  URVIXSHREXRBE - If AL E
at the end of the reporting period. All differences are taken to the BT & AN BB HIE R IE B IREE
income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in AHRBEEANERBE - SEFAEIEEK
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using I8 B FrEA R WS sk BB B EAZTE B A
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non- BE2HNBEENREFEZ—H(BSZ R
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are Hip 2 th 2 mW A SKIBRER AR BRER
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value THEWELZ5 - o RREtEmEmUR A
was determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of a non- EESTER) o

monetary item is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences
on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries are B TIER R BIAK S H B A 7] 2 st AR AL S
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, BAREUINNEE o« NFREHR - ZZE
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB YA EEBENIREREERNIEITIER
at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period and BE A ARYE  MERKRESRERNNINEF
their income statements are translated into RMB at the weighted HERBESARE - A EAZER =5
average rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are R E b 2 T Y 28 R R SR J2 AE MBS 4 & 2= A 1k
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the BREGT - REEEINEER - E28/NE
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the AR NERELE R EEN SR E
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular RBAER ©

foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC established companies
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out
on operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgments (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgment. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgment is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Acquisition of assets

The Company assesses whether the acquisition of a
subsidiary constitutes a business combination. A business
consists of inputs and processes applied to those inputs that
have the ability to create outputs. If the subsidiary acquired
does not constitute a business, the Company accounts for the
acquisition as an acquisition of assets.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

described below:
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

@)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December
2011 based on the appraised market value by independent
professional valuers. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimate,
the Group considers information from current prices in an
active market for similar properties and uses assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of
the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the dates of the transactions
that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2011 was RMB2,068,818,000
(2010: RMB1,931,000,000).

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgments and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which such estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

PRC corporate income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland China. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgment based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision of income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will have an
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in
which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgment is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
statement and the provision for LAT in the period in which
such determination is made.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgment is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised deductible temporary differences and tax
losses at 31 December 2011 was RMB107,746,000
(2010: RMB71,737,000). The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 December 2011 was RMB13,628,000 (2010:
RMB29,752,000). Further details are contained in note 19 to
the financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of impairment of trade and other
receivables requires management’s judgment and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in the future is
different from the original estimates, such differences will have
an impact on the carrying value of the receivables and doubtful
debt expenses/write-back of doubtful debt in the period in
which such estimate is changed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vii) Useful lives and impairment of property and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its items
of property and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of items of
property and equipment of similar nature and functions. It
could change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitors’ actions. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously
estimates, or it will write off or write down technically obsolete
assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying value of an item of property and equipment
is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy as
disclosed in the relevant part of this section. The recoverable
amount of an item of property and equipment is calculated as
the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use, the
calculation of which involves the use of estimates.

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the property development segment develops and sells
properties in Mainland China;

(b)  the property rental segment leases investment properties in
Mainland Ching;

(c)  the hotel operations segment owns and operates a hotel; and

3.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d) the others segment comprises, principally, the Group’s
property management services business, which provides
management and security services to residential and
commercial properties.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a
measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss)
before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that interest income, finance costs, dividend income,
fair value gains/(losses) from the Group’s financial instruments as
well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents, equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, an amount due to the ultimate holding company, tax
payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BESPEHE)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Property  Property Hotel
development rental operations Others Total
MERE YEHE EEEE Hith “@st
Year ended HE01E RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
31 December 2011 1231 ALEE ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARWTRE ARMTR
Segment revenue: AEUA
Sales to external customers HHNBRPHE 1,549,984 62,070 57,854 18,791 1,688,699
Intersegment sales DEREEE 22,600 - - 34,489 57,089
1,572,584 62,070 57,854 53,280 1,745,788
Reconciliation: e -
Elimination of intersegment sales N EBEISHE Hi3H (57,089)
Revenue WA 1,688,699
Segment results PBEE 608,932 187,696 (1,948) (78,093) 716,587
Reconciliation: A -
Interest income FIEMA 5,712
Equity-settled share option expense DA B R B AR (35,129)
Fair value losses, net: AREEE F
Equity investments at fair value ROn BE A B
through profit or loss fREERE (1,168)
Gain on disposal of equity HERRABEA
investments at fair value through BRAERRE
profit or loss ol 1,683
Finance costs BB (447)
Profit before tax BRAEAI A 687,238
Segment assets AHEE 10,505,704 2,295,771 308,198 1,342,045 14,541,718
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment receivables SRR (1,697,956)
Corporate and other unallocated assets CEREMRIEEE 805,020
Total assets BEE 13,648,782
Segment liabilities AHEE 5,764,919 54,644 10,038 248,303 6,077,904
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment payables e AN (1,697,956)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilties TEREMAPEAR 4,000,726
Total liabilties BaE ~ 8,380,674
Other segment information: HittpEER
Depreciation ne 7,388 1,319 11,100 773 20,580
Share of profits and losses: bR 97 - - - 97
Jointly-controlled entities HREEHER
Investments in jointly-controlled entities RAREHEBORE 177,482 - - - 177,482
Capital expenditure BEARRY 10,913 3,558 296 36,685 51,452
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4. EEHFBEHR)

Property Property Hotel
development rental  operations Others Total

MERE  WERE  AEEE Hith 5t
Year ended HZE 20104 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
31 December 2010 12A31HIEFE ARETT AR%ETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Segment revenue: DEWA
Sales to external customers HIMNBRPIHE 1,128,055 42,545 58,477 14,794 1,243,871
Intersegment sales D EPFEHE 20,270 - - - 20,270

1,148,325 42,545 58,477 14,794 1,264,141
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment sales D EPSHE 3 (20,270)
Revenue LN 1,243,871
Segment results AIEE 414,499 290,462 (298) (37,840) 666,323
Reconciliation: GIED -
Interest income FEKA 2,000
Equity-settled share option expense DA B R B AR AE R (24,877)
Finance costs BEER (3,469)
Profit before tax BRERAIA]E 640,483
Segment assets AHEE 8,170,098 1,966,343 399,746 1,212,362 11,748,549
Reconciliation: e -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 2 EPFE U R I 1 (1,700,971)
Corporate and other unallocated assets PEREMADEEE 1,091,721
Total assets HEARE 11,139,299
Segment liabilities FHEE 4,142,356 81,976 11,363 287,599 4,523,294
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment payables 2 EPFE IR (1,700,971)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilties CEREMRDEEE 3,502,633
Total liabilities BEE 6,324,956
Other segment information: HitnpHEs
Depreciation e 5,967 299 11,355 414 18,035
Impairment losses recognised RBR R IR 44,966 - - - 44,966

in the income statement REEE

Capital expenditure BARHEY 10,360 2,775 - - 13,135




4,

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

All of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in
Mainland China and all of the non-current assets of the Group are
located in Mainland China.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under the
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents income
from the sale of properties, property leasing income, property
management fee income and hotel operating income during the
year, net of business tax and other sales related taxes and discounts
allowed.

4,
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (CONTINUED)

(48

5. WA < RAEA RIS

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

WA RE M AR DT

2011 2010
—EB——F —=EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Revenue KA
Sale of properties HEMZE 1,644,739 1,203,293
Property leasing income PIETHEWA 67,647 54,237
Property management fee income LIES=SEE= A PN 20,116 15,635
Hotel operating income HEEERIA 61,286 62,009
Less: Business tax and surcharges W R KM NE (105,089) (91,303)
1,688,699 1,243,871
Other income Hipg A
Subsidy income* T N 8,375 =
Interest income FEUA 5,712 2,000
Others HEMIgE 2,920 1,871
17,007 3,871
Gains &
Foreign exchange gain HNEE H gl ES 18,654 -
Gain on disposal of HEREMERE
investment properties 2,660 -
Gain on disposal of equity HERAREBETA
investments at fair value BRI E W
through profit or loss 1,683 -
22,997 -
40,004 3,871

*

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

B B AR TR M (R R = -
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6. FINANCE COSTS 6. M¥BA
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REEHNMBERSITAT
2011 2010
—E——%F —Z-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Interest on bank loans and other loans AR AFRNBEEERN
wholly repayable within five years RITER R EMERAIF S 206,864 56,647
Interest on bank loans and other loans ARRFREHEEN
wholly repayable over five years RITER R EMERAFE 6,015 50,734
Total interest A EARER 212,879 107,281
Less: Interest capitalised in properties B BAEFZE R YERFE
under development (212,432) (103,818)

447 3,463
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRREFE
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): ANEBMBRBATFES MR (GEA) THE
18 :
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiE ARBT T AR®F T
Cost of properties sold B HEMFEAA 848,306 561,787
Depreciation e 13 20,580 18,035
Minimum lease payments BELEHED
under operating leases: &K 2 FIE
— Office premises —HAEHTT 8,018 7,461
Auditors’ remuneration ZHEME 2,406 3,089
Staff costs including SBTIKRA(BIEES
directors’ remuneration (note 8); B ) (FTES) :
— Salaries and other staff costs —TEREEBETIRA 75,254 63,390
— Equity-settled share option expense —RiEEE R EE A 31 35,129 24,877
— Pension scheme contributions* —RIR&FT Bt 6,766 4,441
Foreign exchange differences, net ERZERE  FE 18,654 189
Direct operating expenses ISR EMEEED
(including repairs and maintenance) BEELERY
arising on rental-earning (PREHEERISE)
investment properties 4,441 2,822
Impairment of other receivables HoAth FE W IR E - 44,966
Changes in fair value of WEMEL R BENE
investment properties 14 (160,430) (276,680)
Gain on disposal of HEREE R
investment properties (2,660) -
Gain on disposal of equity investments HERARBET AER
at fair value through profit or loss Kt IR & W (1,683) =
Fair value loss, net: AREEEE  F5
Equity investments at fair value through BARBETT ABZH
profit or loss — held for trading BRiRE —FHIEER 1,168 =




8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

mrEEERAT | —E——4x 125

Notes to Financial Statements

P IE IR R

8. EEM&

BB LT RAIRE S A TS 161 KRS
BE - FREEHEMT -

2011 2010

—E——F T

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETTT

Fees we 324 300
Other emoluments: E Ay -

Salaries, bonuses and allowances E A A AW 9= 4,400 3,900

Pension scheme contributions RIREFT B 33 36

Equity-settled share option expense [i& 8 45 E B AR i B 4,995 4,168

9,428 8,104

9,752 8,404

In 2010 and 2011, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note
31 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which
has been recognised in the income statement over the vesting
period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is included in
the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

MR2010F & 2011 F + HETESHEZERS
RAE B MR AN A R RB IR T 21 &R R
Mt - BEAE—HBEHRMBRRN
31 ZEEBREN AR BEDREEHR
BRERAER - WHRE BEETE - Mt A
RNEEFHRENSERIEE LNESHH
B FE A o
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

(@) Independent non-executive directors

8. EFM& (&)

() BAFBITES

Equity-settled
share option
Fees expense Total
DREEEN
we R ERX et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARETR
2011 2011 £
Independent non-executive directors B I TEE
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BREXE 116 225 341
Mr. Wang Shuguang FREN LA 58 225 283
Mr. Loke Yu BRI A 150 225 375
Total independent BN IERITES
non-executive directors FEE 324 675 999
2010 20104
Independent non-executive directors BV FEHTTEE
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BREkE 100 187 287
Mr. Wang Shuguang FRESGE 50 187 237
Mr. Loke Yu e RS 150 187 337
Total independent BN IEHITESE
non-executive directors RET 300 561 861

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year.

FAREREMBIFRTES
HAME -
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFEM& (W]
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors (b) HITE=E
Pension Equity-settled
Salaries and scheme share option
Fees allowances Bonuses contributions expense Total
Bfhe HREEEN
e HEREW A A BRERX &3t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR

2011 20115

Executive directors HITEE

Mr. Shi Zhongan ks - 1,800 450 10 1,767 4,027
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REHLE - 560 140 10 826 1,536
Mr. Lou Yifei B-REE - 560 140 3 826 1,529
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan BT L - 600 150 10 901 1,661
Total executive directors RTESEE - 3,520 880 33 4,320 8,753
2010 20104

Executive directors niEE

Mr. Shi Zhongan AP REE - 1,520 380 9 1,493 3,402
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REHLE - 520 130 9 684 1,343
Mr. Lou Yfei B-RiE - 520 130 9 684 1,343
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan NEBET = 560 140 9 746 1,455
Total executive directors BOESE - 3,120 780 36 3,607 7,543
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FEAEESRE R ERE( (A

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. B ED 22 HE o
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AvmEFAL

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2010:
four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2010: one)

FARRRSHFALTABEDSE (20104F :
ME)EE - HMSFBEERN LXK
8 FRMT—H (20105 - —R)IFEFEH

non-director, highest paid employee for the year are as follows: S ATHMEFBLOT ¢
2011 2010
—E——F ZE-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e B4 KRR, 833 721
Equity-settled share option expense feresE E B EE A 600 498
Pension scheme contributions RINEFT B 10 10
1,443 1,229

The number of non-director, highest paid employee whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

FMNRA TGN EEEREMES A
g ¢

Number of employees

EEAR
2011 2010
S —z-z
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 AR# 1,000,001 TTE
AEHE 1,500,000 7T 1 1

In 2010 and 2011, share options were granted to the non-director,
highest paid employee in respect of his services to the Group, further
details of which are included in the disclosures in note 31 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-
director, highest paid employee’s remuneration disclosures.

MR 2010F & 2011 4F + —HIEEEH=H o
EEREARBRAEEMERERE - 54
HE— B EHR RN ESIHEEA -
ZEBREN AR BERKEBHNBER
HERIWHR L AEIEE - Mt ARNFET
HEMSRBYBEEE L EERSFOE
BREREA



10. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.
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10. FRig#R

BN AEENAFERE L BN B BELERR
FE - BEEL B NISH R -

PRSI E A S BEET R B R FN
JiE 3275 K3 25% (2010 4F : 25% ) HY3E FA B
SRR R AEH B o

R Bl i IR (B R s T IR E R HE Y
PSSR A HRF 2 (B I L3R ~ 18
ERAREMYEFRERS) BN 30%E
BO%EEER XU - REBERETEA
MBEERER - et (EH REBIBAE
ATHIEETER - EARSERGEE L
EEHEEZA - LHIEER A EERBR
BRBREERE -

2011 2010
—E2——F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Current — PRC corporate income BVEAR I8—EF
tax for the year EEFTEH 144,455 127,632
Current — PRC LAT BN EAR IE—F A
for the year T HBIE(ER 150,775 49,981
Deferred (note 19) RIERIE (Mi5E19) 13,441 49,610
Total tax charge for the year FRFIBLRTE 308,671 227,223




130 Zhong An Real Estate Limited | 2011 Annual Report

Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate for the country in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

10. Fr 318 (#8)

RIBAR R REAZ B AR AERZRT
RTE R AT E R TR A B A R R s AR
BRERRRGFENORIRRHRNT

2011 2010
—2——-F —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Profit before tax R 75 Al AR 687,238 640,483
Tax at the statutory % 25% (2010 4F : 25%)
tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) EEB R E R IA 171,809 160,121
Expenses not deductible for tax A 0F > 8,275 15,454
Effect of withholding tax at 10% HEAN S [ B B8 A B AT it
on the distributable profits of 7K AER AN 10% TEFFR
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries R & 12,098 9,105
Tax losses not recognised FARRERTIBEE 3,407 5,057
Provision for LAT IR ER Y B 150,775 49,981
Tax effect on LAT THIEET BB E (37,693) (12,499)
Tax charge at the Group’s REEEREB RN IEFZ
effective rate 308,671 227,223
Tax payable in the consolidated statement A& GFEATSAR LR KO FES 7L
of financial position represents: T84 :
PRC corporate income tax R ZERTIS R 139,018 80,168
PRC LAT AR+ R E R 369,864 261,450
508,882 341,618
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11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1. BARER AEETE
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the HE2011F12 A1 BILFEFARES A
year ended 31 December 2011 includes a loss of RMB49,225,000 FE(EE OF R B B EE A R#49,225,0007T
(2010: a loss of RMB39,888,000) which has been dealt with in the (20104 : BB A R ¥ 39,888,000 7T ) B
financial statements of the Company (note 32(e)). AR RIM I RF BRI (MIFE32(e)) ©
12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. BAFEBERRERIREA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FE{miEE T
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit SRERNABFERERT AT @A E
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent BEAH AEGERNFNEARE351,391,000
of RMB351,391,000 (2010: RMB379,759,000) and the weighted (20104 : A K #379,759,0007T ) °
average number of ordinary shares of 2,367,974,529 (2010: AR B R B 3% 1T X 8 IR RO hn A S 1 &
2,331,206,400) in issue during the year. 2,367,974,529 % (2010 4F : 2,331,206,400
BR)ETHE -
No diluted earnings per share has been taken into consideration, BN B & B RS mE AR AR - &
since the date of share options granted to the end of the reporting FRR A 5 (B (K P B AR O & B 1T
period, as the average quoted market price of ordinary shares is B8 - M ESY|GREERT)

lower than the adjusted exercise price of the share options.
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13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 13. BER &R
Group FEH
Office Motor
Properties Machinery equipment vehicles Total
L/ B BAERE "E @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETn AR®Trn AR%Tx AR%¥Txn
31 December 2011 20115128311
At 31 December 2010 and 2010F 12 A31B R
at 1 January 2011: 2011F1R1H :
Cost RAE 200,404 969 26,884 29,865 258,122
Accumulated depreciation 25TE (31,144) (519) (14,542) (16,207) (62,412)
Net carrying amount REFE 169,260 450 12,342 13,658 195,710
At 1 January 2011, net of 20111 A1H
accumulated depreciation MR REATE 169,260 450 12,342 13,658 195,710
Additions Zm 40,367 39 1,849 9,197 51,452
Disposals HE - - (29) - (29)
Depreciation provided FRITE
during the year (11,116) 27) (4,923) 4514  (20,580)
At 31 December 2011, net of 20114128318
accumulated depreciation Mk 2T E 198,511 462 9,239 18,341 226,553
At 31 December 2011: 2011 %12 A318 :
Cost RAE 240,771 1,008 28,599 38,582 308,960
Accumulated depreciation 25TIE (42,260) (546) (19,360) (20,241) (82,407)

Net carrying amount REFEE 198,511 462 9,239 18,341 226,553
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13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 13. BER &R (18)
(CONTINUED)
Group (continued) REE (&)
Office Motor
Properties Machinery ~ equipment vehicles Total
S wm  BRAERE A et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®ETT ARETT ARETR
31 December 2010 2010128318 :
At 31 December 2009 and 200912 A31B R
at 1 January 2010: 2010F1A18 :
Cost A 188,385 1,422 23,365 23,032 236,204
Accumulated depreciation RitiE (21,581) (744) (10,397) (12,670) (45,392)
Net carrying amount FEFE 166,804 678 12,968 10,362 190,812
At 1 January 2010, net of 20101 R18 -
accumulated depreciation MG EFHE 166,804 678 12,968 10,362 190,812
Additions 20 1,371 3 4,773 6,988 13,135
Disposals & - (116) (728) €) 852)
Depreciation provided FRIE
during the year (9,563) (117) (4,671) (3,684) (18,035)
Transferred from properties BB ERPYE
under development (note 15) (HizE15) 10,648 2 - 10,650
At 31 December 2010, net of 2010%12R318
accumulated depreciation MR 25t E 169,260 450 12,342 13,658 195,710
At 31 December 2010: 2010F12A318 :
Cost AR 200,404 969 26,884 29,865 258,122
Accumulated depreciation 25ME (31,144) (519) (14,542) (16,207) (62,412)
Net carrying amount FEFE 169,260 450 12,342 13,658 195,710
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13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 13. BER &R (18)
(CONTINUED)
Company RAFE
Office Motor
equipment vehicles Total
WAE
B RE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT AR®TT
31 December 2011 201112831 H
At 31 December 2010 and 201012 A31 B X
at 1 January 2011: 20111 HA18 :
Cost BAE 479 442 921
Accumulated depreciation RETITE (135) (226) (361)
Net carrying amount BREVFE 344 216 560
At 1 January 2011, net of 20111 /818 -
accumulated depreciation MR EFHITE 344 216 560
Additions 0 3 - 3
Depreciation provided FRITE
during the year (132) (61) (193)
At 31 December 2011, net of 2011412 A318 -
accumulated depreciation MR REHHTE 215 155 370
At 31 December 2011: 2011412 A31 8 :
Cost BXANE 482 442 924
Accumulated depreciation REITE (267) (287) (554)

Net carrying amount BREFE 215 155 370




13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
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13. BE R ek fm (#8)

Company (continued) ARATF (&)
Office Motor
equipment vehicles Total
WAE
B E FEH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT
31 December 2010 201012831 H
At 31 December 2009 and 2009412 A31 B &
at 1 January 2010: 20101 A1H
Cost BANME 289 442 731
Accumulated depreciation i (36) (177) (213)
Net carrying amount BREVFE 253 265 518
At 1 January 2010, net of 20101 A18 -
accumulated depreciation MR 2FHITE 253 265 518
Additions 0 190 - 190
Depreciation provided FRITE
during the year (99) (49) (148)
At 31 December 2010, net of 2010% 12 A31H -
accumulated depreciation MR EHTE 344 216 560
At 31 December 2010: 2010412 A31 8 :
Cost BRANE 479 442 921
Accumulated depreciation E i = (135) (226) (361)
Net carrying amount IRENFE 344 216 560

At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s property and
equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB146,617,000 (2010: RMB150,542,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group as disclosed in note 29(iii).

201112 31 H » NEEE THWERE
BIRAEFEH AR 146,617,000 7T (2010
£ ARBE150,542,0007T) + AAHEE 29(iii)
FisE - EERRTASE BRITERK
H A FRAIIEIR o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. B EME

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KiaE ARETT ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1 BEREE 1,931,000 1,608,800
Additions N 2,170 -
Transfer from completed properties ~ EEE 2 5k HE Y%
held for sale - 45,520
Disposal HE (24,782) -
Net gain from fair value adjustments A F EEFEE W F58 160,430 276,680
2,068,818 1,931,000
Current assets mENEE @ 73,218 =
Non-current assets FEMENEEE 1,995,600 1,931,000
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 HEREE 2,068,818 1,931,000
(@ Al investment properties of the Group were revalued at the @ AKEEHREVMEREEABRERA
end of the year by an independent professionally qualified BB IEXEERMGERMEHEE
valuer, CB Richard Ellis Limited, at fair value. CB Richard TERARRARBESEM - 2R
Ellis Limited is an industry specialist in investment property BABR AR EFAEREEMLE
valuation. The fair value represents the amount at which the HITEER - AR BEREEERIRM
assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable and BEEBERRERAEHE R HRERE
willing buyer and a seller in an arm’s length transaction at BEEZESATRGRBEENS
the date of valuation, in accordance with the International B o
Valuation Standards.
(o)  The Group’s investment properties are all situated in Mainland () AEEREMZESMAF IR RIE

China and are held under the following lease terms:

RIS

2011 2010

—E——f —Z-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Leases of between 10 and 50 years FEEJ10F 2= 50 & 2,068,818 1,931,000
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14. LB M* (#])

(CONTINUED)
Investment properties leased out under operating leases ) BEKLEHECHEMREME
The Group leases out investment properties under operating AREERBELEHERHIREYE -
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to FTEHEAS—Z1+HF  WrlEE
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the REIE BB EEHER 2 &R T &
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated. SIHHE - REBREBETAEUEK ST
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under EREEMEMSH BRRERER
non-cancellable operating leases generated from investment THAAZEANT ¢
properties are as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Within one year —FR 78,749 53,486
In the second to fifth years, F_FERF
inclusive (BEMEREEN) 143,761 133,418
After five years hFE 30,631 29,569
253,141 216,473
At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s investment @ H2011F12A31H R & M =
properties with a carrying amount of RMB1,835,806,000 20() T % - AEBREEAARE
(2010: RMB1,645,300,000) were pledged to secure interest- 1,835,806,000 70 (20104 : A R ¥
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as 1,645,300,0007T) K& TIREWHE
disclosed in note 29(). EAREERESET ERITIER R EHADE
AP -
In December 2011, the Group entered into certain sales and € HR2011F12AAREE LA TEEW

purchases agreements to sell certain investment properties
with carrying amount of RMB73,218,000. The Group had
received deposits of approximately RMB21,760,000, as
the transfer of the property title was still under progress,
the amount received was recognised as advances from
customers as at 31 December 2011.

& HERMEER AR 73,218,000
TTHE TIREWE - REEE WK
AER¥ 21,760,000 THIRE © AR
EFARNERFENIETER - i
Fri R B ;R IB RE R R 7 2011 S5 12 A
31 BB FHR -

—z—x5% 137
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15. PROPERTIES UNDER 15. &P ME
DEVELOPMENT
2011 2010
—B——F —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1 BREE 4,111,788 1,950,922
Additions E 4,708,224 3,526,657
Transfer to property and equipment SRR R A (F9FE13)
(note 13) - (10,650)
Transfer to completed EREERNENEYE
properties held for sale (1,189,148) (1,355,141)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 HEREE 7,630,864 4,111,788
Current assets mENEE 4,695,260 2,981,185
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,935,604 1,130,603
7,630,864 4,111,788

The Group’s properties under development are located in Mainland
China.

The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated
on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows:

AEERZERMEIURPEAM o

AREBENFREHYE(LRPBEABNEE
Tib) RORREIELNT :

2011 2010

—E——-F —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETT

Leases of over 50 years FHHARR A 50 F 5,697,744 2,711,428
Leases of between 20 and 50 years FHHA20 F = 504F 1,933,120 1,400,360
7,630,864 4,111,788

At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s properties under
development with a carrying amount of RMB3,214,543,000 (2010:
RMB2,684,405,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note
29(ii).

72011812 B31 B + B ¥R H 5% 29(ii) AT #
= ASEEEEAARS,214,543,000
JL(20104F + AR¥E2,684,405,0007T) K95
TR VXD EREERST BRITER
R E A EFRAHEIR o
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16. GOODWILL 16. &
RMB’000
AR¥TT
At 31 December 2010 and 2011: 20104 [ 201112 A31 H :
Cost %N 63,928
Accumulated impairment Z250RE (63,928)
Net carrying amount BRIE3 58 -
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of 2011 4F1 A1 BRI -
accumulated impairment Hkr 2FHRE -
Impairment during the year FARE -
At 31 December 2011 R2011E12 531 H -
17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 17. A HERE
INVESTMENTS
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBF T
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FEEMRAKRE  REAE 5,610 3,300
At 31 December 2011, unlisted equity investments with a carrying M2011F12A31H R EE AR ¥
amount of RMB5,610,000 (2010: RMB3,300,000) were stated at 5,610,0007C (20104 : A R ¥ 3,300,000
cost less impairment. The Directors are of the opinion that the fair T ) B9 IE_E T RR AN B TR AN E I BR R E
value of such investments cannot be measured reliably and the BIER - EERRRZERENLABETEE
underlying fair values of investments were not less than the carrying A ERZEREN AR BETIIREZSE

values of the investments as at 31 December 2011. FER2011F 12 A 31 HILHEREE -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY- 18. REFEHERKRE
CONTROLLED ENTITIES
2011 2010
—B——F eSS
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETFT
Share of net assets PIREEFE 9,703 =
Loans to jointly-controlled entities RETHEIZEGIEEHER 167,779 =
177,482 -
The loans to the jointly-controlled entities are unsecured, interest- R THEZEHEENERDEERR - 28
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. AR B FE(EAR T o
Particulars of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows: HENEFIEBHNFFBOT
Percentage of
Particulars [Epis
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
REBRT
=L BRABFE i it 2 RERESE RBREE BASME TEEY
Jiangsu Xiezhong Investment Registered PRC 44.1% 49% 49% Investment
Co., Ltd. capital of holding
TEHBRIREFRAR RMB20,000,000
AR AR H REER
AR 20,000,0007T
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Registered PRC 44.1% 49% 49% Property
Co., Ltd. capital of development
T#sEE *ARAR RMB20,000,000
e H MR

A% 20,000,000 7T
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY-

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

(CONTINUED)

The investments in jointly-controlled entities are held through
a subsidiary which is 90% of equity interest attributable to the

Company.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of

the Group’s jointly-controlled entities:

%)

~

il

BREFEZEFNEREHKRE

RARZEHERHREBBARF—HE2E
MBARFA - AIARRRERIEN0%

TREHIASEHRZES BN B AR

= -

2011 2010
—ET——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Share of the jointly-controlled DiHERZEHEENEERARE
entities’ assets and liabilities:
Current assets MENEE 8 =
Non-current assets JEmENEE 9,807 =
Current liabilities mENaE (112) -
Net assets BEFE 9,703 -
Share of the jointly-controlled DML EIEH B ISR 24
entities’ results:
Total expenses 4858 (97) -
Loss after tax bRl EstE (97) =
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 19. BEERARTERAR
LIABILITIES
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: BEFIEEERBELER BB ELHIT ¢
Deferred tax assets BEEREEE
Losses available
Impairment of Unrealised  for offsetting
other intragroup  against future
receivables profit or loss  taxable profits Total
AL 8
Hit IR AEEEE ARERB
HEFE MEE FBHERE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2010 20101 A1H 4,500 4,004 25,900 34,404
Deferred tax credited to the income FRRERFERL
statement during the year EERE 11,242 5,271 20,820 37,333
At 31 December 2010 and 2010F12A31B R
1 January 2011 20111818 15,742 9,275 46,720 71,737
Deferred tax credited to the FRRERFERE
income statement during the year EIERIE - 294 35,715 36,009
At 31 December 2011 201112 A 31 H 15,742 9,569 82,435 107,746
In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could BIEPBEEROENR - SR ERAE5F
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable PAKSHE B8R ERTEAE - BRI ARENA
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are MBEENELERIBEE - AT BEEH
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable MIBEENFEZ SRS IHE ERSE AR
profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised. HERER o
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB1,963,000 REBRBBEE AR 1,9630007T
(2010: loss of RMB1,947,000) that are available indefinitely for (20104 : AFR#¥1,947,0007T ) H 5L 1B /&
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which 18 - AR HE EIREERN AT Bg a0 E
the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland AR A o AR ER AR B A IR E £ AR
China of RMB41,417,000 (2010: RMB27,805,000) that will expire in 41,417,000 7C(20104 : AR 27,805,000
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred TC)BBIEEE - SR —ERFREE - A
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as A BRERTFNE - ARZENBAF
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some EESEE—EBRHE - BRAWER AR
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be REDRA R iE R ERR R AIDE - BT ERL

available against which the tax losses can be utilised. ZEBIERRELERIBEE °
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 19. BEERARER AR (&)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHRIEBEERE
Fair value
adjustment Fair value
arising from adjustment of
acquisition investment  Withholding
of a subsidiary properties tax Others* Total
i — R
i) PG REM=
EEWAR  DAME
EESE L B st it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR%TR AR®T AR%TR AR%T R
At 1 January 2010 20101 A1H (3,565) (277,557) (9,985) (8,967) (300,074)
Realised during the year FREER - - 7,183 - 7,183
Deferred tax credited/(charged) tothe ~ ERNERKER
income statement during the year ($0k%) BOIETERR I8 752 (69,170) (9,105) (16,603) (94,126)
At 31 December 2010 2010F12A31B R
and 1 January 2011 20111 A1H (2,813) (346,727) (11,907) (25,570) (387,017)

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the ~ FRREZFRER/

income statement during the year (1) MIRSERE 856 (35,078) (12,098) (3,130) (49,450)
At 31 December 2011 2011412 831 A (1957  (381,805) (24,005) (28700)  (436,467)
Others mainly include temporary differences regarding capitalised finance * HithF ZEFEEENCIEERERNE R

costs. R o
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

20

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

19.

EERMATER AR IR)

EEB IR & ()

BREBEFECEMSEHE(HECEMER
ED  RINE R EESIRRERFE
RIHIER LR INE 1b 5 2 AR BB 10% TE 40
i o BREAMTEE 200841 A1 BfBAER » I
AR 2007 F£12 A31 RgFEEZ BF -
fir R B A b BRSO NBR 45 & T R AR R 2 T
EABBERIEBEENB R -
EEZERLEREB10% © Eit - NEBEH
Z BT B AR S 2 B A B3t 2008 4 1
A1 BREEZ B Ik &SRB
i o

o

ARB DA E TBIR M E RIS R
ES

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. R B A TR E
Company ¥ NS

2011 2010
S =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMD - BANME 100 100
Loan to subsidiaries THEBARINER 932,081 979,187
932,181 979,287

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in
the Company’s current assets and current liabilities of
RMB1,881,264,000 (2010: RMB1,966,248,000) and
RMB119,388,000 (2010: RMB116,802,000), respectively, are
unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand or within one
year.

The amounts advanced to the subsidiaries included in the
investments in subsidiaries above are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the Directors,
these advances are considered as quasi-equity loans to the
subsidiaries.

BERARATBDEER R ARG
WEREENKHBARARZED R A
AR #1,881,264,000 7T (20104 : AR
1,966,248,0007T) & A R # 119,388,000 7T
(20104 : AR¥116,802,0007T) @ AEE
- B NMANERES —FEREE -

HREARHBA TR AR BT HEAT
R BB - 8 RERTERE - ¥
E25 - REBRTRARTHBLRNE
AR -



(CONTINUED)

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

REEEBRAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B EEER R M

20. B 2R T (1)

MBARHFHEAT -

Percentage of equity interest

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12831 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEBER 20116128310
ARER EL LAV AL HMEANEE %%  -%-%F EERH
|deal World Investments British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 6 November 2003 holding
HBERRES 13ET REER
200311 A6H
Qirui Enterprise Management PRC US$29,800,000 100% 100% Investment
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. @ 21 November 2005 holding
HEin X EE (M) BRARO H 29,800,000 % 7T RERR
2005F 11 A21H
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. © PRC RMB100,000,000 90% 90% Property
26 December 1997 development
and leasing
REEBARAFC HE AR 100,000,000 7T ke
1997 F12 A26 H REE
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate PRC US$5,000,000 100% 95% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 9 August 2001 development
ZERTEHEREARRFC I 5,000,000 7T EES
20018 A9H
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate PRC RMB57,000,000 84.2% 84.2% Property
Co., Ltd. 17 January 2003 development
ZHRREXARAR I AR 57,000,0007C MERE
20031 H17H
Hangzhou White Horse Property PRC RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. © 27 June 2002 development
mMASEHEREERAR H AR 50,000,0007C EL e

2002 6 A 27 H
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

20. B 2R E (1)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARIMFEBIT : (&)

Percentage of equity interest

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12 A31 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERERD Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEBHR 20115127311
AR EL LAV AL HMEANEE %%  -%-%F EEB
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate PRC RMB50,000,000 92.6% 92.6% Property
Co., Ltd. ©@ 7 March 2003 development
MMZHAEERRARC H AR 50,000,00075 EIES
2003F3A7H
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC RMB10,000,000 87.1% 87.1% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 19 January 2004 leasing
PERZEHEREERARY H AR10,000,0007C MEBE
200441 H19H
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC RMB2,000,000 81% 81% Property
Development Xiaoshan 3 April 1997 leasing
Co., Ltd. @
MIRZFE L H AR 2,000,00075 WEHRE
REBRRA 19974 A 3R
Zhejiang Zhong An PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Property
Property Co., Ltd. @ 18 November 1998 service
MIREYE ] AR 10,000,0007T ES b
REERAR Y 19984 11 A 18 H
Hangzhou Zhong An PRC RMB2,000,000 89.4% 89.4% Property
Highlong Commercial 20 September 2005 management
Buildings Co., Ltd.#)
MNRLEBERERRRR H AR 2,000,0007C MEER
200549 H20H
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Property PRC RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Property
Management Co., Ltd.? 18 November 1998 management
MNBLRENEER i AR#10,000,00075 MERERE
BRAR 1998 11 A 18R
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

20. B 2R T (1)

MBARMFELT : (&)

Percentage of equity interest

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12831 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEBER 20116128310
ARER G AVEEE: BRMEAWEE —F--% -2-%F EERH
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC US$79,800,000 100% 100% Property
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. @ 4 December 2006 development
BAEEEEFMN)BRARO & 79,800,000 7T EES
200612 A4H
Huijun (International) Holdings Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% 100% Investment
Limited 4 March 2005 holding
JEEE (BIR) EIRAR DA @ 30 100,000 7T RERR
200543 H4H
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate PRC US$77,600,000 99.7% 99.7% Property
Co., L td. @ 1 April 2005 development
MLEREXBRARC H 77,600,000 T MERE
20054 H1H
Hangzhou Huijun Information PRC US$59,700,000 100% 100% Consultation
Technology Co., Ltd.® 5 December 2007 management
MMNERESBMARAR i 59,700,000 370 BHAEE
200712 50
Hangzhou Junjie Investment PRC US$29,990,000 100% 100% Investment
Co., Ltd. 4 December 2007 management
MMEAREERERAF O H 29,990,000 7T REEHE
2007 F12 A48
Hangzhou White Horse Property PRC RMB1,000,000 N/A 99.7% Property
Management Co.,Ltd. ©@© 17 December 2007 management
MBS TR R H AR 1,000,0007C FER WERER
BRAR GO 2007 F12 A178
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

MIBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity interest

20. B 2R E (1)

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12 A31 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERERD Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEMER 2011512A31H
NRERB AL, FR L B H AMEANEE —B—-F —E-FF TEXH
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong'an PRC RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Hotel
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. @ 28 May 2007 management
MR RZEREEE I AR 10,000,0007T BEER
ARRA 200745728 H
China Bright Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 13 November 2007 holding
EBGERES 1%L REER
200711 A13H
Esteem High Enterprises British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 13 November 2007 holding
ERGERES e REER
2007411 A13H
Everplus Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 13 November 2007 holding
ERERES e REER
2007411 A13H
Gain Large Enterprises British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 13 November 2007 holding
HBERRS i REER
200711 A13H
Plenty Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 13 November 2007 holding
EBGERES 1%L REZRR

2007411 A13H



20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

REEEBRAR
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B EEER R M

20. B 2R T (1)

Percentage of equity interest

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12831 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEBER 20116128310
ARER G AVEEE: BRMEAWEE —F--% -2-%F EERH
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Construction
Design Limited © 26 February 2008 design
EREYRERARARC 5 1787 BERs
20082 A 26H
Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Property
Limited 26 February 2008 development
ERERMERRAR® B 187 EGE
20082 H26 H
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate  PRC RMB20,000,000 94.5% 94.5% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 16 March 2006 development
MMNEIFMEREERARY H AR 20,000,0007C MERE
20063 H16H
Hefei Zhong'an Holiday Inn PRC RMB350,000,000 100% 100% Hotel
Co., L td. © 18 March 2008 management
AERZREEEFRRF H AR 350,000,0007% BEER
20083 A18H
Huijun Construction Materials PRC US$12,000,000 100% 100% Material
Trading (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. 16 July 2008 trading
EREMWEES (M) 3 12,000,000 7T WEE S
ARREO 20087 A16H
Hangzhou Huihong Investment PRC US$49,990,000 100% 100% Investment
Management Co., Ltd. 19 February 2008 management
MNERREERAR R H 49,990,000 7T REER

2008F2 A19H
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

20. B 2R E (1)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARIMFEBIT : (&)

Percentage of equity interest

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12 A31 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERERD Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEBHR 20115127311
ARER EL LAV AL HMEANEE %%  -%-%F EERH
Hangzhou Dehong New PRC US$29,900,000 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Constructions Materials 1 February 2008 construction
Management Co., Ltd. materials
MMNBEF RN AR RO H 29,900,000 % T BEMH EE
2008562 H1H
Hangzhou Zhong’an Image PRC RMB1,000,000 46% 46% Construction
Construction Design Co., Ltd.® 10 December 2009 design
MMNRZEN RS H AR#1,000,0007C R
IRZABRRF 2009612 A 10H
Yuyao Henglong Property PRC US$24,000,000 N/A 100% Property
Co., Ltd. @ 7 September 2009 development
RIKBEEXBR AR CO H 24,000,000% 7T TER EGE
20094 9H7H
Anhui Zhong'an Property PRC RMB1,000,000 90% 90% Property
Management Co., Ltd. @ 24 November 2003 management
ZERTYEERBRAA @ I ARH#1,000,0007T MEER
2003 11 A 24 H
Hangzhou Zhong'an Service PRC RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Investment
Holding Co., Ltd. @ 13 August 2009 holding
MMNRLRBZERAR R H AR 50,000,0007C REZRR
200948 H13H
Hangzhou Dehong Energy PRC USD45,000,000 100% 100% Energy
Development Co., Ltd.© 3 September 2009 development
mMERERRZEERARO H 45,000,000%7T Nk

2009F9 A3 H
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

20. B 2R T (1)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARIMFEBT « (&)

Percentage of equity interest

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12831 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEBER 20116128310
ARER G AVEEE: BRMEAWEE —F--% -2-%F EERH
Zhejiang Anyuan Real PRC RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Real estate
Estate Agent Co., Ltd. @ 30 October 2009 agency
IR EERLRE H AR 10,000,0007T EHERE
ARRA 200910 A 30 A
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture PRC RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Agriculture
Development Co., Ltd. @ 11 June 2009 development
I REXRERRRA I AR10,000,0007C RERE
200946 H11H
Zhejiang Anyuan Housekeeping PRC RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Provision of
Senvice Co., Ltd. @ 30 October 2009 Housekeeping
service
MIZRRRREERAR H AR#10,000,000 7 FHRTS
2009F 10 30 H
Chunan Minfu Property PRC RMB6,000,000 100% 100% Property
Co., Ltd. © 24 October 2003 development
ERREIKBEEEARARC H AK#6,000,00075 EES
2003F 10 A 24 H
Hangzhou Zhong'an Property PRC RMB20,000,000 90% 90% Property
Co., Ltd. @ 1 February 2010 development
MR EXBRAR Y H AR 20,000,0007C MERE
2010562 H1H
Yuyao Zhong'an Property PRC USD15,000,000 93% 100% Property
Co., Ltd. @ 10 December 2010 development
RURLEXERAF i 15,000,000 T MERE

201012 A10H
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

MIBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity interest

20. B 2R E (1)

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12 A31 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERERD Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEMAR 2011128318
NCIECT AL, FR L B H EMERNEE —2—-F —2-EF TEXK
Yuyao Zhong An Property PRC RMB200,000,000 90% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. ¢ 5 March 2010 development
Rk RLEMERE H AR#200,000,0007% EIES
ARRA 20103 A5H
Hangzhou Anyuan Property PRC RMB10,000,000 45.9% 45.9% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 14 September 2010 development
MMEREMERRAR H AKH10,000,000 7T EGE
201069 H 14H
Zhejiang Anyuan Travel Agency PRC RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Travel
Co., Ltd.® 17 August 2010 agency
ML RIRITHBRA R H AR#10,000,0007C TRATHE
201048 H17H
Zhejiang Zhongan Commercial PRC RMB10,000,000 100% N/A Investment
Investment Management 1 August 2011 holding
Co., Ltd. @0
MIRZAERE i AK#10,000,00075 @R REZR
BEEARAF @O 20118 A1H
Zhejiang Zhongan Changhong PRC RMB1,000,000 100% N/A Investment
Investment Management 28 August 2011 holding
Co., Ltd. @@
MMBRRRERE H AE#1,000,0007T TiEr REER
EERRAF OO 201148 A28 H
Zhejiang Jinnong Investment PRC RMB100,000,000 81% N/A Investment
Co., Ltd. @@ 15 March 2011 holding
MISREXRERRAR A0 H AR#100,000,0007% ol REZRKR

201143 A 158
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. *EATIRIRE ()

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

MBARMFELT : (&)

Percentage of equity interest

Place of attributable to the Group as at
operations Nominal value of 31 December
and date of registered 12831 BAEE
incorporation/ capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company establishment 31 December 2011 2011 2010 activities
EEWIR 2011512A31H
ARER EL LAV AL HMEANEE %%  -%-%F EERH
Zhejiang Xingidian Agriculture PRC RMB3,000,000 90% N/A Agriculture
Co., Ltd. @@ 22 June 2011 development
LR RERERRAR H AR 3,000,0007T TNEF RERE
20116 H22H
Hangzhou Fukai Management @©  PRC RMB500,000 89% N/A Property
2 March 2011 management
MMEACEERBERAR @0 H AR500,0007C NER WERER
201143H2H
Zhejiang Zhongan Property PRC RMB20,000,000 90% N/A Property
Development Co., Ltd. @0 4 August 2011 development
WIRZEHERERRAR G0 & ARH 20,000,000 7T TiEr EGE
201148H4H
Yuyao Zhongan Agriculture PRC RMB3,000,000 90% N/A Agriculture
Development Co., Ltd. @© 9 November 2011 development
RKBLREREBRAR @O Y AR 3,000,00075 NEF RERE
201111 A9R
Yuyao Zhongan Time Square PRC RMB2,000,000 90% N/A Property
Commercial Management 6 November 2011 management
Co., Ltd. @@
RURLRRESHER H AR 2,000,0007C NER WERER
ERERAR @O 201111 A6H
Hangzhou Zhong An PRC RMB5,000,000 90% N/A Construction
Construction Design 28 November 2011 design
Co., Ltd. @@
MR RERFABERAR @0 H AR #5,000,0007T TER BERR

2011411 A28H
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20.

21

22.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:
N/A  Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group.
(a) These subsidiaries were established by the Group in 2011.

(b) Types of legal entities:

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

1)

2) Sino-foreign equity joint venture

Q) Limited liability company invested by foreign invested enterprises
(4) Limited liability company

() These subsidiaries were liquidated by the Group in 2011.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20.

21.

RIFELFRIRE (1)

B & -
TER NEBDAREMSL B WS E o
(@) ZEMB R AN 2011 FEHANEBAL -

b) IREEREER :

(1) IEEELE
@  PIREDRE
@ I EREBREMEAT
@  BREERR

©  ZEMEARR 2011 FHAEEEE -

4 B L3 8 B

=
5>
53
Tl
I

Listed equity investments, at market value _EMEAIRE @ IZHE

The above equity investments at 31 December 2011 were classified
as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition, designated by
the Group as financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly lease
receivables on credit. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. All balances of
the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the year were neither
past due nor impaired.

Trade and bills receivables are non-interesting-bearing and
unsecured.

22.

2011 2010
S 3%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T

1,004 -

AR AR ER 2011 F 12 A 31 BH AR
EB SR PTERRE - AEEHESE
BARREEEH LSS A RSN
SREE

FEN 3R 2 R 7k B TR

AEEEREEFIIVMNESERERAEE
MERYWIR - EEH—RA—EA - #AE
ERPMExZERE=(EH - ERE S
RRBERFRO B RS RE IO
18 o

EWE 5 EFRRE AR E REEH -



23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

BREFEARAR | —E——FFR

Notes to Financial Statements

P IE IR R T

23. AR ZeRAEMEU
®IR

Group Company
KEE KA
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F ZT-TF ¥ ZTIFTF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT AREBTR ARETT
Due from other related parties  FEUCEL 4t B 75 k18 8,292 8,292 - =
Advance to suppliers TEf SRR FERS 114,178 58,245 4,977 9
Deposits Ze
— for acquisition of a subsidiary ~ —UWEE—RKIEB A A (@) 210,000 210,000 - -
— others —HAft 33,180 17,212 12,141 1
Tax recoverable AT UG [B] 7 28 124,117 12,005 - =
Other receivables oA e SR IE 116,171 116,732 32 270
605,938 422,486 17,150 280
Impairment BE (62,966) (62,966) - -
542,972 359,520 17,150 280

Pursuant to a share transfer agreement entered into in 2007 between
a subsidiary of the Company, Ideal World Investments Limited, and
Huijun Architectural Design Limited (“Huijun Design”), an independent
third party, regarding the transfer of 100% equity interest of Huijun
(International) Holdings Limited (“Huijun International”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Huijun Design, from Huijun Design to the Group, Huijun
Design assigned to the Group a loan of approximately HK$218,000,000
owed by Huijun International to Huijun Design (the “Huijun shareholder’s
loan”) for a consideration of US$28,800,000. In 2007, the Group was
requested by Huijun Design to make a deposit of RMB210,000,000 as a
guarantee for the payment obligation of the Huijun shareholder’s loan. In
addition, the Group is obligated to pay the consideration to Huijun Design
after completion of the development and sale of properties of Zhejiang
Huijun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Huijun Real Estate”), a subsidiary of Huijun
International established in the PRC, and the completion of liquidation
of Huijun Real Estate or on an earlier date that the Group may choose.
Regardless of when the Group elects or is due to pay the consideration, the
Group’s payment obligation is subject to the return of the RMB210,000,000
deposit paid by the Group. The Directors are of the view that the deposit will
be fully settled in 2012.

Included in the above provision for impairment of other receivables

is a full provision for individually impaired other receivables of

RMB62,966,000 with a carrying amount before provision of
RMB62,966,000 as at 31 December 2011.—

(@)

RIEARAEHE A Ideal World Investments
Limited BI& 7 55 = 5 [E BB SE R T B R A A
(TEEEERRAT 1) R 2007 F R EFEE A AASE
SR PE B (BB ) AR A PR A =] ([ [ESEERE 1)
(PEBLREHHOPHE 2 A) ) B 100% AR ANHEZS T 32
RO EE RS - ERRARAEEEBE
SR BIPR R & FEEL 22T 49 218,000,000/ THY &
A ([EFERRER]) - R{ER 28,800,000
T ° 12007 F + [EEE R AT ERAKBRHHR
& AR 210,000,000 7T * {EARESERRE K
RIREAEEAR o tEHh - REB A TTRMIT
EREXARAA ((EREXE]) (ERERE
R EIRR 7 RO P B 1 A ) IR B S E KT
RERE XN EREIEREEAALEEDN
REAPZARE - THASEBERER
AR RE  AEBNAREEERTA
R¥ 210,000,000 £ BB REME - EF
REARE IR 2012 FEEEE -

it E b W RIER R ER E R ERERE
BB R EL (i FE IR GRIB/E S B 2 B AR
62,966,000 7T ' & 5T 4 & B A AR EE R
2011412 A 31 H A AR 62,966,0007T °
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24. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS 24. REATAF

REBERRBAFAEMNKIERNEE LK
I8 - BRES I AR RER T ERT
development upon obtaining the certificates of land use rights. YE o

The Group’s long term prepayments represent payments for
prepaid leasehold land which will be transferred to properties under

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

. HERASER/MRSER
AND RESTRICTED CASH HR &

Group Company
rEH PN
2011 2010 2011 2010

—EB——-F —T-ITF ZB——F —_T-ITF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT AR®STRT ARETT

Cash and bank balances I MIRT TR 562,751 987,955 6,136 3,046
Time deposits TE BiTF AR 39,344 448,582 16,214 =

602,095 1,436,537 22,350 3,046
Less: Restricted cash A ZRHIERE (189,587)  (428,558) - -
Cash and cash equivalents B MIREEEY 412,508 1,007,979 22,350 3,046

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted
cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place in
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale proceeds
of properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the
related properties. The deposits can only be used for purchases
of construction materials and payments of the construction fees
of the relevant property projects when approval from relevant local
government authorities is obtained. As at 31 December 2011, such
guarantee deposits amounted to approximately RMB166,457,000
(2010: ni).

As at 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s time deposits
of RMB23,130,000 (2010: 16,558,000) were pledged to banks
as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the
Group’s properties.

RITERERRIT A BRE R AFEF R
B BRFEPRFERA—RE=(EARTZNH
ROEAEENEIRRSFRME) - RIED
RV EAE BB KA R © IRITHEBRRT
RHIZR SHEFRAI AT EEOELMNEER
RYFZRIT °

BRI BEAERER - AEERE TYERE
A BIZEHS FTICER 8978 T 78 & BT 1S SR IB 17 HUR
BERITRE - (ERBEYEERNERER
© o BESIEREE BT PR BL R © 1R
B2 BRIE R Y EIE B AR EM B KX
TAREBH - R2011F12H31H » %
ERIZe KA AR 166,457,000 7T (2010
F:m) -

R20M11EF12A31IA A& B AR K
23,130,000 7T (2010 4F : 16,558,000 JT.) AJ
HTERFEREERTRIT  (ERREEY
XBERERIZBEROER -
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2010, certain of the Group’s time deposits of
RMB412,000,000 were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
loans granted to the Group as disclosed in note 29(iv).

2. 5eREaEFRMEZR
HB® (&)

201012 A 31 B » $AAMT &E 29(iv) i
E o ANEE AR 412,000,000 THE T E
HFRE A - LIS AEBERBIR

FaoES

TER °

26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. FE{T 8 ZIR®R
An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the 7N E= B FE N B 5 BR IR 3R A B R 384~ 5k B 2R
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows: HErERBREDTAT -
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT
Within six months 61E AR 1,354,178 475,635
Over six months but within one year iR 6 & A8 1 F R 24,224 8,903
Over one year BE1F 45,006 24,460
1,423,408 508,998
The above balances are unsecured and interest-free and are AR TR o e B R — AR IR R
normally settled based on the progress of construction. R o
Y
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. RfifEfIRIEREFTEHA
Group Company
KEE AN
2011 2010 2011 2010
=2 —_T-IFTF ZB——F —T-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT AR®STR ARETT
Deposits related to construction & BZERIZ S 58,676 47,037 - =
Payables for acquisition of TUEHT B A R FER Y
subsidiaries I (@) 203,533 212,876 - -
Interest expenses accrued e FI SRS 7,510 9,361 - =
Due to a non-controlling FEAS B AR AR R Y
shareholder KIE (b) 328,929 265,629 42 -
Other payables HAb S FRIE 72,083 52,838 580 5173
670,731 587,741 622 5,173
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS  27. X it FE f} 5 18 & F¥ &1 %& F
(CONTINUED)

(@)

The Huijun shareholder’s loan of US$28,800,000 as disclosed in note 23(a),
equivalent to RMB181,466,000 and RMB190,734,000 as at 31 December
2011 and 2010, respectively, was included in the balances. The Directors
are of the view that the loan will be settled in 2012.

On 11 June 2010, the Group acquired a land use right in Hangzhou (the
“Land”) through an open tender auction at a total consideration of RMB834
million. On 5 August 2010, the Group entered into a framework agreement
(the “Agreement”) with Li Xiang International Holding Group Co., Ltd. (“Li
Xiang Group”), an independent third party, in order to develop the Land by a
joint venture to be established by the Group and Li Xiang Group with equity
interests of 51% and 49%, respectively.—

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Group newly established a wholly owned
subsidary, Hangzhou Anyuan Property Development Co., Ltd. (“Anyuan
Property”) in September 2010 with registered capital of RMB10 million and
will transfer 49% equity interest of Anyuan Property to Li Xiang Group with
a total consideration of RMB4.9 million when the Land development are
archived to 25% of total project investment. Prior to the share transfer, Li
Xiang Group is required to contribute 49% of the Land acquisition cost of
RMB408.66 million to the Group by instalment prior to 21 December 2011.

As at 31 December 2011, Li Xiang Group had made instalment payment
of RMB328.93 million and share transfer consideration of RMB4.9 million
to the Group according to the Agreement. Although the share transfer has
not been completed and Li Xiang Group delayed the payment, it is agreed
that Li Xiang Group is deemed as a non-controlling interest shareholder of
Anyuan Property with 49% equity interest, that has related rights, including
voting rights and assume related obligations, when Li Xiang Group makes
the 1st instalment payment. Therefore, the Group regarded Li Xiang Group
as a non-controlling interest shareholder of the Group as at 31 December
2011. The share transfer consideration of RMB4.9 million was recorded
as non-controlling interest and the payment of RMB328.93 million was
recorded in other payable as at 31 December 2011.

28. ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

Advances from customers represent sales proceeds received from

buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties during

these financial years.

(@)

R 7 23(a) 4% 75 Y i B4 R 3R B 5% 28,800,000
% L0 R20114 K2010612H318 &
A48 E R A R #181,466,000 T & A R ¥
190,734,0007C * sTAKHRA - EFRA © %
B 2012 FEE ©

R2010F6 A 118 » AEEAIB R HE
iR B B MRS AL AN &y Lt A (T =
i) BRERARKESI4E T - 12010
F8HGH ' ANEBEFLE=7Li Xiang
International Holding Group Co., Ltd.([Li
Xiang Groupl) 7] iEZR W ([HheE]) © BB
FANSE@EE LI Xiang Group Xz o Bl#EHE
51% K 49% IR & & A RERE LM -

BRI - ARER2010F9 AFKIEE
MEBA RN REBESRAR([ZRE
#E |) - 7 EARS AR 10,000,0007T
S P b 3 R IE BN AR TE B 1R B 25% B R
ZIRFBHIE 49% I #E T Li Xiang Group * #&
HRBR AR 4,900,000 7T © RIRMEEEA -
Li Xiang Group ZE7 2011412 A 21 HATMZA
SE S B KB AN 49% © BIA R
408,660,000 7T °

2011412 A 31 H - Li Xiang Group 1R %
=3 A NS B VR H B BN AR R 6 328,930,000
TR AREE R B AR 4,900,0007T © &E
PSS 5 i R SERK UK BB LA K Li Xiang Grroup (&
BB R Li Xiang Group {EH & A ZRES
Li Xiang Group R EHE AL REHER
49% REIEERERRR - A= HAHBRE
F - BHRIERRE - Ft - R20114F12 A 31
B - ZR&EE48 Li Xiang Group A7 5 E Ky FEE
RRAERSARER o 2011612 A31 B « IiEsEsR
R{BAREE 4,900,000 TTi0 A B FEFERRAERS
i & B 5k A R 328,930,000 JTAlJF T A E AL
FEfTFRIE o

28. ER AR

BEPRNFERANEERNEREM RFEERE
EVFEMUBEE KM IHEPTSFIR °
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 29. FtRMITERBE K MAER
OTHER BORROWINGS
2011 2010
S —z-T5
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Group REE
Current: BNER -
Bank loans — secured IRITER— B IEH 1,006,000 650,500
Other loans — secured Hitnfg sk — B EHF 58,930 300,000
1,064,930 950,500
Non-current: JEBNER -
Bank loans — secured RITER—FHER 1,817,381 1,823,500
Other loans — secured HEER—FIEA 173,070 =
1,990,451 1,823,500
3,055,381 2,774,000
Repayable: AR T EAEERE ¢
Within one year or on demand —F R E K 1,064,930 950,500
Over one year but within two years LR —FELRME 1,003,000 658,000
Over two years but within five years ZRMEEDRESF 802,451 878,000
Over five years AFENE 185,000 287,500
3,055,381 2,774,000
Current liabilities MEEE 1,064,930 950,500
Non-current liabilities JERBAGE 1,990,451 1,823,500
Bank and other borrowings bear interest at fixed rates and floating HRAT B R At £ SRR B TE I ZR A B F =
rates. The Group’s bank and other borrowings bore effective interest B AREBMRITER R EAMETKD 5
at rates ranging from 2.01% to 17.94% per annum (2010: 5.31% to BEBREME201EE17.94E (20104 :
6.91% per annum).— 531EZ6.91E)sE °
The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the AEERFRNAEERDEREDMBEE N
years were denominated in RMB, except for the bank loans AR B E: B R2011F12A31H
of US$78,235,000 (equivalent to RMB 492,951,000) as at 31 /% B178,235,000% (M & M A B &

December 2011, which were denominated in USS$. 492,951,000 70 ) KSR1TEZUAETLEHE ©
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2011, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were

secured by:

)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the Group’s investment properties with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB1,835,806,000 (2010:
RMB1,645,300,000) (note 14);

the Group’s properties under development with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB3,214,543,000 (2010:
RMB2,684,405,000) (note 15);

the Group’s property and equipment with a net carrying
amount of approximately RMB146,617,000 (2010:
RMB150,542,000) (note 13);

the Group’s time deposits of nil (2010: RMB412,000,000)
(note 25); and

the 100% equity interest of a subsidiary of the Group with total
equity of approximately RMB675,560,000 (2010: nil);

At 31 December 2011, the Group’s borrowings of RMB220,930,000
(2010: nil) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan (note 33).

20. it B MITHE R B i 5 5%

(

il

)

MR2011F12 31 B « AEERITEHRE
b fE R DA TS B IB KRS

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

NEBEBAEENDARE
1,835,806,0007C (20104 : A R #
1,645,300,000 7T ) By % & 1 % (B &
14) ;

AEEBEREBRARBEHOARE
3,214,543,000 7T (20104 : A R #&
2,684,405,0007T) # i 25 R 2 (o aE
15) : &

NREBEBEENARE
146,617,000 C (20104F : A R #&
150,542,000 7T ) B9 3 J 5% 45 (B3 =
13) : &

KEEEEARESTIIL(20104F -
412,000,000t ) #) & A 77 7k (B 5%
25) &

ANEE B QA2 IEAAE
ZHBRRNBREABHNEARE
675,560,000 7T (20104F : £&) ©

R2011F12A31H "REB M AR
220,930,000 7C (2010 4F : £ ) ) & 7k i g
T AR (HI3E33) o
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. IR&
Shares % 13
2011 2010
—E2——F —T—ITF
'000 '000
T FIT
Authorised: ATE ¢
4,000,000,000 (2010: 4,000,000,000 % (20104 :
4,000,000,000) ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 f% ) &R% & HK$400,000 HK$400,000
of HK$0.10 each 0.108TH @R 400,000% 7T 400,000 70
Issued and fully paid: EEITRAR :
2,371,695,400 (2010: 2,371,695,400 % (2010 F :
2,331,206,400) ordinary shares 2,331,206,400 %) S E B RMB222,636 RMB219,216
of HK$0.10 each 01078 TR L @A AR¥222636 T AR¥219,2167T
During the year, the movements in share capital were as follows: FR o RAEEIOT

(@)

On 10 March 2011, Whole Good Management Limited
(“Whole Good”) agreed to (i) place, through the placing agent,
on a best effort basis, a maximum of 50,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Placing Shares”)
held by the Whole Good to not less than six placees, who
and (if applicable) whose ultimate beneficial owners are
independent of, and not connected with, the Company and
its connected persons, at a price of HK$1.40 per Placing
Share; and (i) subscribe for such number of new shares of
HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Top-Up Subscription Share”)
equivalent to the number of Placing Shares sold by the Whole
Good under the placing at a price of HK$1.40 per Top-Up
Subscription Share. On 15 March 2011, an aggregate of
50,000,000 Placing Shares had been successfully placed
by a placing agent to the placees at the placing price of
HK$1.40 per Placing Share. On 18 March 2011, Whole
Good had subscribed for an aggregate of 50,000,000 Top-
Up Subscription Shares at a price of HK$1.40 per Top-Up
Subscription Share.

#2011 F3F10H  Whole Good
Management Limited ([Whole
Good]) RIE ()& BEL & RIBIRE S
EERE R Whole Good#EFBH&E
50,000,000 f& A~ A BIR% AN AR EE
O10ﬁ§7EZ CER(TEERD D T
NORNBABA(BAAR RERHS
EATHMERE BT AT R (HE
R EBRE=EAAN)  BEEARER
&R M7 1.40%8 7T« K (i) REZER
Whole Good RIEALE H &2 H A
A AR R GREEO0. 108 T 2 #AR
D HERERD])  HEERER
TR R 1.40787T - R 201143
A15R8 ' BEEREEREREERN
1.4078 JT AV B & (B R Th Al B A Bil &
#22£50,000,000 % B E &5 © 752011
F3H18H * Whole Good E &2 % i
BRERM1.40B THERREBAL
50,000,000 A # /2 FREBAL D ©
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

30. Bz & (¥8)

(o)  During the year, the Company repurchased 9,511,000 of () FRN - ANARIEEEREBEIFTH
its own shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The f% 15 9,511,000 % o 4 A & [l A9 A 19D
purchased shares were cancelled during the year and the 2 F A MARQ R D EITRA
issued capital of the Company was reduced by the par value E1%E EEE T LAER o BRI E
thereof. The premium paid on the purchase of the shares YN EREBERAR MM EEF N
has been charged to the share premium of the Company K o FREERIARQ R IRGD THRE AR
accordingly. The purchase of the Company’s shares during RISERRBEFAE FRERTFES
the year was pursuant to the repurchase mandate granted HEECIIREEMEST - B INARE
by the shareholders to the Directors at the last annual BEREEFERSRET - FEARE
general meeting of the Company, with a view to benefiting SRR RS o
shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net asset value per
share and earnings per share of the Group.

A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to ERZERNT) B BITRANH) it S E)F Ay

the above movements in the Company’s issued share capital is as RTHWE

follows:

Share

Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
BEETROBE BETRAE B et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB ‘000
ARETT ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2010 20101 A1H 1,942,672,000 185,339 2,976,821 3,162,160

Bonus share issue AR EAT 388,534,400 33,877 (33,877) -

At 31 December 2010 201012 A31H

and 1 January 2011 K 201141 A1H 2,331,206,400 219,216 2,942,944 3,162,160
Issue of shares (a) BR1DEE1T () 50,000,000 4,209 54,713 58,922
Repurchase and B& ol K s SERR (D (o)

cancellation of shares (b) (9,511,000) (789) (10,637) (11,426)

2,371,695,400 222,636 2,987,020 3,209,656
Share issue expenses B AR BEA TR = = (1,095) (1,099)
At 31 December 2011 2011412 A31 H 2,371,695,400 222,636 2,985,925 3,208,561




31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the Directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers
of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, and any non-controlling
shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became
effective on 15 May 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the offer date.

The initial maximum number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options granted (excluding options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Group, if any) under the Scheme and
other share option schemes of the Group (if any) must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 15 May 2009,
being the date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Company
by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted under the
Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the Group (if
any) if the grant of such option will result in the maximum number
of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and other share option schemes adopted by the Group
(if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

BREFEARAR | —E——FFR
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BB AR EE

31. BB HERTE

QAR — BT EI([&ETE]) - A
MAAREEZERINEL BB EER2H
HIRESE R EE o ZErEINA B2 RE
BREES(BREBIIINTES) RAEH
HitES « mAEEREERSREAHE
A AEENEF « AARIRBRE - AR
AN B A R R SRR - et &R
200945 A 15 BB - BRIESITREHE(E
7 BREHAEN AR TFEREGHS -

ER R T 8 R AR S B o] H b FE AR A ST 2
(W E) B R 2 SRR (T EREREZ
TEIR AL EH M ERERT S (0F) B 1&
B SR B AR ) AT (R Al T AL 3 K&
B &=ROEE - NMSHBBARAH
200945 A 15 B (BIIRER A AN A Al AR R A
FRE LHEZTE 2 BE) BBITRHL
10% ° AT © B =RHEE ATRARF]
IRERA® _ERARRIELER o thoh - W
A AR S S BRI B AR i s T B R AN [
PLAN R H M B AR R ST 2 (2 ) E R B RTT
B BIFTA AR T T T Al T Al 3 R BETTHY
B=RDEE BBA R R RE EH TR
30% - RIS AIAR R A AR 51 B sl AR & B ER AR
E R E b AEAR AT B (A ) IR H & F R
R o PME( -+ (8 A B A AT AR R S AR [m)
Zat B T EREER2EEBTHRSKRMD
HE - ERRAR AR EARHEE BTG
B 1% o (Rl — 8 BB L R ER A BB AR
REANRRARE_EBUSIRERAVRLE ©
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31. BBERHERTE (48)

(CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee
within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration of HK$1.00.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to five
years and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if
earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Directors,
but may not be less than the highest of:

(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options;

(i)  the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer; and

@iy ~ the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

BIADRAIES TETRABRETERE
SIS (AT R A T HOBBARAE - BB RS
B IEAITE R RRUE o 1AM - IRAEM
+ =@ AR T AR Rl E ERR RSB I
WMITES @ WESOEAHE AR TRE
BRHERB AN A R M B R B 1T D AY
0.1% S EAAE (RIEA A RN B BrAR
{E515)/R:85,000,000/8 7T © BIZEE LA
BAE FEBIRE AL o

BRHBERENENEENASE21 AR
AR AR RE.00BTTEM - AR LB
RZITEHAESETE YN —E2hFZH
BHIR R - EEBRERL R HENER
THEZASEZAE ZEm BB (AREHE
ERE)RIE -

BREZTEERESERE - BAERIA

THRSE

)  ANRBRDRBREZL B BB
Fr 2 Y fE

(i) ARFRMREZEZHAHFA[EZ

EREBR T2 FHRTE R

(i) ARFERRMDAEE -

R B TRAAZEREINBERA
B LEREZRERN -
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31. Bk a8 (48)
(CONTINUED)
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme FEANETEITE T ARETE ZBARENT ¢
during the year:
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—FF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
InREF g BRE TS R
TEE 2R TE(E B
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET T4 EBRET Tn
At 1 January ®W1HA1H 2.58 48,062 3.10 40,000
Granted during the year FRERH 1.85 80,000 - -
Forfeited during the year F 8 2.58 (961) = =
Bonus issue adjustment AR B TR - 2.58 8,062
At 31 December K12 A31H 2.12 127,101 2.58 48,062
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options RS AR M AR TR BB 2 1T B R AT{E
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: HAGAT -
2011 —B——F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRESE TEE> T
’000 per share
T4 =10
80,000 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.8587T 2014F 1 H22B&E 202141 A21H
47,101 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.5887T 20107 HOBH=E2019F7 A8H

127,101
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(CONTINUED)

2010

Number of options

31. iRRRIERH &I (48)

Exercise price*

—E-BF

Exercise period

BREHE THEE> 17145
’000 per share
T4 R
48,062 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.5887T 20107 HOBHZE201947 A8H

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was

approximately RMB73,840,000 (2010: nil). The Group recognised a
share option expense of RMB35,129,000 (2010: RMB24,877,000)
during the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs
to the model used:

* BRENTEEEHRRIARETERT T
ABRARARANEMAEEED o

FAMBRLEREZAABEOBARE
73,840,0007C (20104 : &) - HAAREE
RERNTERIEREE A A K K35,129,0007T
(20104 : AR¥24,877,0007T) °

FRMRE 2 BREERBREZ AABET
RA-AAHREEERLNRH BT A
&t YRt R AT B Z AR R R o T
RED B APTEARE 2 88 -

2011 2010

—E——F —T-TF

Dividend yield (%) A% B 5 2 (%) 0.00 -
Expected volatility (%) TEERR 1 (%) 59.06 -
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4B 2 T 2R (%) 2.30 =
Expected life of options (year) BERGIETERT 2 () 6.50 =
Exercise price (HK$ per share) IEFHTEE (BRET) 1.85 =

The expected life of the options is estimated by averaging the vesting
term and the term from the vesting date to the option expiry date and
is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur.
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

B Z AR F AR TERR 2 PR
BRBIARATREE B A 2 TERIER « FREIK
8 [ R (R AR IR SR W R FRUR AR R B ZE -+ HETT
AERERER -



31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

32

(CONTINUED)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

As none of share options was exercised during the year, these was
no impact on ordinary shares of the Company, share capital or share
premium.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 127,100,776
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 127,100,776
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of RMB10,304,060 and share premium of RMB208,196,000
(before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 120,717,056 share options outstanding under the Scheme,
which represented approximately 5.09% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

RESERVES
Group

(@) Share premium

The share premium of the Company represents the excess of
ordinary shares paid by the shareholders over their nominal
value.

(b)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value of
the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the reorganisation of the Group from 2006 to 2007 for
the purpose of preparation for the listing of the share of
the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor. Prior to the incorporation of the
Company, the contributed surplus represented the aggregate
of the normal values of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
of the Group.

31.

32.
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R HERT 2 (45)

PR IR 2 S B A A A B
ZitER -

BN FEAL EBREETE - R EEARR
BBk  BASRBRMDEEERTE

RBEMKR ARAAIRZTETAE
127,100,776 1 BE AR e M R 1T 6 - 2032 55
MARITEERE 2 BT - AIEARRF
WIRARANEET  HEBUEBEINENT
127,100,776 IR AR &) EBAR R E 4+ AR
10,304,0607T 2 AN K i 17 5 B A R 15
208,196,000 7t (1R EEATEFAAD) °

RELEH SR FERRZ B - NARIRZTE
TH 120,717,056 (7 B AE M ARTT6EE - BE
MR TR % BB 1T 495.09% °

ot i
A

(a) KtrimfE
AARRGHEHEREL A 2 TR
SHBBHEME -

(b) EHRE

REBEE B RIEIRIRH 2006 F 2
2007 F AEB AR RIRNERBHR
Fir 3R =it i 380 AN SR B 1T RO B AR P
WS B A R AR IR AN E [E4A 5 e
RNARFIETEARIRNRAOEER
ER o MARBIEMACLAT - EHR
BHRRANEEH B A RSB ARIE
BEEEE -
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32. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

(c)

(d)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the additional contribution made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the
case of acquisition of an additional non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and
the book value of the non-controlling interest acquired.

Statutory surplus reserve and statutory
reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, the subsidiaries of the Group that are domiciled in
Mainland China are required to allocate 10% of their profit after
tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR”)
until such reserve reaches 50% of their respective registered
capital.—

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory reserve
fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

32. G (#8)

REEE (&)
(c) BARE

(d)

IR TR AR A BRI EB A RIBCR B
MEIMEREE KRB AR
SMNIFFRRR RAE - WRB R AR AT B IF
PR AR R AR RO R

FEEBBRAEREAEERS

BEFREAGERTFREERAFEH
RARAEEFZAAR - ALRA R B A A A
SEHIERRERNERTATIEY
10% (IRIEH B & ERIEE ) Z5E
BHAE  HEZEABESHER
T E AR #I50% o

BEAN - ARETHREEBRRRINE
X BRBABRNEEERBRAE -
REBEBEARINECENE B BEDX
B REMBARSARETEEE
R PrEETE BRI R AR RO E T80
(TLR10%) BEEZELE RS BEE
IR E T A R H) 50%
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32. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 32. f&fE (#8)
Group (continued) REE (E)
(e) Company () &AF
(Accumulated
Share Exchange losses)/ Share
premium fluctuation retained option
account reserve profits reserve Total
ER (RERER)/
R RER KB E REBH  BRERE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT  ARETET AREFT ARETT
At 1 January 2010 20101 A1H 2,976,821 (252,544) 5,546 15,519 2,745,342
Total comprehensive FAZAEERESE
loss for the year - (88,224) (39,888) - (128,112)
Equity-settled share Wi E Rz b
option arrangements — = = 24,877 24,877
Bonus issue ATRREAT (33,877) - - - (33,877)
At 31 December 2010 201012 A31H
and 1 January 2011 %2011%F1A1H 2,942,944 (340,768) (34,342) 40,396 2,608,230
Total comprehensive FAZAEERESE
loss for the year - (125,442 (49,225) - (174,667)
Equity-settled share IRt S R o
option arrangements — = = 35,129 35,129
Transfer of share option REERIEZK
reserve upon the forfeiture o i b
or expiry of share options B GE - - 751 (751) -
Issue of shares B 8AT 54,713 - - - 54,713
Share issue expenses BRETRY (1,095) - - - (1,095)
Repurchase A (10,637) - - - (10,637)
At 31 December 2011 20114128318 2,085,925 (466,210) (82,816) 74774 2,511,673
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in

these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following

material transactions with related parties during the year:

(@)

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
which comprises the remuneration of the Directors disclosed
in note 8.

As disclosed in note 23, the Group had balances due from
related parties at 31 December 2011 and 2010. All the
balances due from related parties were arising from non-trade
activities, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As disclosed in note 29(v), 31 December 2011, the Group’s
borrowings of RMB 220,930,000 were guaranteed by Mr Shi
Kancheng.

33.AMIL RS

BRE HU MR IRE R 5 MR -
AEBERFANEBHIIETT TIEAR

5

(@)

AEEIZERASNEHM(2IEE
EHI) SRMESKEE °

NPT EE 23 FT#E ER © 72011 4 & 2010
F12A318 - AEEREREES
# o FTAEKEER SRR ER S
EEIMEL - HEERR  2ERRE
KEF(EE -

Y FE29(v)FT 1% FE 0 20114
12A31H ' AEEMNBERARE
220,930,000 JT A FERAK ST EFER ©
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34. COMMITMENTS 34. BE%RIR
The Group had the following commitments for property development RNIPEEIR  NEBEHERESTHHE
expenditure at the end of the reporting period: NAEENT :
2011 2010
= e
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Contracted, but not provided for: BRI 4B AR
Properties under development R 2,557,415 2,185,729

35. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 35. &S 8%z
As lessor ERHEA
The Group leases out its investment properties under operating AEFERBCEHERHEIREYSE - HE
lease arrangements, on terms ranging from one to fifteen years and NF—Z=+HF - WABEEREEREESE
with an option for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all FEREHIEH BT HE -

terms will be renegotiated.

At 31 December 2011, the Group had total future minimum lease 2011612 A31 B« AEERERMEEES

receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants FI RN A] s SE A A B A8 T B B 2 A
falling due as follows: B B & EERHESRIEREENT

2011 2010

—E——F —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Within one year —FR 78,749 53,486
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ F-EZFAFE (BEMFEBEEA) 143,761 133,418
After five years hFE 30,631 29,569

253,141 216,473
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35. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 35. ESiHE&IE ()

(CONTINUED)
As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office premises under operating
lease arrangements, negotiated for terms of five years with an option
for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all terms will be
renegotiated.

At 31 December 2011, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

ERAEBA

AEERBEEHERHAREETHARE
W HMKHERASHRE  YAEERE
HIRRESEHER 2 BN TERIHE -

R2011F12 A31 H » NEBIREA A H4
ZASTRE TN T 5 HAR 2N HA R B 18 AR e

follows: THEFIRBRENT
2011 2010
—EB——F —=—EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARET T
Within one year —FR 8,394 7,901
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ F-_EFAF(BEMFRIEEA) 18,146 17,253
After five years RFE 30,331 33,333

56,871 58,487
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. F AR
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARET T
Guarantees given to banks for: BLLATRIE B 48 TERITHOPELR
Mortgage facilities granted REBYEE RER

to purchasers of the IRITIEIBER

Group’s properties 1,238,914 659,460

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group is then entitled to take
over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee
periods commence from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage
loans and end after the execution of individual purchasers’ collateral
agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the financial year
in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted
to purchasers of the Group’s properties. The Directors consider that
in case of default on payments, the net realisable value of the related
properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and therefore
no provision has been made in connection with the guarantees.

AEERETRITAAEEMENHERK L
MIZIBEE HAYER o RIBIERL PG -
B RREEEREFR - AEBARER
ﬁﬂ“ BERERNER MZIBER L EH

REIR - NEBEZBEZWHREYEDN
ai%ﬁ%°$%IW%%%m&ﬁH%T
BERBMEEER BRI LERIBHER
1k e

REBVWBRFE  ~AEEYERAEEF U
ENERER TORBEEMREHNERT
EEEAEREE - EFRR - WHERE
ERHWIER - HEME A ERFER A E
EHTIRBERRER NS REIRK - Bt
W ERZEERIELEE -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

7. M SHEm IR

HEHREemMTANRERROEREERT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2011 Group —E——=F NEEH
Financial assets TREE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total
BXRR AHHE
e R IE SREE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T ARETT
Equity investments at fair value AAREEFE8EE
through profit or loss STAE BB ENRERE - 1,004 1,004
Available-for-sale investments AIHEERE - 5,610 5,610
Trade and bills receivables JEWE 5 BR AN 5 56,750 - 56,750
Financial assets included in FEATENRE - &E
prepayments, deposits K EL A FE UL GRIB A Y
and other receivables SREE 304,677 - 304,677
Restricted cash ZBR IR % 189,587 - 189,587
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 412,508 - 412,508
963,522 6,614 970,136
Financial liabilities cRBeE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBERR AR
TRIEE
RMB’000
AR®TF T
Trade payables BT E SRR 1,423,408
Financial liabilities included in FT A E fth 1 FRIE K
other payables and accruals EErERATHEmEaE 625,442
Interest-bearing bank STESRITERREMER
and other borrowings 3,055,381

5,104,231
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 7. s eamIR
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (8,)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHeRmITANBEHRNEEENT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (#8)
(continued)
2010 Group —E-EF INEEE
Financial assets SREE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total
ERK A&
FEURIE SREE W5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT

Available-for-sale investments AHEERE - 3,300 3,300
Trade receivables FEWE ZERR 16,139 - 16,139
Financial assets included in STATENFE - Bk

prepayments, deposits H th FEBGRIE R #Y

and other receivables TRIBE 289,270 - 289,270
Restricted cash ZRHEE 428,558 - 428,558
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 1,007,979 - 1,007,979

1,741,946 3,300 1,745,246

Financial liabilities A=l

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

bize: § DNz

TRAEE

RMB’000

ARETTT

Trade payables JETE SRR 508,998
Financial liabilities included in AR AR ER IR K

other payables and accruals ErrEATNEmAaE 554,490

Interest-bearing bank FTRIRITER

and other borrowings 2,774,000

3,837,488
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

VUMMM LRMIR

CATEGORY (CONTINUED) &
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHemIARRERRNERRBENT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (&)
(continued)
2011 Company —E——£F P /N
Financial assets SREE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total
BRK A HE
PR RIE SEMEE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARMT T AR¥T T
Equity investments at fair value AR EEZBEEE
through profit or loss FTAE BB AR E - 1,004 1,004
Investments in subsidiaries S IIEENGIE R = 932,181 - 932,181
Financial assets included FTABMARIE - Re
in prepayments, deposits N B Ath FEURGRIE R Y
and other receivables TREE 17,150 - 17,150
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BB A BIFRIAE 1,881,264 - 1,881,264
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREEEY 22,350 - 22,350
2,852,945 1,004 2,853,949
Financial Liabilities SREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R A
==L
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Financial liabilities included in T AE MR FRIB R
other payables and accruals EErERTHNESRAE 622
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT BT A B ZIE 119,388

120,010
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 7. s eamIR
"
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (#8)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHeRmITANBEHRNEEENT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (&)
(continued)
2010 Company —E-EF /N
Financial assets SREE
Loans and
receivables
ER K EW R IE
RMB’000
ARET T
Investments in subsidiaries AT B A T A E 979,287
Financial assets included SFATENRUE - e
in prepayments, deposits N B Ath U GRIE R Y
and other receivables SREE 280
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE ST BB A B F08 1,966,248
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY 3,046
2,948,861
Financial Liabilities -y =R
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
B ERRK AR Y
THAE
RMB’000
ARET T
Financial liabilities included in T AE b FE {5018 &
other payables and accruals EErERATEmAaE 5,173

Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASTHT B A B8 116,802

121,975
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38. ARBERAABERE
HIERARCHY
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the AEEBNARARSHTEMNEAMERALE
Company’s financial instruments are as follows: BT -
Group AEH
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE AREE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—B——F —FT-TF B--—-F —IFET-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR AR+ AR®BTR ARETT
Financial assets SMEE
Cash and cash equivalents R MRS FEEY 412,508 1,007,979 412,508 1,007,979
Restricted Cash ZIREIRE 189,587 428,558 189,587 428,558
Trade and bills receivables EWE SR N EE 56,750 16,139 56,750 16,139
Financial assets included in FTATENRE - &2E
prepayments, deposits K E A FEUERIR
and other receivables PR EREE 304,677 289,270 304,677 289,270
Equity investments at fair value UAREBEGFEAEH
through profit or loss BE)FT AL BERA
R4 & 1,004 - 1,004 =
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 5,610 3,300 5,610 3,300
970,136 1,745,246 970,136 1,745,246
Financial liabilities =R
Trade payables BT E SRR 1,423,408 508,998 1,423,408 508,998
Financial liabilities included in ST AE AL FER SRIA K '
other payables and accruals FTERRHNERAE 625,442 554,490 625,442 554,490
Interest-bearing bank and FTRIRITER R
other borrowings H a5k 3,055,381 2,774,000 3,055,381 2,774,000

5,104,231 3,837,488 5,104,231 3,837,488
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HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the

Company'’s financial instruments are as follows: (continued)

Company
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REBEARFAERMTANERELRAAE

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE AREE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—EB——F =T —E-—5 =ZZTITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR%®ETrT AR®BTR ARETT
Financial assets SREE
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREEEY 22,350 3,046 22,350 3,046
Equity investments at fair value AAREEGFEAE
through profit or loss BHE AL ERN
IRAKE 1,004 - 1,004 -
Financial assets included in STATENFTIE - ZEe
prepayments, deposits and K Eo At EI SR IE
other receivables MErEE 17,150 280 17,150 280
Investments in subsidiaries R E A RERE 932,181 979,287 932,181 979,287
Amounts due from subsidiaries il G ENCIE S 1,881,264 1,966,248 1,881,264 1,966,248
2,853,949 2,948,861 2,853,949 2,948,861
Financial liabilities @A sE
Financial liabilities included in ST AELfth FE A~ /I8 K e
other payables and accruals AFEATHNERERE 622 5,173 622 5,173
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN EPNGIE S 119,388 116,802 119,388 116,802
120,010 121,975 120,010 121,975

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included

THEERBENAABENZIARBRE

at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade
and bills receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, amounts due from/to
subsidiaries and investments in subsidiaries approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

X577 (MIBREFERIHE)ERRZH TH
AR ZEEAR « THITERKRRI AR
HRAMBIE:

mREeREESFEAR - XRHRE &
WESERRER  BNEZERNR  GtAR
MR B REMEUGRETH S E
E  FIARMENFCAREAERTNEE
BE - U ERE A RRERRKBR
BAMRERNEIARE - wEZETARE
IELEES
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments on similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which all inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs)

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2071

38.

N

ARRERDRRERE

L
(#8)

SRRITERRAMERN AR BETER
B TRRBOUSTAAENNE - FERR
RHE TR AN R R KRS RE M

s

= o
=57

AEEEAATRBEERKESRTAZ
DA EE:

N

F—R AABEFEDRERMNIEESXA

BERERTIS T SRR PEERF

EE

F_ RABEEDERYMAZEAAR
EBEABEATEZMBEBARES
A EERRZRER 2 GETES
t

F=R AABEFEDERYEEAR
BEEEAFE Z(EME AREL
FREABEMSHE (TR
BABIER) 2 (AETERH

R2011F 1231 HEZ LA BEFZEAE
E :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ et} H=4 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR%®Tr AR®TR AR®TxR
Equity investments at fair value AAREEFEAEE
through profit or loss BEEAEHES 1,004 - - 1,004

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had no financial instruments
measured at fair value.

R2010F 12 A31 H » AEBWEHEFIZA
AEEFENERTE -



39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. The Directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the
Group’s equity.
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39. M5 IR EE H IR R B E

AEENTHTATEERAS NASEE
Y RRHR MG BRITERREME
K o E%@mﬂlﬂixﬁﬁﬁéﬁ$%@%?§%
KB - AEEHAEMEREERAE -
IR E BEFRENE SRR - BEE
MH=ZEEL -

AEEEHITAMRESNEZRREZNER
B - SNERR - EERBRIIRENE SRR
AEETERERETITEeRIAEER
A& WTRAEZERITRAEEE LG
AR EBERE

(@) A=RER
$%lim§xagﬁéo$ﬁlm

$’§IE’J/¥ PN W\&ﬁﬁﬂg 7%=
7 - ﬂS%@ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬂ%ﬁ,ﬁﬂﬂ
SR EL ) @ g o

THEIMAEARALEDT 58
EBREEENTE  AEEBHA
U T A S R 5 O B (5 L
EERETE) -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

30. BRI EE B MR EE

(48

(CONTINUED)
(a) Interest rate risk (continued) (@) FIRmEB (%)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity
e RRB4 A0 7 RERRE
Om2) i, CR) Om2)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKETIT ARETTT
2011 20114
RMB ARHE 50 (12,812) (9,609)
us$ ETT 50 (993) (745)
RMB AR (50) 12,812 9,609
us$ =T (50) 993 745
2010 20104
RMB AR 50 (10,957) (8,218)
RMB AR (50) 10,957 8,218
(b) Foreign currency risk (b) MR B

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and
all transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for
certain bank balances and bank loans denominated in US$
and HK$.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ and HK$ exchange rate, with all other variables hold
constant, of the Group profit before tax and the Group’s
equity.

AEBNEB2EHEPEAMET
MBEXRZHRBARE - REE A
DEERABUAARKEE  ETH
XL RBTTAHERNRITAESRRRITE
FRERSN o

TRIFARERBAEFIRA £ E
AR BERRYETRATEES
BALBBOBEE WA
BEFRISTE -

BE =
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. MHEABEEHARRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Foreign currency risk (continued) (b) FhEEmELER (%)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency rate before tax in equity
IEER R A2 F Em
#mCRd) B, Ofd) #hn, Cr2)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR¥T T
2011 =%
If HK$ weakens against US$ fis BT H KT @A 5 13 10
If HK$ strengthens against US$ /87T i E T HHE (5) (13) (10)
If the RMB weakens i AR H =iz (B
against the US$ 5 (24,121) (18,091)
If the RMB strengthens i AR ETHHE
against the US$ (5) 24121 18,091
2010 —E-TF
If HK$ weakens against US$ fis & LA TR (B 5 18 14
If HK$ strengthens against US$ {87t .2 T HE (5) (18) (14)
If the RMB weakens i AR HETRE
against the US$ 5 526 395
If the RMB strengthens fig ARHE W 2T HHE

against the US$ (5) (526) (395)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. UERREEREERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (c) EERMK

The Group has no concentration of credit risk. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are mainly deposited with overseas
banks and state-owned banks in Mainland China. The
carrying amounts of the other receivables, restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The Group has no other financial assets which carry
significant exposure to credit risk. The Group has arranged
bank financing for certain purchasers of its property units and
has provided guarantees to secure the obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. Detailed disclosures of these
guarantees are made in note 36.

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
loans.

AEEWEEHHEERR - AEEH
WReRREEBYEZERFRETE
HNETT R AP B R B 2 SR TROTE SR ©
AR T AT E 5 R E
EWEIE - ZREIFeRBEE RS
EEVNEAEALASEREL SR
BEMEARENESEERR - ~N5E
WEHMHEER EERRAEMmSRE
E-ANEEBEAREETMEEMNE
RLHRTREVIREERAREE
XREREMT - BEAZSEROTFHA
BEEREHHIFES6 o

ARERAEEMERDESHBTA
ERAALHARR - RIAZEH
SRIARSMEE NEKRESE
%) MEZMERREE S 2 B
RS -

AEEWENTVEBMBRITER
MIFFECEEEHEER N 2R F
(i
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. MHEABEEHARRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REBELERER (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at RIBETHARBEIRGNR  KEE R E
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BERHREHRMEIE R BRI T ¢
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
Group REE
2011
—2—-F
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5years Total
3MEAZ
RER  OR3ERA  HR12M8A 1255 565 st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARWTR AR®TRT ARBTR ARETR AR®TxR

Interest-bearing bank STBHRITER

and other borrowings REMER - 410,535 654,304 1,805,451 185,000 3,055,380
Trade payables ERE SRR 1,423,408 - - - - 1,423,408
Guarantees given to FETAEEYE

banks in connection EXNEBER

with mortgage BTHRITMER

facilities granted to

purchasers of the

Group’s properties - 1,238,914 - - - 1,238,914
Other payables H A E(IFE

and accruals REEHER 115,047 - 181,466 328,929 - 625,442

1,538,455 1,649,449 835,860 2,134,380 185,000 6,343,144
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SRR M RE
39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. MHERMBEEHRERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REEERME (HE)
Group rEE
2010
—T-TF
Lessthan 3to less than 1t05 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
EAZE
BER  DRIEA LR120EA 1855 5FNUE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRH
Interest-bearing bank FTRBRITER
and other borrowings REMER - 30,000 920,500 1,536,000 287,500 2,774,000
Trade payables EHE SRR 508,998 - - - - 508,998
Guarantees given to PETFAEENE
banks in connection BEXMIRIBER
with mortgage 1T RTAER
facilities granted to
purchasers of the
Group’s properties - 659,460 - - - 659,460
Other payables HAt (IR
and accruals REH &R 554,490 - - - - 554,490

1,063,488 689,460 920,500 1,536,000 287,500 4,496,948
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B R R M EE
39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. MHEABEEHARRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REBELERER (&)
Company Vi |
2011
—E-—-F
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5years Total
3fERZE
RER  DSHR3EA PM12{EA 1255 5ELE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR ARETR ARBTT ARRTR ARET:R

Due to subsidiaries FERTHE A RIFUE 119,388 - - - - 119,388
Other payables HA (IR

and accruals REETER 622 - - - - 622

120,010 - - - - 120,010

2010
—T-TF
Less than 3 to less than 1tob Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
3EAZE
BER  SR3ER PR121EA 125% 5P F @5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTE ARETT ARETET

Due to subsidiaries A EPNGI R 116,802 - - - - 116,802
Other payables HipEAFIE
and accruals LIEEtER 5,173 = = - - 5,173

121,975 = = = = 121,975
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B ER R M

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. UERREEEERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management (e) EXRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

AEEEAEENTIEBNEERE
AEBENFELCERERLENE
A - UXIHHEEBRERRER
wAL °

AEBMEBEHBARNERE - WIRBLE
AR 5 O B B 0 AR B B 2 A R B R A
HEMENRFE - AESHABRERE
7 B AT AL B S T AR R VAR
B BEARETRRERETHR
2 o BZE2011 5 %2010 12 A31H
WEFE  AEEBEREAEENE
12 BURSAR P e EE o
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gy s
39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. MBRBEEERERBE
==
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(e) Capital management (continued) (e) EXEME (&)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is AEBEREEGFL REITER
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes ZEEBRLERFEEBRAEZRN
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables FEIE o FEEBETERITREAM
and other payables and accruals, less cash and cash B ENE SRR R HEMENRIE
equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners HETER  BRASRESEED -
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting BRI RARREEMER - RS
periods were as follows: HHARWEESBLLEAT ¢
Group rEE
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Interest-bearing bank and STESRITER R H M ERK
other borrowings 3,055,381 2,774,000
Trade payables JES B SRR 1,423,408 508,998
Other payables and accruals Hi e E SRR T E A 670,731 587,741
Less: Cash and cash equivalents J& : JR& MIREEEY (412,508) (1,007,979)
Net debt FEIR 4,737,012 2,862,760
Equity attributable to S ARER AEGER
owners of the parent 5,062,708 4,636,119
Capital and net debt AR IFEE 9,799,720 7,498,879
Gearing ratio BEBBEHLE 48% 38%
40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 40. MBHROTH
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by EEER201243 A27 BABMBHEN

the board of directors on 27 March 2012. B R ARETE o
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Property Held for Investment

FERENY=

As at 31 December 2011

®2011412 831 H

Address

ok

Existing use at 31
December 2011
20115

12 831 B AR

Lease term of land

T 4 fYFEA R

Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, 93 Shixin Road,
Chengxiang Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC

R BT A& A T AR L [ 350 R SR T /) B 93 557 B B K [ 3 5 1 [
ZE15/E

A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, 433 Chang Le Road,

Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC
P HETIRER RELEK 433 5% RN 1 Br 1 (&R 5

Portion of Level 1, the whole of Level 2 to Level 4, Integrated
Service Center, East Xiaoran Road and Jinjiagiao Road,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FEDMI A MMM ER L REEARRE RERBEREEEREFOE
1EBHONE2EEAE

Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 in Block 2 to Block 5 of
Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC

BT AN R LR IR IBEESE 2R EFE R F 1
Z=FE5ENRH

Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road,

Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
REBUII A N TR E LR IEE E5E 2 R 2 A2 B AL

Serviced apartment units in Block 3 and 4 of Highlong Plaza,
Shanyin Road and Gongren Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC

R BT A fuM T AR L & L LR BE RN T A BR B2 BE35 55 3R R 28
ARZBEARE

Shops and serviced
apartments

BEMREA RS

Shop

[EE ]

Shops and portion
of it is vacant

EEMEA N EE

Shops

[k

Office and portion of it is

vacant
WAERZHEE

Service apartment

REAAE

Medium (Note)

A (B aE)

Medium

T

Medium

R

Medium

T

Medium

T

Medium

R
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FERENMR

As at 31 December 2011 #2011 412 A31 H

Existing use at 31

December 2011
Address n2011 5 Lease term of land
31k 12 A31 HHAZE =+ ih 19 FE 49 B PR
7. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 (Phase 1) and the whole Shops and portion Medium
No.43 commercial building (Phase 2), Landscape Garden, of it is vacant

Shushan Road and Panshui Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,

Zhejiang Province, the PRC

REMI AN T AR LEAEKELKEE 1 BE1E ML AEE F
2 B M E 2 BiEIR 435718

8. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 in Jinhua Yuan, Phase 1 of Shops and portion Medium
Vancouver City, Remin Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the PRC of it is vacant
FEZHEEILTARKRIERE 1 RENE1 EF2EN ML EE A HY
2]

Note: Medium is defined as the term of land use rights granted remaining unexpired at the ~ [fizr : FRHIE SR ARG EE REE - B L + i A
end of the financial year is less than 50 years but not less than 10 years. i AIEFAFE A NR 50 F - B/ NR10EF »
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERREREEHNE

Percentage
GFA  of interest
available in the
Status of Use for sale/ project
completion as at 31 leasing attributable
as at 31 Expected December Total GFA (sq.m.) to the
December 2011  completion 2011 Site area (sq.m.) AEHE Group
2011 date 2011 (sg.m) HEm Ik REET
Address 12831 8K Bt 12A31H HARE R [k BEEE 2W¥EER
3k TIRE LA A% (FHK) (FHK) (EHK) RN
A Completed properties
i BERINE
1 Guotai Garden, Jinji Road and Jinhui Road, Completed  Completed 86,091 178,812 90%
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang BEXET BET
Province, the PRC
FENDTIAMM TRLR S EE R & 2%
RIEE
—Apartment units Held for sale 252
—REEf FHEHE
—Retail shop units Held for sale 598
- FrEHE
2 Landscape Garden,Panshui Road, Xiaoshan Completed ~ Completed 87,333 155,942 90%
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, BxL BxL
the PRC
FREBUHT T A fUMN T AR LU B K BR LU 2K3E
—Townhouse units Held for sale 298
—HEE( FEHE
3 Integrated Service Centre, East Xiaoran Road Completed ~ Completed 2,979 11,131 90%
and Jinjiagiao Road, Xiaoshan District, E5xL BExL
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
REGI A MM MR EBERRE R
EREREERBAL
—Retail shop units Held for sale 210
- FEHEE
—Office units Held for sale 173
—WAE FEHEE
4 Zhong'an Garden, East Xiaoran Road, Xiaoshan Completed ~ Completed 17,788 46,404 90%
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC BxL BxL
FEHNIEMM T RILEBARERL LR
—Apartment units Held for sale 574
—ABBf FHEHE
—Retail shop units Held for sale 1,639
— 5 FEHE
5 Phase 1 and South Section of Phase 2, Completed ~ Completed 348,248 268,859 100%
Vancouver City, Renmin Road and Gongren BEL BxL
Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the PRC
FEZEEELTARBNTARBTERS
1B 2 Bl 2B
—Retail shop units Held for sale 10,474

REHE
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRRHHENWE

Percentage
GFA  of interest
available in the
Status of Use for sale/ project
completion as at 31 leasing attributable
as at 31 Expected December Total GFA (sq.m.) to the
December 2011 completion 2011 Site area (sq.m.) AMEHE Group
20115 date 20115 (sq.m) ‘Em Ik REETY
Address 12831BK SR 12A31H R E [Eip- BEHER ZUFER
i RIRE IR W AZE (FHK) (FFK) (FFEXK) MED
6 Vancouver City, Phase 2 — North Section, Completed ~ Completed ~ Held for sale 84,330 73,900 100%
Renmin Roadn and Gongren Road, Huaibei, BxLl Bxl FHELE
Anhui Province, the PRC
REZHAEILTARBMNIARRETE
F28iH
—Villas 338
il
—Retail shop units 9,300
7 Green Harbour, Phase 1A, Baohe District, Completed ~ Completed  Held for sale 110,000 57,600 84.2%
Yixing Town, Hefei, Anhui Province, the PRC Bl BxL FEHE
REZHAE G IET T ESREREBE
FE1AH
—Townhouse units 417
—HEE[
8 White Horse Noble Mansion, Sandun Town, 73,514 168,657 99.7%
Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
RENDT AN T AR =HEA S L
—Townhouse units in Phase A Completed ~ Completed ~ Held for sale 283
—A SR BxL BxL FELE
—Apartment units in Phase B Completed ~ Completed  Held for sale 241
-BH#EE BxLl BExL FEHE
—Retail shop units Completed ~ Completed ~ Held for sale 5,097
—& BxL ExT FELE
9 Landscape Bay, Phase 2, Ningwei Town, Completed ~ Completed  Held for sale 163,334 87,068 32,871 92.7%
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, Bl BrxL FEHE
the PRC
REMDI AN TRILEZEEREE
£28
—Townhouse units
—HEEE
10 Vancouver City, Phase 3A, Renmin Road and 139,383 143,941 100%
Gongren Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province,
the PRC
REZHEEILTARBNIARRTES
F3AH
—Low-rise Apartment units Completed ~ Completed ~ Held for sale 398
—RERABEN BxL BExL FEHE
—Townhouse units Completed ~ Completed ~ Held for sale 2,693
—HES BxL BxL FELE
—Retail shop units Completed ~ Completed  Held for sale 7,849
& BxL BExL FEHE
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FERRRNHENWHE

Percentage
GFA  of interest
available in the
Status of Use for sale/ project
completion as at 31 leasing attributable
as at 31 Expected December Total GFA (sq.m.) to the
December 2011  completion 2011 Site area (sq.m.) AEHE Group
20115 date 20115 (sg.m) ‘Em Ik REET
Address 12831 8K Bt 12A31H HARE R [k BEEE 2W¥EER
3k TIRE LA A% (FHK) (FHK) (EHK) RN
11 Green Harbour, Phase 1B, Yixing Town, Baohe Completed ~ Completed 64,376 43,718 84.2%
District, Hefei, Anhui Province, the PRC E5xT ExT
FEZHEAET T ERRBZEHE
£1BH
—Low-rise Apartment units Held for sale 1,394
—EEAFEN FEHE
—Townhouse units Held for sale 16,064
—HREf FHEHE
—Retail shop units Held for sale 8,077
— &% RHEHE
12 Landscape Bay, Phase 1, Ningwei Town, Completed ~ Completed 52,000 232,652 92.7%
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, BE5xL BExL
the PRC
FENIAMM T RILEZEEREREES 1 0
—High-rise apartment units Held for sale 75,706
-BEEE FHEHE
—Retail shop units Held for sale 2,858
— FELE
13 Vancouver City, Phase 5 North, Renmin Road Completed ~ Completed 265,310 65,024 100%
and Gongren Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the E5xT ExT
PRC
BRI T ARBH T ARRSTER
E5H1t
—Townhouse units Held for sale 51,701
—HREf FHEHE
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRRHHENWE

Status of
completion
as at 31 Percentage
December 2011 GFA  of interest
(if the property available in the
is still under Use as for sale/ project
construction) at 31 leasing attributable
20114 Expected December (sq.m.) to the
12A31H completion 2011 Sitearea  Total GFA  TfiHeE Group
MR IEE date 2011 5 (sq.m) (sq.m.) g AEBG
Address (GuE2ES SR 12A31H WEEE LSREHE BEHEE ZWEER
3k e 1E EEH) TIAH WA (FHK) (E7K) (EFEK) WEDL
B Properties held for development
@ REBRRIYE
14 Hidden Dragon Land, Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan Main structure Expected Under 89,173 242,138 199,807 94.5%
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, under construction January 2013 construction
the PRC TR BetR  EEERT
BT A AN ER L R R AR A #ETH  2013F1 A
15 Huifeng Plaza, Yucai Road, Xiaoshan District, Vacant pending 25,250 49,920
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC development
FEDIEMMNTRILES 1 BELES FEFERE
H i
—Phase A Construction Expected 28,991 90%
—EAH expected to October 2016
commence in BEitA
October 2013 2016410 A
TR 20135
10 ART
—Phase B Construction Expected 11,320 90%
— £ BH expected to October 2016
commence in HEitA
October 2013 2016410 A
TR 20135
10 ART
16 Green Harbour, Phase 1C, Yixing Town, Main structure Expected Under 58,723 90,453 67,260 84.2%
Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province, under construction  March 2013 construction
the PRC R Bith  HEEET
REZHAE G IET T ESREREBE #TH 201363 A
£ 1CHE T
17 Green Harbour, Phase 2, Yixing Town, Baohe Construction Expected Vacant 269,000 108,200 84,200 84.2%
District, Hefei, Anhui Province, the PRC expected to November pending
REZHESIETeTESREREHE commence in 2014  development
F2Hm i November 2012 TR EERRE
HEtR 20124 2014511 A

11 ART
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRRNHENWHE

Status of
completion
as at 31 Percentage
December 2011 GFA  of interest
(if the property available in the
is still under Use as for sale/ project
construction) at 31 leasing attributable
20115 Expected December (sq.m.) to the
128318 completion 2011 Sitearea  Total GFA  TftHeE Group
MR IEE date 2011 5 (sq.m) (sq.m.) A AEBG
Address (% SR 12A31H WEEE LREEE BEEE ZWEER
3k i EEER) TIAH H A& (FHK) (E7K) (EFK) HEDL
18 Green Harbour, Phase 3-6, Yixing Town, Vacant 1,395,000 560,300 84.2%
Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province, pending
the PRC development
FEZHESIED 2T ERRERE FEFRRE
AEE3E6HR i
—Phase 3 Construction Expected 140,600
— %358 expectedto  November
commence in 2014
November 2012 BEtR
R 20125 20144611 A
1 ART
—Phase 4 Construction Expected 170,000
—F 41 expectedto  November
commence in 2015
November 2013 BEtR
R 20135 2015411 A
1 ART
—Phase 5 Construction Expected 98,000
— %58 expectedto  November
commence in 2016
November 2014 BEtR
20145 2016411 A
1 ART
—Phase 6 Construction Expected 83,900
— %68 expectedto  November
commence in 2017
November 2015 i A
R 20155 20174611 A
1 ART
19 Vancouver City, Phase 3B-3D, Renmin Road Vacant 274,217 309,712 100.0%
and Gongren Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the pending
PRC development
FEIREEEIL T ARBAN T ARRSTER ZEFER
25 3B = 3D HiRy i
—Phase 3B Construction Expected 50,087
—%53BH expectedto  December
commence in 2015
August 2013 T A20155
TBER 2013 12
8 AR
—Phase 3C Construction Expected 121,925
—%83CH] expectedto  December
commence in 2015
August 2013 T A20155
TR 2013 12
8 AR
—Phase 3D Construction Expected 108,700
— 583D expectedto  December
commence in 2015

August 2013 T A20155

BT 20136
8ART

124
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRRHHENWE

Status of
completion
as at 31 Percentage
December 2011 GFA  of interest
(if the property available in the
is still under Use as for sale/ project
construction) at 31 leasing attributable
20114 Expected December (sq.m.) to the
12A31H completion 2011 Sitearea  Total GFA  TfiHeE Group
MR IEE date 2011 5 (sq.m) (sq.m.) g AEBG
Address (GuE2ES SR 12A31H WEEE LSREHE BEHEE ZWEER
3k e 1E EEH) TIAH WA (E7K) (E7K) (EFEK) WEDL
20 Vancouver City, Phase 4, Renmin Road and
Gongren Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province,
the PRC
REZHEEIL T ARBANIARRTES
F4H
—Phase 4 North Main structure Expected Under 296,704 297,636 252,555 100%
— 48 under construction  June 2012 construction
FRREE BEth  HERER
TR 201246 A
—Phase 4 South Construction Expected Vacant 82,540 111,787 96,177 100%
—F 41 expectedto  June 2015 pending
commence in f8:tA  development
November 2012 20156678  ZFEFHRE
TETR 20124
1 ART
21 Vancouver City, Phase 5 South, Renmin Road Construction Expected Vacant 81,511 35,521 29,300 100%
and Gongren Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the expected to October 2014 pending
PRC commence in 85 4&  development
REZHAEIL T ARBAIARRETE March2012 20146108  ZEBHEE
£558F FRETR 20124
3ART
22 Vancouver City, Phase 6, Renmin Road and
Gongren Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the
PRC
RERHEEIL T ARBANIARRTES
£6 881
—Phase 6A Construction Expected Vacant 35,386 58,630 57,950 100%
—5%6AH] expectedto  December pending
commence in 2014  development
November 2012 Bith  TERERE
HEEtR 20124 2014512 A
11 ART
—Phase 6B Construction Expected Vacant 80,291 121,347 106,147 100%
—%£6BH expectedto  June 2015 pending
commence in f8:tA  development
December 2012 201546 A EEFER
TETR 20124
12 ART
—Phase 6C Construction Expected Vacant 87,072 82,815 67,965 100%
—%6CH expected to December pending
commence in 2015  development
December 2013 BithE EEREE
20134 20156512 A
12 ART
—Phase 6D Foundation works Expected Under 60,768 58,596 100%
— 56D inprogress ~ May 2015  construction

HRTIRETT BiEtA  HEEED
201545
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRRNHENWHE

Status of
completion
as at 31 Percentage
December 2011 GFA  of interest
(if the property available in the
is still under Use as for sale/ project
construction) at 31 leasing attributable
20115 Expected December (sq.m.) to the
128318 completion 2011 Sitearea  Total GFA  TftHeE Group
MR IEE date 2011 5 (sq.m) (sq.m.) A AEBG
Address (mZE SR 12A31H WEEE LREEE BEEE ZWEER
3k i EEER) TIAH WA (E7K) (E7K) (EFK) HEDL
23 International Office Centre, Phase A, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC
BT AN AR LU BB S A0 & A
s b
—Phase A1 Construction Expected Vacant 25,533 358,662 241,904 100%
— A1 expected to October 2018 pending
commence in FE:tA  development
December 2013 2018107  ZFEHFERE
BT 2013
12 ART
—Phase A2 Construction Expected Vacant 28,017 155,980 104,870 100%
—EA2H] expected to October 2017 pending
commence in JEitA  development
December 2013 20179108  LEFHERE
BT 2013
12 ART
—Phase A3 Main structure Expected Under 39,060 328,376 237,338 100%
— A3 H] under construction December  construction
FRREETH 2014 HiEEEAR
BEtR
2014512 A
24 International Office Centre, Phase B, Xiaoshan Construction Expected Vacant 89,200 690,808 474,500 100%
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, expected to November pending
the PRC commence in 2018  development
RENDT AN TRILEEREAROEBE  November 2015 TR EEREE
ZRBLH 20155 2018411 A
AR
25 International Office Centre, Phase C, Xiaoshan Construction Expected Vacant 122,000 836,087 633,500 100%
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, expected to November pending
the PRC commence in 2018  development
FEHNI AN mRILEERHARLECH  November 2014 Hith ZEEGER
R TR 20145 2018411 A
1 ART
26 A piece of land at Qiandachu Town, Chunan Construction Expected Vacant 112,593 34,608 100%
County, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, expected to May 2014 pending
the PRC commence in 85 4&  development
REMDTIA TN TER G T SEN T March 2012 2014658  ZERFEE
BETR 20125
3ART
27 A piece of land at Xiaoheshan, Yuhang District, Construction Expected Vacant 145,265 231,919 159,148 90%
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC expectedto  June 2015 pending
FEDT AT RTE/ AL 3 commence in HitA  development
January 2012 2015673  TEFEE
R 20124

1ARL
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRRHHENWE

Status of
completion
as at 31 Percentage
December 2011 GFA  of interest
(if the property available in the
is still under Use as for sale/ project
construction) at 31 leasing attributable
20114 Expected December (sq.m.) to the
12A31H completion 2011 Sitearea  Total GFA  TfiHeE Group
MR IEE date 2011 5 (sq.m) (sq.m.) g AEBG
Address (mZE BatHy 12A31H WEEE LSREHE BEHEE 2UFER
3k e 1E EEH) TIAH WA (E7K) (E7K) (EFEK) WEDL
28 A piece of land at Yuhang Economic Construction Expected Vacant pending 158,743 543,800 390,179 45.9%
Development Zone, Hangzhou, Zhejiang expectedto  June 2015  development
Province, the PRC commence in BEits  TEEREE
FREDHTAEMM AR ERE R T February 2012 201546 A
TR 20124
2ARAT
29 A piece of land at north to Shenggui Hill, west
to Xinjian North Road, south to Beihuan West
Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
BT A Rk RS IL LM -
Fredb Al - bR A i
—Phase 1 - Dragon Bay Main structure Expected Under 330,135 196,809 133,491 90%
—1 B —1iaEs under construction  June 2012 construction
R BEtR HEERTS
EITR 201266 A
—Phase 2 Construction Expected Vacant 235,163 292,807 232,807 90%
—25 expected to December pending
commence in 2014  development
August 2012 Bith EEGER
R 20125 20144612
8 AR
—Zhong An Times Square* Foundation works Expected Under 136,678 640,281 326,966 90.0%/93.0%
—BRERES" inprogress  December  construction
HERETIRETH 2015  [EEEER
Btk
2015612 A
30 A piece of land at Suzhou Industrial Park, Construction Expected Vacant 21,367 221,500 144,500 44.1%
Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, the PRC expected to December pending
FEIEFE &N MEM TEEEO i commence in 2015  development

*

August 2012 Bith TEHER
TR 20124 2015412 A
8ART

The project will be developed by two subsidiaries of the Group. = ZIEBH2KMBARISIERE -

199
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Summary of Financial Information

MBENSE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

AEEHREEAMNEBRRYBRROKIR
ERBFEERENEE  BERIFEREROH

published audited financial statements. DEDWOT :
Results £
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31 BILEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
2011 5 20104 2009 4 2008 F 2007 5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Revenue A 1,688,699 1,243,871 1,624,476 1,437,841 330,043
Profit before tax BRA% BT FE 687,238 640,483 670,240 442 175 485,068
Income Tax FriS#i (308,671) (227,223) (227,975) (159,860) (51,596)
Profit for the year FRFHE 378,567 413,260 442 265 282,315 433,472
Attributable to: LA FELS -
Owners of the parent ISYNCIE SN 351,391 379,759 408,917 253,986 391,306
Non-controlling interests JEFE A = 27,176 33,501 33,348 28,329 42,166
378,567 413,260 442 265 282,315 433,472
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests ¥E - 8ERIFZERER
31 December
128318
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
2011 4 20104 2009 2008 2007 &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Total Assets BB E 13,648,782 11,139,299 7,266,226 6,326,363 7,685,374
Total Liabilities BEE (8,380,674) (6,324,956) (2,841,786) (2,283,911)  (3,749,400)
Non-controlling Interests EEaliig S (205,400) (178,224) (144,411) (110,573) (81,681)
5,062,708 4,636,119 4,280,029 3,931,879 3,854,293
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